
City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

March 26, 2019 
Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 
Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Peterson  
 

ELECTION OF CHAIR PRO TEM. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:    
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Approval of minutes from the December 11, 2018 Planning Commission Work Session and the February 26, 2019 
Planning Commission work session. 
 
CONTINUED TO THE APRIL 23, 2019: 
CASE 24-19 – THE MAJESTIC – INDEPENDENT LIVING FACILITY – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, 
Preliminary Plat, and Special Use Permit for an Independent Living Facility, located south of 137th Street and west 
of Mission Road.  PUBLIC HEARING  
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 20-19 – MANFIELD MULTI-TENANT BUILDING – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located 
south of 103rd Street and west of State Line Road.  
 
CASE 21-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – AMERICAN CENTURY INVESTMENTS – Request for approval of a 
Revised Final Plan for changes to the façade of a tenant space, located south of Town Center Drive and west of 
Roe Avenue.   
 
CASE 22-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – POTTERY BARN KIDS – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan 
for changes to the façade of a tenant space, located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue.  
 
CASE 23-19 – ENCLAVE AT HIGHLAND VILLAS, FIFTH PLAT – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, 
located south of 143rd Street and east of Nall Avenue.  
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 04-19 – RANCH MART SHOPPING CENTER – REDEVELOPMENT – Request for approval of a Revised 
Final Plan and Final Plat, located east of Mission Road and north of 95th Street.   
 
CASE 14-19 – MOLLE OFF-SITE PARKING – Request for approval of a Special Use for a temporary use of land 
for off-site parking, located south of 104th Street and west of State Line Road.  PUBLIC HEARING 



CASE 25-19 – BARSTOW SCHOOL – LEAWOOD CAMPUS – Request for approval of a Final Plan and a Special 
Use Permit for a Commercial Daycare, located north of 123rd Street and west of State Line Road.   
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 32-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-12.4, DISTRIBUTED 
ANTENNAE SYSTEM (DAS) AND SMALL CELL FACILITIES – Request for approval of an amendment to the 
Leawood Development Ordinance.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) 
minutes.  An additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the 
Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  
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Matt Block 

 

Doug Stevens 
 

Arthur Peterson 

Liz Hoyt 

 

Steve McGurren 

Mandi Hunter 

 

Stacey Belzer 

 

PLANNING COMMISSIONER’S 
SEATING CHART 



Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Work Session 

December 11, 2018 

Annual Update Report Regarding Self-Propelled Leawood 

Annual Review of the Comprehensive Plan 

 

 

Planning Commission Members in Attendance: Strauss, Hoyt, Pateidl, Coleman, 

Stevens, Belzer, Elkins 

 

Planning Staff in Attendance: Richard Coleman, Community Development; Mark 

Klein, Planning; Ricky Sanchez, Planner; Brian Scovill, Public Works; Andrew Hall, 

Assistant City Attorney  

 

Visitors in attendance:  Owen Veer, student; Nelson Schutte, student, Cooper 

Owenstein, student 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Welcome. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I visited briefly with them before the meeting. They are three students 

from the Kansas City Christian School, and they’re here for their government class. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’re glad you’re here. For your purposes, this is the Planning 

Commission for the City of Leawood. The commissioners are all volunteers. They are 

appointed by the mayor and confirmed by City Council for three-year terms that are 

staggered. I serve as chairman, and the group elects its chairman on an annual basis in 

May. The purpose for this evening’s meeting is, by statutory obligation, the Planning 

Commission must review the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood on an annual 

basis. The statute gives a lot of latitude on how that is achieved. It could be a 

combination of staff and commission as well as public input. This is the first step of the 

2019 review. Staff has updated the plan that we reaffirmed last year. Once we’ve had a 

chance to discuss it, we will consider it a Planning Commission meeting, at which time, 

there will be a Public Hearing for the public to provide input. The statute emphasizes that 

input. Unfortunately, we have not had a great deal of input except for a separate plan for 

the development of the 135th Street Corridor that is incorporated into the Comprehensive 

Plan. With that, I will turn it over to staff. 

 

Mr. Klein:  We actually had a work session on March 14th to go over changes in the 

Comprehensive Plan map. We reformatted the plan as well. Tonight, we would like to 

run through changes in the map and the text.  

 The first change has to do with Fire Station No. 1 at 9617 Lee Boulevard. The 

existing station will be torn down, and a new one will be built there. The Police Station 

has been moved to the Justice Center. Additionally, a park will be added to the northern 

section. 
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Mr. Coleman:  The fire station was torn down a while ago. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I thought I saw it. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Not the historic one that was built in 1948. It will be torn down as well. 

There is also a telecommunications tower that will be removed in this coming summer.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  I’d love to see a Site Plan with the proposed improvements. 

 

Mr. Klein:  They’ve done some preliminary work, but I don’t know that they have a Site 

Plan. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I went to that meeting where they talked about bringing the old City 

Hall over here. I was curious on how that will be laid out, but if they’re still working on 

it, they’re still working on it. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The other change we talked about is on the south side of I-435. When 

Johnson County Wastewater did their expansion, there was a land swap with the city, so 

we changed the boundaries of Johnson County Wastewater to reflect the change. We also 

added a symbol to indicate more clearly that it was for Johnson County Wastewater.  

 In the area of Hallbrook, there is an area that was shown as all Mixed Use on the 

side of College Boulevard. Since that is mostly Office, we decided it would be more 

appropriate to show that as Office. Village of Seville at 133rd and State Line has an added 

symbol to show the micro-hospital.  

 

Comm. Straus:  There is another street in that development. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is a good point. The area at 135th Street and Kenneth Road was changed 

to show a clearer alignment.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  Does it go north of the water? That was the big argument. 

 

Mr. Klein:  At this point, they haven’t platted anything.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  It actually always went north. It’s just that our consultant made a mistake 

and showed it straight at one point, and we didn’t catch it.  

 

Mr. Klein:  Just north of Public Works, we’ve designated lots for future parks on 143rd St. 

and Kenneth. At 151st Street and Mission Road is Hills of Leawood. They had a different 

road network than what was previously shown. This is more reflective of the previously 

approved subdivision that wasn’t developed. Additionally, we added the trails on most of 

these.  

 Those are the changes to the Comprehensive Plan Map. We also have added in 

historic trails: Santa Fe, Oregon, and California. They are included on the overall 

Comprehensive Plan Map and also in a blowup of the map as well. 
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Mr. Coleman:  There will be an auto route on the National Historic Trails Plan for this 

area, so it will have signs showing these trails. There are opportunities for Mission Trail 

Elementary because they’re right on the trail. They might be able to do some kind of 

historic marker or something like that. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Do they know about this? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I would assume they do because of the name of the school. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Do they know about this renewed emphasis on signage? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I’m not sure if Mid-America Regional Council (MARC) has contacted 

them or not. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  It looks like it goes right on the edge. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the bullseye on Tomahawk Creek Parkway? 

 

Comm. Stevens:  It is a trailhead opportunity. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Where they come together on State Line Road, going east into 

Missouri, is that where that cemetery is? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Yes. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  They denoted the street with post rocks. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Kansas City has had that for quite a long time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It looks good. They actually renamed the street Cemetery Trail Street. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Yes, and across 119th Street at Minor Drive, there is a park on the south 

side that has historic markers. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  That is the one by the Blue River? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  No, this is closer to Leawood. It is directly east of State Line Road. It 

would be northeast of the cemetery. Minor Park has trail ruts still there. It’s one of the 

few places they are still visible. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  It is actually pretty cool. I’ve taken visitors there to show them. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s amazing how much history is in the area. 

 

Mr. Klein:  I’d like to go over some of the text changes. The city has gown to 34,659. 

That was the latest estimate from the 2017 Census.  
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Chairman Elkins:  What is ACS? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It is American Community Survey (ACS). It is used for in-between years.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  We’ll have the big census coming up here shortly.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  There is more in the text and all these charts that are based on 2015 

numbers. It made me wonder if it carried through. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Some of the information, we don’t get with the American Community 

Survey. When we get the detail from the decennial census when they break everything 

down with hard numbers. The ACS is based more off a survey with a sampling of 

information and an estimate. We have tried to keep the charts as consistent as possible. 

We have the ten-year decennial census, and since we had an estimate that was halfway to 

the next one, we included those numbers. As we get more numbers, we may update the 

text but not the chart because it might be a little bit off. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You expect that 4.62% increase in population to drop even further by 

the time we get to 2019 and 2020, I presume. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Probably 3%. We’re running out of land. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’m surprised we grew at all. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Some of the growth is due to new family formations. People with kids are 

moving back, so we’re not just all getting old.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We went to the Finance Department and got updated information. We 

replaced the 2015 numbers with the 2017 numbers.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  That is one of the things that City Council has wanted to maintain: a three-

legged stool for the finances for the city. The other third is made up of fees and charges. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is the increase’s reliance on sales tax a function of increasing sales tax, 

or does it reflect economic expansion? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It reflects economic expansion. The city is balanced, and the city doesn’t 

want to be reliant on sales taxes only. Some cities become overly dependent on sales 

taxes, and when a recession hits, it disrupts everything. They’re laying off staff and 

retrenching. Then, it turns around, and they’re trying to rebuild everything they got rid of. 

It makes it more difficult to operate.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We also wanted to update Ranchmart. In 2017, we had buildings under 

construction that are now completed. We have an application coming in for another 

building, so it might be updated the following year. 
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We wanted to reflect that Park Place has an additional building on the east end. Parkway 

Plaza had some activity as well that we have reflected in the text. That is pretty much it. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On the numbering of the pages, the first couple pages have Roman 

Numerals, and there is a repeat of Page 1. Then, Page 35 talks about religious institutions 

in Table 3.20. There are three religious institutions, but in the wording above, it 

mentioned two. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  In the plan, we have the 135th Street Corridor as Mixed Use. In light of 

some discussions on the recent project and how it went, I wonder if anything needs to be 

modified in the Comprehensive Plan. I was shocked to hear the applicant say that they 

don’t think Mixed Use is right for this area, and they decided not to say anything during 

the public meetings because it wasn’t right for them to speak. We’re hearing that 

landowners don’t think Mixed Use is correct. Then, can you talk about what City 

Council’s feedback was on that application? That will give us some insight into what 

they’re thinking about Mixed Use. I wonder how that affects what we show in the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  Basically, the plan was Mixed Use. The concern we had was that we 

didn’t think the plan of Mixed Use was very good. They complied with the Mixed-Use 

portion. I don’t see a need for change. We might want to look to address more of the 

details on how the plans are put together. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I understand that. They complied with the amount of Residential, 

Office, and Commercial. They said that they don’t think Mixed Use will work in this 

area, as I remember. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Part of that is they wanted to build 120 duplex units. That is what drove 

the plan from the beginning.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  Can you tell us City Council’s feedback? They approved the plan. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They approved the plan. We made some adjustments between the 

Planning Commission and Governing Body. There were a couple changes to the Mixed-

Use buildings. One got switched to strictly an office building; another increased in 

height; another one decreased. Regarding 137th Street, the applicant talked to the property 

owner to the west and made a deal. The city already had the right-of-way for about 330 

feet of 137th Street from Chadwick in the first ten-acre property but nothing in the next 

ten-acre property between that property and the applicant’s property. The woman who 

owns the property agreed with them that she would dedicate the right-of-way to the city, 

and they would build that road. The city, at some point, would contribute money from 

escrow to build Chadwick. I think John Petersen said they would pay for the other half of 

the street. It will connect all the way through from Kenneth to Chadwick, which is a good 

thing.  
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Chairman Elkins:  I sat through it, so this is my take on it. There was a large variety of 

opinions expressed by Governing Body, not so much about the substance of the plan but 

rather the binding nature of the plan. There were a few councilmembers who strongly 

articulated their view that the 135th Street Plan wasn’t binding. There were others that felt 

strongly that they should stay with it. I think it would be fair to say there was not a clear 

consensus to move away from the plan. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I would agree with that. I think there was a lot of diversity. There was one 

vote opposed to the plan. A couple councilmembers would have approved almost 

anything that came in, maybe even if it didn’t align with the Mixed-Use requirements. 

That is my read on it. Other people were fine with it. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Do you think the marching orders were that similar types of projects are 

fine in the area? I viewed it that it was a mix of uses but it wasn’t Mixed Use.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  I agree with that, but I don’t know that there’s any particular marching 

orders to take out of this. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  But a precedent has been set. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I don’t know. A plan has been approved. That doesn’t necessarily mean 

the next plan, even if similar, would be approved. It might, but it might not. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  My take on what I heard there in the four hours was that they were 

pleased the second time around that we had discussed it in such great detail and had given 

commentary on stipulations and whatnot. They felt like the plan had gotten a very good 

vetting from our commission as a result. I think the marching orders are, if plans come 

forward, we should consider them and compare them to the 135th Street Plan, identify 

details the diverge away from that, comment on stipulations, and then it is up to City 

Council to decide how closely they want the development to stick to the plan. That is my 

take on it. Our marching orders, I believe, are to give it a full, comprehensive vetting. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There are some new members of the council that don’t have the history 

and involvement with the plan, so that probably has a little bit to do with it.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  Based on what transpired, I was just wondering if anything needed to be 

modified in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I don’t know about that, but in the 135th Street Community Plan, we could 

look at modifications to make it so that it is a little more prescriptive of the vision. I think 

there is some misunderstanding from some people. It was mentioned at City Council that 

we couldn’t have Park Place all the way up and down there. That was never the intent of 

the plan. It may be that we look at working out some type of model plan for 40 acres. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  To address Kipp’s question, since the 135th Street Community Plan is 

a part of this Comprehensive Plan, should we be looking at and commenting on it in the 
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same way we’re looking at commenting on the rest of it? Is this the time for us to address 

those thoughts that you just had around the 135th Street Community Plan? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Exactly because I feel like Planning Commission, City Council, and 

staff are not on the same page. I think we’re all looking at this corridor a little differently. 

I wonder if there should be a work session. That would be good for the new members, 

also. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I can look into it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think it is really the mayor or City Council’s call. I certainly 

wouldn’t be opposed to it. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I would have to ask the powers that be if they are interested. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  It is always good when staff, Planning Commission, and City Council 

are all driving in the same direction.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  That is true. We’re still working on trying to get Cornerstone taken care 

of. We’re working with the developer on that. Probably our biggest challenge is finding 

the right developer with the right product to work in there. Since it’s already laid out, 

most of the lots are a specific size. We’re trying to get a senior living facility there, but to 

do it, the parking would have to be underground or structured, which is more expensive. 

We’re trying to figure out some way to make that work.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Have permits been pulled on the hotel? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Yes, the hotel is under construction. I think that will help having The 

Element there. It will attract other developers looking at the site. It could be another 

restaurant because there are several pad sites there. More buildings are filling in Parkway 

Plaza. We’re about out of land for Single Family Residential. I think there is one ten-acre 

tract designated for Single Family that hasn’t been developed, and that’s about it.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other comments on the plan? 

 

Comm. Stevens:  I have a couple minor questions. On Page 3 of the introduction, it 

describes what Section Three includes, which is the different districts and the 

developments within those. The second sentence of the paragraph says, “Additionally, 

specific studies of various development concerns within Leawood are included.” It makes 

me think that sentence should be taken out or modified. Maybe it is not “concerns.” 

 

Mr. Klein:  Just as far as how development is taking place. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  Quickly, I noticed the exhibit of the schools and worship areas. It seems 

like it would be nice to squeeze in a listing of worship areas because the exhibit is keyed 

and numbered, but they’re not named. 
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Mr. Klein:  It would tie the reference to the text. I think it does mention the names of 

them in the text, but they don’t reference back; you’re right. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  On the next page, it is a similar situation with the approved commercial 

developments where the key matches the map. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We appreciate that. Most of the graphics are new.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  I wondered if the blowup areas on Pages 27, 33, and 43 should have a 

legend that says the circle is a commercial development. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is a good idea. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  Later on in the text, you have keyed the development to that map. At 

the end, do the exhibits need to be updated, or are these the adopted ones? 

 

Mr. Klein:  These are the adopted ones. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  I didn’t know if the cover or the picture of these were out of date or not 

matching. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The pictures actually look like what we have currently.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  We’ll talk with Parks and Recreation and Self-Propelled Leawood 

because they handle that.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  It’s a minor deal. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  If you’re going through this and see anything else, just send us an email, 

and we’ll take care of it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments or questions for staff? The only thing I would add is I 

sat through the Governing Body meeting with discussions on Ranchmart North and the 

development at 135th Street and Kenneth. One thing that a number of councilmembers 

did was to comment on how much they appreciate the hours that this group spends to the 

benefit of the city. I wanted you all to know that what we do is recognized by City 

Council, and they are very appreciative, so much so that two or three of the members 

made a note to include it in the record. I want to add my thanks to you all as well. You 

make it easy for me to chair because you’ve all done your homework well in advance. 

Same thanks go to staff because you do a great job of supporting us. We all read things 

carefully, and sometimes we bring things to your attention. I’m sure you get a little tired 

of me finding grammatical errors or not being able to keep Block and Coleman straight 

on the recording, but other than that, it is an indication of how much attention everybody 

pays to this. As we head into the next year, I want you to know I’m grateful for the 

opportunity to serve with you all. Anything else for the good of the order? 
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MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Elkins, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. Absent: Hoyt and Straus. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I note there is a revised agenda. Do any commissioners have questions 

about the revised agenda? Does staff have any other comments? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No. 

 

A motion to approve the revised agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by 

Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the January 29, 2019 

Planning Commission meeting and the February 12, 2019 Planning Commission work 

session. 

 

A motion to approve the minutes from the January 29, 2019 Planning Commission 

meeting was made by Stevens; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On page 5, under my name, the sentence that begins, “I tend to 

agree…” should be Mr. Coleman as opposed to myself. Then, also the last sentence that 

begins, “People would plant trees…” should also be Mr. Coleman. 

 

A motion to approve the minutes as amended from the February 12, 2019 Planning 

Commission work session was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  
CASE 07-09 – SMITH ESTATE – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located 

south of 143rd Street and west of Mission Road. 
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CASE 08-19 – PLAZA POINTE – REVISED SIGN CRITERIA – Request for approval 

of a Revised Final Sign Plan, located south of 135th Street and east of Briar Street. 

 

CASE 09-19 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – LOVESAC (RETAIL: FURNITURE) – 

Request for approval of a Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, 

located south of 119th Street and east of Roe Avenue. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do any commissioners wish to pull any case for discussion? 

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Belzer; seconded by Stevens. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  

CASE 01-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD SINGLE FAMILY SUBDIVISION – Request for 

approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan, and Final 

Plat, located north of 151st Street and east of Mission Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Before we start, I want to make a change to the Staff Report. Under the 

second bullet in Staff Comments on Page 9, it shows Stipulation 16 and should read 

Stipulation 19.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Please proceed. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 01-19 – Hills of Leawood Single Family Subdivision – 

request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan, 

and Final Plat, located north of 151st Street and east of Mission Road. Some of the 

commissioners may remember this project from last year. The original Preliminary Plat 

and Plan were approved and passed by the Governing Body with Case 129-17. The Final 

Plat and Final Plan were approved by Governing Body with Case 35-18. After 

construction began on the first phase, a land survey concluded that the boundaries 

originally approved were incorrect, along with an unknown 60’ KCP&L easement on the 

western boundary of the project area. The project had also added an additional land area 

to include a detention basin under the power lines to the west of the project area. These 

changes created enough of a change in the Preliminary Plan to create a need for the 

development to resubmit a Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plan. With this application, 

the applicant is proposing a new single family subdivision that will include 70 single 

family lots with eight tracts on 44.16 acres. The previous plan had requested 73 

residential lots and ten tracts on 43.78 acres. This is a difference of three lots and .38 

acres. The development is still proposed to be constructed in multiple phases. The first 

phase will include 40 single family residential lots on seven tracts. The second phase 

would include 30 single family lots and one tract. A third phase is a change from the 
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original proposal and would include an amenity area as well as a trail connection to 

Ironwoods Park and a dry detention basin located on the west side of the project area. 

The applicant is also re-requesting the deviations for the development, including a 

deviation to the interior side yard setback from a minimum of 15 feet to 12.75 feet for 32 

lots and a rear yard setback that may be reduced to 85% of the standard requirement for 

32 lots. The majority of the development has stayed the same, including a 10’ tree 

preservation easement along the north and east boundaries with a 5’ wrought iron fence 

along the north side of the development, two connections to Ironwoods Park, a detention 

pond that will feature a water fountain within Tract D near the main entrance, and a 

monument sign located within Tract B at the entrance with a variety of monument walls 

leading north into the development on both Tracts A and B. One of the largest changes is 

located at the southwest corner of the development. Previously, a temporary road was 

requested to be constructed for emergency access into the site from Mission Road. In this 

set of revised plans, the development is proposing a curved cul de sac that will be 

dedicated as a right-of-way to allow for emergency vehicular turnaround, along with 

additional emergency access easement, located west of the cul de sac that will serve as a 

future connection to Mission Road. The Preliminary Plat, Preliminary Plan, Final Plat, 

and Final Plan meet the regulations of the Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO) with 

the deviations requested and variance granted. Staff recommends approval of Case 01-19 

with the stipulations listed in the Staff Report. I’d be happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does anyone have questions for Mr. Sanchez? 

 

Comm. Block:  At the top of Page 3, the first bullet says that it should have cul de sacs on 

each side, and it should be sidewalks. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Thank you. 

 

Comm. Block:  Are the amenities required, or is that just the developer’s choice? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  There are no amenities required within residential zoning. It was up to the 

developer; they just didn’t have all the details needed to go forward with the amenity area 

with this application. They will come back with another application at a future time. 

 

Comm. Block:  Do you think the timing would be close to the other phases? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I think that would be a better question for the developer. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions for Mr. Sanchez? I have two. When we 

saw this project before, was it presented as a Final Plan and Final Plat at that time? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  The whole development came in as a Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 

Plan. The first phase of the development came through with 40 residential lots with so 

many tracts on it. The land survey showed errors in the platting of the development, 

which caused some lots to change and also including a 60’ easement that was found. That 

was enough to send this back to the preliminary stages. 
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Chairman Elkins:  What I’m getting at is when we saw it before, it was not for Final Plan 

and Final Plat, even for Phases 2 and 3? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  No; just the first phase had gone through. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are we revising the Final Plan with respect to Phase 1, or are all 

changes with respect to Phases 2 and 3? 

 

Mr. Klein:  This will revise the entire development. We thought it would be cleaner if we 

went back to the beginning. We went back to Preliminary and will include Revised Final 

for the first phase and Final for the second and third phases. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  This is more housekeeping than anything else, but given that, 

shouldn’t it also be a Revised Final Plan and Revised Final Plat? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We didn’t do that because a new section is part of this. Instead of trying to 

break out Revised Final Plan - First Phase, Revised Final Plan - Second Phase, and 

Revised Final Plan – Third Phase, we just simply called it Revised Preliminary. Since a 

portion of it had never been in the final stages, we called it Final Plan and Final Plat for 

the overall development. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The same question applies to the requested deviations. I assume we 

recommended these deviations for approval the last time. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. The only changes were the numbered lots, which were 

different at that time. The number of the lots changed, so the number of lots changed. The 

deviations haven’t changed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I would invite the applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Mark Simpson, 15145 Windsor Circle, Leawood, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Simpson:  I’m here with my partner Saul Ellis. Our engineer is Tim Tucker with 

Phelps Engineering, and he’ll be happy to answer any questions you may have. This is a 

little bit of a housekeeping matter tonight. This land was platted by Kroh Brothers in 

1973. It was discovered later during a comprehensive survey by Phelps that this 640-acre 

section actually has 639.8 acres in it. It is 2.5 feet short east and west and .3 feet short 

north and south. We figured out how to make it work and not change things greatly, but 

we got title work, and it turned out there was an original 100’ easement for KCP&L in 

the ‘40s or ‘50s. In the ‘60s, there was a second 60’ easement granted on the east side of 

the property to a different entity, but KCP&L got it. That caused us to have to go back to 

the long-time landowner, who bought it from Kansas Art Institute, to whom the Kroh 

brothers had donated. We had to change our plan and reduce it from 73 lots to 70. We are 
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just correcting the fact that it’s not a 640-acre section. We always planned on a detention 

pond under the power lines. We planned to add that to the second phase, but it really 

needs to be in the Preliminary Plat in the legal description. We’ve had a neighborhood 

interact meeting. We’ve had a notice out to everybody with the revised legal and revised 

distances that the pond under the power lines would incorporate. We agree with all 33 of 

the stipulations, and we were out today in the muck and mess, putting in the first 40 lots. 

All the sanitary sewers are in. Storm sewers are about 65% complete, and we’re hoping it 

will dry up pretty soon so we can grade. We’ve had very good market response. We’ve 

sold all 22 manor lots. We have non-refundable deposits for all of them. We have 

nonrefundable deposits for 12 of the 18 estate lots. We have a lot of experiences in 

Leawood. We’ve done about 600-700 lots, and we’re planning a really grand 

development here. The entry is going to be very striking. From 151st, no driveways, 

streets, houses will be visible. The entry is a park-like setting that comes up to a large 

pond with several waterfalls at the back of it on a 5’ tall, 100’ wide wall. The planners are 

smart, and they let us know three are rough and two are smooth. This emphasizes the 

dramatic look of it. We think this will be a real landmark community. We’ll be very 

proud of it. We are going to connect to the park, and we’ll be a great partner for 

Ironwoods Park. We have agreed with the park to sponsor all their concerts this summer, 

and we are sponsoring their play this summer. We are the sole sponsor of all those events 

with them. We plan to do that for the next 4-5 years or however long it takes to work 

through this. We are going to have wrought iron gates with a wrought iron fence along 

the tree preservation easement. Those gates will be electronically controlled to the hours 

that the park is open to keep people from getting into the park when they shouldn’t and 

frankly, to keep people in the park from coming into our neighborhood at 2:00 in the 

morning. We’ve had a very good working relationship with the park. We’ve had our 

arborists mark every single tree that is dead or diseased in that tree preservation 

easement. Taking out those trees will make it way better. Our arborist pointed out if we 

spend $40,000 fixing that tree line, it would greatly improve the stature and ability of the 

tree line to be a good barrier between our homes and the park. This will make us a better 

neighbor. We put in very strong restrictions in our homes association declarations that 

nobody can infringe on that easement. If anybody does, the homeowner will give the 

homes association a check for $1,000 to cover the damage of the trees. We want to be a 

good neighbor. We are here today to clear up all these things that have come up as we’ve 

gotten deeper into the development that was platted in 1973. We’re happy to answer any 

questions you have. Saul is here to talk about any architecture issues you have. Tim 

Tucker is here to talk about engineering issues.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions for Mr. Simpson? 

 

Comm. Stevens:  I have a minor clarification or question about the wrought iron fence 

along the north property line. There is information included in the packet, and the fence 

diagram shows it along the entire north property line; however, the phasing drawings 

indicate the fencing in the second phase but not so noted in the first phase. Is that the 

intent, or would there be a section of the fencing along the first phase? 
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Mr. Simpson:  The first phase has only three sites that back up to the park. There is a 

brick walkway going to the park and a gated access. We would put in 345 feet of fencing 

along those three lots and a gate. We will leave the existing hogwire fence on the 

property line. We would take it out in the second phase and replace it with wrought iron.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions for the applicant? Thank you for 

correcting those errors. It sounds like you’re off to a great start. We appreciate the way 

you and your partners have gotten involved in the community. Because this is a Final 

Plan and Final Plat, it is appropriate for a Public Hearing. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a discussion of the case before us. Are there 

comments to make? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 01-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD 

SINGLE FAMILY SUBDIVISION – Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary 

Plan, Revised Preliminary Plat, Final Plan, and Final Plat, located north of 151st 

Street and east of Mission Road – with 35 stipulations - was made by Coleman; 

seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, 

Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 10-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD – SALES TRAILER – Request for approval of a 

Special Use Permit for a Temporary Sales Trailer, located east of Mission Road and north 

of 151st Street. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  We have a change in the Staff Report. At the end of Page 3 in Staff 

Recommendations, it should read, “Case 10-19 – Hills of Leawood - Sales Trailer.”  

 This is Case 10-19 – Hills of Leawood – Sales Trailer – Request for approval of a 

Special Use Permit for a Temporary Sales Trailer, to be located within Lot 40 of the 

previously proposed Hills of Leawood residential subdivision. It will be used as a 

temporary office for the new subdivision until a model home is constructed. The trailer 

will be approximately 56 feet long and 22 feet wide. It will be located along the northeast 

corner of the lot, along with a wooden deck on the northern side of the trailer. Three 

parking spaces are proposed fronting the trailer, one of which will be ADA accessible. 

The Special Use Permit (SUP) will be limited to a term of one year for the trailer. The 

SUP meets the regulations of the LDO with the stipulations listed in the Staff Report. 

Staff recommends approval of Case 10-19 with the stipulations listed. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Is there any mechanism to make sure it’s removed in a timely manner? 

It looks like the permit just lasts for a year. What happens after a year? I’m assuming 

they’re going to want to get it out of the way, but what if that didn’t happen? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It’s limited to a year, so they would have to come back before this body and 

Governing Body for approval to extend that. That is part of the reason we have the 

limitation of one year. I believe the applicant intends to construct a model house and use 

it. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  If the permit expired and the trailer was still there and they said they 

would get around to moving it later, is there any mechanism the city has to enforce that? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The city has the ability to have codes enforcement have them remove it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for staff? 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Mark Simpson, 15145 Windsor Circle, Leawood, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Simpson:  We have a lot of custom buyers right now. We have probably a dozen 

homes that will be spec homes, and we need a place to represent the builders. My partner 

went up to three companies that do sales trailers. All of them are way up north. I have no 

idea why. We found a company that let us customize a new sales trailer with an office, a 

conference room, and a topographic table. It will have a wooden deck on one side that 

overlooks the waterfall feature and the lake. When we built Lionsgate 15 years ago, we 

did an identical-sized trailer where the tennis courts are now. It worked really well. We 

presold a lot of houses out of it and gave the realtor a place to have a presence and serve 

the community. We want to landscape it and sod it. We want paved parking with striped 

parking spaced. We want to operate it noon-6:00 probably six days a week. I would ask 

for a little longer period of time of 14 months only because we are going to have an 

artisan charity show home that opens in July 2020 as part of a fundraiser for juvenile 

diabetes. It will be one of 8.3 million houses that will be on tour. That is the model we’ll 

move to on Lot 25. Then we have another model by Willis on Lot 8 in The Manor. I can’t 

guarantee in 12 months that we’ll have the artisan show house done. If we have a dry 

spring, we’ll have it done in May; if we have a wet spring, we’ll have it done in late June. 

I’d like to have 14 months instead of 12 so I don’t have to shut it down and have no sales 

presence for six weeks while we finish up the artisan show home and the model home on 

Lot 8. We’d like to get it out as soon as possible. The trailer is not very expensive to rent 

at $1,200 a month, but to set it up is $20,000-$25,000. We’d like to get the maximum use 

out of that, and we definitely don’t want to have to come back through the whole process 

for six weeks. It might not be done, but there is a very hard, fast date of a large 

advertising campaign for the artisan tour, which is a bi-annual tour. We had one in the 

Village of Leawood last year in May. It was very well accepted. That house sold during 
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the tour for $1.35 million. Participants pay $20 to tour, and of that, $15 goes to charity; 

$5 goes to the cost of operating the event. I apologize that I did not get a chance to ask 

staff if they had a strong feeling about 14 versus 12 months.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Simpson? Staff, do we have the 

discretion to amend the stipulation to 14 months? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes, I believe you can set it for up to 20 years.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have any opposition to that? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Simpson, are you sure 14 months is enough? 

 

Mr. Simpson:  I know because the artisan home tour is a hard date, so the house has to be 

ready. When we did it at Village of Leawood, we had decorators there 24 hours a day for 

six days. They finished 15 minutes before it opened. This is one of those things that has 

to be ready. The manor house is a smaller house. The artisan house is probably 6,500 

square feet. It may be done sooner. The trailer is a good stop-gap, but we’re not anxious 

to have it there any longer than necessary. We’re anxious not to have a break where 

agents are sitting in their car. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Because this is an application for a Special Use Permit, a 

Public Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Stevens; seconded by Pateidl. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there any discussion with respect to Case 10-19? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  When will this show up on the Governing Body agenda? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It will be the third Monday in March. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  If we set it at 14 months, that would make it May 14th. Is that enough 

time? 

 

Mr. Simpson:  Inaudible comments 

 

Mr. Klein:  It is upon Governing Body approval. 
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Comm. Coleman:  It states in the stipulations that the Special Use Permit is limited to a 

term of 14 months from the date of Governing Body approval.  

 

Mr. Simpson:  Inaudible comments 

 

Comm. Coleman:  We could do 16 months. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you care to make a motion, then? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 10-19 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD – 

SALES TRAILER – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a Temporary 

Sales Trailer, located east of Mission Road and north of 151st Street – including six 

staff stipulations and including an edit to No. 1 to limit the term of the Special Use 

Permit to 16 months from the date of Governing Body approval – was made by 

Coleman; seconded by Pateidl. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 11-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – CHASE BANK – Request for approval of a 

Revised Final Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue. 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 11-19 – Town Center Plaza – Chase Bank – request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue. 

The site for this project is located at a former Dean & DeLuca restaurant north of 119th 

Street and west of Roe Avenue. The applicant is proposing to convert the existing 

building into a multi-tenant space containing two tenants: Chase Bank and a future 

tenant, along with a drive-through ATM. The applicant is proposing modifications to the 

parking lot, façade updates to the east and south sides of the building, and pedestrian 

connections into the site long the north property line and in from Roe. The ATM drive-

through is proposed on the southeast corner of the site and will require a removal of 12 

existing parking spaces on the site. A median and canopy are proposed to be constructed 

for the ATM drive-through. The canopy will be 15’4” tall and will be constructed of 

materials that match the existing façade of the building. With the removal of the 12 

existing parking spaces due to the ATM drive-through, the applicant has proposed a land 

bank with 11 parking spaced, six to be located at the northern entrance of the site and five 

to be located at the western side of the building. If it is determined by the applicant that 

the spaces are needed at a later date, the spaces may be installed with city approval 

through a Revised Final Plan. The eastern entrance into the building has moved from the 

southeast corner of the building to be centered along the façade. A new entry is proposed 

along the south side of the building for a main entrance for the secondary tenant space. 

The Revised Final Plan meets the regulations for the LDO with the stipulations listed in 

the Staff Report. Staff recommends approval of Case 11-19 with the stipulations listed, 

and I would be happy to answer any questions. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Questions for staff? The drive-through does not require a Special Use 

Permit? 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is correct. This is more or less an ATM and not considered a drive-

through, but even if it was a bank with a drive-through, within the SD-CR district, an 

SUP is not required.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Seeing no further questions for staff, I would invite the applicant to 

step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Patrick Bennett, Core States Group, 6500 Chippewa Street, St. Louis, MO, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Bennett:  I’m also the professional engineer of record for the civil engineering 

portion of the project. It’s a pretty straightforward project. I think it speaks for itself. I’m 

happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are you and your client in agreement with the staff stipulations? 

 

Mr. Bennett:  Yes, sir. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are there questions for Mr. Bennett? Seeing none, you can step down. 

Discussion concerning Case 11-19?  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I’m sorry, but I was hoping for something a little nicer than a bank 

with the drive-through pointed out toward the intersection. It’s just personal preference. 

It’s prime real estate and is within their purview to put it in; I was just hoping for 

something a little different.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments or questions? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 11-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – 

CHASE BANK – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located north of 

119th Street and west of Roe Avenue – with 28 stipulations – was made by Pateidl; 

seconded by Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, 

Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 12-19 – VILLAGE OF SEVILLE – THE NEW APOSTOLIC CHURCH USA – 

Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a place of worship, located north of 

133rd Street and west of State Line Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 
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Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 12-19 – Village of Seville – The New Apostolic Church USA. 

It is a request for approval for a Special Use Permit for a place of worship. The applicant 

is requesting to utilize two adjoined tenant spaces located in the southernmost building 

within the Village of Seville as a worship and meeting space for The New Apostolic 

Church USA. This space consists of 5,041 square feet and will contain 120 seats for 

members. The church will be utilized in off-peak hours, including Sunday mornings, 

Wednesday evenings, and on holy days. There are no exterior changes proposed to the 

building. A Special Use Permit for the church will be limited to a term of 20 years. Staff 

does recommend approval of Case 12-19 with the stipulations in the Staff Report. I’d be 

happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions for staff?  

 

Comm. Block:  Usually with the interact meetings, there are answers to the questions. I 

don’t know exactly what we’re looking at. I just got a list of handwritten questions. I 

don’t know if those were from the participant or the moderator. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It is my understanding that those that came were members of the church 

who were curious about the space itself. I think that he jotted down questions that were 

more particular to their church space on the interior. He noted there were no concerns on 

the last comment. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I’m looking at the hours stipulated in the report that the space will 

generally utilize. It is on Sunday from 9:00-1:00 and also Wednesday evening. My 

concern is with the other tenants in that parking situation. If I recall, there is at least one 

restaurant.  

+ 

Ms. Schuller:  There are two restaurants.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  The Breakfast Spot will probably be very welcome to the church 

coming there to have some additional patrons. I’m additionally concerned with that lot, 

especially the way it is designed, that the parking will go from south to north and 

potentially crowd out potential customers going into those restaurants and other 

buildings. I assume we didn’t need a parking study. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  We did not require a parking study. Staff considered the parking concerns 

as well with the thought that the retail spaces are probably not going to be open Sunday 

mornings. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  It is just the crossover from Sunday 9:00-1:00. There will be a lunch 

crowd coming in there. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  There will be a little bit of crossover. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I didn’t see in the interact meeting if it included homeowners’ 

associations. Do those notices go out to existing tenants as well or just to the ownership? 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 12 - February 26, 2019 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It just goes to property owners, so not necessarily the tenants. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  So, we don’t have feedback from the operators of the restaurants or 

other businesses. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? If not, I would invite the applicant to step 

forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Henry Klover, Klover Architects, 10955 Lowell, Overland Park, appeared before the 

Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Klover:  I’m here representing the SUP for The New Apostolic Church. With me 

tonight is Dave Wilson. I was also at the interact meeting. It was all church members with 

the exception of Clinton, who was part of the homeowners’ association for one of the 

residential elements to the west. He was actually very positive. He was more interested in 

what would happen, who would be there. The time frame listed is 9:00-1:00, but that’s 

generous because it’s people milling around. The services end at 11:30. We thought it 

was a perfect use because people would be leaving. We’ve also given a heads up about 

the secret ninja parking behind it that never tends to get used and is easy to get to. There 

is a whole row of parking behind the building, which would be very useful as well. 

Everybody was very favorable and positive. We’re excited to move forward. I’m here to 

answer any questions you may have. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Questions for Mr. Klover? What are the hours of usage again? 

 

Mr. Klover:  It is listed as 9:00-1:00, but the service is over at 11:30. That allows for 

people to mill around before and after. The hope is that they will go over to the restaurant 

and give them business either before or after. The timing should be perfect.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  There is provision made for holy days and Wednesday as well? 

 

Mr. Klover:  Wednesday evening once a month. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That is really my question. It struck me that sometimes, during various 

holiday seasons, churches have activities other than on Sunday morning. Apparently, that 

has been addressed to the church’s satisfaction. 

 

Mr. Klover:  The stipulations were read by the church, and they were in complete 

agreement with them.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Any other questions for Mr. Klover? If not, you may step 

down. Because this is a Special Use Permit, a Public Hearing is required. 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 13 - February 26, 2019 

 

Public Hearing 

Deborah Hellinger, 13213 Overbrook, Leawood, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Ms. Hellinger:  I live directly behind the building they’re talking about. I have a few 

concerns that are threefold, but then with respect to what the gentleman just said, I have 

to add another concern. First would be traffic on 133rd Street. It’s getting busier and 

busier, and with the church population, I have no idea what it’s going to do to the traffic. 

There are bike lanes on that street. People speed on that street all the time. That is an 

issue. Secondly, regarding parking, I respectfully disagree. I live right behind there, and I 

see what happens all the time. The parking spaces behind are used all the time. They’re 

used by the Windy City Brewery. They’re there until midnight. Cars are always there. I 

have a feeling parking might be a problem. I am also worried about the makeup of the 

congregation and if the congregation caters to homeless people. We’ve had an increasing 

problem with the homeless population. You probably remember the dead body found 

across the street from my house in September. On December 29th, a policeman came to 

my house in the morning because a gun had been fired right into my intersection. They 

found the casings right there. Two months before that, the police were called by a 

neighbor of mine because he looked out his window at midnight, and he saw a man 

crawling on his hands and knees in front of my house on the sidewalk and then crossed 

over to the little pond behind us. The police came and talked to him. They couldn’t do 

anything because he wasn’t doing anything except for crawling on his hands and knees. 

Just last week, the police were sitting in front of my house for at least half an hour 

because they had a trespassing call. From what I understand, someone had put ropes up in 

a tree for a hammock right next to my house. There is no barrier between that shopping 

center and the houses in my neighborhood. There are some trees, but they don’t cover the 

entire thing. Behind the building that they are going to occupy, there is a bunch of weeds 

and two trees. If they decide to put parking right there, there is no barrier. My concern is 

one of safety more than anything. That is my opinion. I appreciate you listening to me. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there any other comments? 

 

As no one else was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made 

by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Klover, do you wish to respond to Ms. Hellinger’s concerns? 

 

Mr. Klover:  From all my years in Leawood, this is actually pretty shocking. No homeless 

people. This is actually combining two existing churches that are on either side. This is a 

national organization. My statement would be that we don’t consider the parking to be a 

problem. In all my experience with shopping centers, having something in there before 

the restaurant really starts to get active is a good use. Also, we’ll bring more people to the 

center. It’s a symbiotic use. We don’t typically consider that to be an increase in parking 
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or an increase in traffic requirements. I hope I’ve answered your questions, but definitely 

no homeless people.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. That brings us to a discussion about the application.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  I’m curious as to how many members are in the two churches that are 

combining into one.  

 

David Wilson, 11905 East 76th Terrace, Raytown, MO, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Wilson:  I’m the local pastor of The New Apostolic Church. The average Sunday 

attendance in 2018 was approximately 100 people with approximately 40 cars. That is the 

increase in traffic we will have.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? Perhaps after this meeting, you could 

meet with Ms. Hellinger and address some of her concerns. 

 

Mr. Wilson:  I would love to. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any questions or discussion about Case 12-19? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 12-19 – VILLAGE OF SEVILLE – THE 

NEW APOSTOLIC CHURCH USA – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit 

for a place of worship, located north of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road – 

with 8 stipulations – was made by Block; seconded by Pateidl. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 13-19 – BROOKWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – Request for approval of a 

Special Use Permit for a before-and-after-school program, located south of 103rd Street 

and east of Mohawk Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 

 

Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 13-19 – Brookwood Elementary School – Request for 

approval of a Special Use Permit for a before- and-after-school-program. The applicant is 

requesting to operate the program for Brookwood students beginning at 7:00 a.m. and 

running until 6:00 p.m. The program is run by Johnson County Parks & Recreation. 

There will be a total of 60 elementary-grade students and 24 pre-kindergarten students. 

The program will be facilitated by six staff members. The SUP for the program is limited 

to a term of 20 years. Staff recommends approval of Case 13-19 with the stipulations in 

the Staff Report. I’m happy to answer any questions. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is this school already open? 
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Ms. Schuller:  My understanding is they’re planning on moving in over Spring Break. 

They will be open after that. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They’ll open March 15th. 

 

Comm. Block:  So, it’s not finished? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  No, it is, but they’re opening mid-semester. 

 

Comm. Block:  I ask because it leads me to my question. There were a lot of concerns at 

the interact meeting by neighbors. Is the landscaping not in yet? Will some of this be 

addressed? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s done. The lighting issues have been addressed as well as the 

landscaping. 

 

Comm. Block:  Was there a drainage issue? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I’m unaware of any drainage issues. They have a detention facility in the 

back by the playground. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Any other questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I know it has nothing to do with the permit, but I assume we do go out 

and double check to make sure all the landscaping is put in and the drainage is adequate. 

The concerns raised by the residents were very valid concerns. They had nothing to do 

with the SUP, but I just hope that the developer will address them. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Those issues would be addressed separately within my office. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. If there are no further questions, I would invite the 

applicant to step forward.  

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Kim Chappelow-Lee, 6501 Antioch, Merriam, appeared before the Planning Commission 

and made the following comments: 

 

Ms. Chappelow-Lee:  I’m the Children’s Services Manager for Johnson County Parks 

and Recreation District.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you have any further information you’d like to present to the 

commission? 

 

Ms. Chappelow-Lee:  To your question about when the program is opening, we have 

been operating this program at Brookwood Elementary since 1980, and we are currently 

operating the program at Indian Creek Technology Center, where the school is 
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temporarily located. It’s not a new business operation for us; it’s one that has been in 

operation for quite some time.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you have any objections to the six stipulations? 

 

Ms. Chappelow-Lee:  They’re fine. We are in agreement. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do any commissioners have any questions? Because this is a request 

for an SUP, a Public Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As there was on one to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Pateidl; seconded by Coleman. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 13-19 – BROOKWOOD 

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a 

before-and-after-school program, located south of 103rd Street and east of Mohawk 

Road – with six stipulations – was made by Pateidl; seconded by Stevens. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. 

 

CASE 17-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-2-7, TABLE OF USES – Request for approval of an amendment to the 

Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Recreation and Entertainment – Indoor. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 17-19 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to 

Section 16-2-7 – Table of Uses, pertaining to Recreation and Entertainment – Indoor. 

This amendment is to add the use of Recreation and Entertainment – Indoor to the Table 

of Uses as an allowed use in the Business Park (BP) zoning district with a Special Use 

Permit. We discussed this change at our February 14th work session. Staff wanted to 

make the LDO consistent. Currently, Recreation and Entertainment – Outdoor is allowed 

within that district with an SUP. This would make Indoor consistent with that. The 

definition for Recreation and Entertainment – Indoor is, “an establishment offering 

recreation, entertainment, or games of skill to the public for a fee or charge that is wholly 

enclosed in the building. Typical uses include bowling alleys, indoor theaters, bingo 

parlors, pool halls, billiard parlors, and video game arcades.” Staff is recommending 

approval of this change to the LDO, and I’d be happy to answer any questions. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions for Mr. Klein? If not, I note that 

because this is an amendment to the LDO, a Public Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Coleman; seconded by Pateidl. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That brings us to a discussion. If not, is there a motion? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 17-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-7, TABLE OF USES – Request 

for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining 

to Recreation and Entertainment – Indoor – was made by Belzer; seconded by 

Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 144-18 – 2018 ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE CITY OF LEAWOOD 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Request for approval of the 2018 Comprehensive Plan. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 144-18 – Annual Update to the City of Leawood Comprehensive 

Plan for 2018. Within this change of the LDO amendment, we have done a lot of 

formatting, as discussed in previous work sessions. We have changed the look of the 

document, trying to add more graphics and make it a little easier to read. In addition to 

that, we added changes to the Points of Interest to make the symbols a little clearer. We 

also included the historic trails (Oregon, Santa Fe, and California) reflected in the 

Comprehensive Plan. We have also included a map that shows Self-Propelled Leawood. 

It is carried out in more detail in the document itself. Additionally, we have updated a 

number of uses in the Comprehensive Plan (shows them on the monitor). There are seven 

changes made to the Comprehensive Plan map: 

1.  The first had to do with 9617 Lee Boulevard, which is the proposed site of the 

new Fire Station. The Police Station will be removed, and the city would like to 

turn the northern portion into a public park. Currently, this is shown as all Public. 

The revision has the northern park as Public Open Space.  

2. The second change has to do with boundaries of Johnson County Wastewater. 

This amendment outlines the new boundaries to reflect it more accurately.  

3. The third change has to do with property that is currently shown as Mixed-Use 

Development south of College Boulevard along State Line Road. There is actually 

an existing office building, and it seemed more appropriate to designate the area 

as Office.  
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4. The fourth change has to do with a micro-hospital that was approved for Village 

of Seville. It’s located at the northwest corner of the intersection of 133rd Street 

and State Line Road. It has been constructed and exists there currently. Staff is 

proposing to add a hospital symbol to designate it as a hospital.  

5. The fifth change was to add a graphical representation for the alignment of 137th 

Street, particularly as it extends from Kenneth Road to the west. Currently, the 

graphics show it more jagged.  

6. The sixth change deals with property at the southeast corner of 143rd Street and 

Kenneth Road. This is the location of the Public Works facility. The city is 

interested in these properties to the north that would actually be utilized for future 

Parks Department facilities. It has been changed from Planned Business District 

to Public.  

7. The last change has to do with the platting that was done in the ‘60s to what has 

recently been proposed with Hills of Leawood, which you saw tonight. Currently, 

on the plan, they show the street extending from Mission Road and a northwest 

street going down to 151st Street. The change reflects the alignment that Hills of 

Leawood is proposing, and it also reflects the city’s expectation that there will be 

a connection over to Mission Road. 

Staff is recommending approval of the changes to the LDO, and I would be happy to 

answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions for Mr. Klein? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  On the piece of property located at 143rd and Kenneth Road next to the 

existing Public Works maintenance facility, you’ve indicated that the city has put an 

interest in doing something with that piece of property to the south and west. Does the 

city own that property? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I believe that it has been purchased. 

 

Comm. Block:  I think these are nice improvements. It does look much nicer. Thanks to 

staff for doing that and for adding the 135th Street Community Plan. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  If there are no other questions, this case requires a Public Hearing. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  If we’re looking at Case 17-19, it is related to some changes to the Table 

of Uses. Case 144-18 is the update. Are we taking both at the same time? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’re already done with Case 17-19. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Pateidl; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
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Chairman Elkins:  That brings us to discussion of the Comprehensive Plan. Are there any 

other comments? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Because this is Commissioner Pateidl’s last meeting, I would like 

nothing better than for him to close out his ten years of service by making one additional 

motion. 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 144-18 – 2018 ANNUAL UPDATE TO 

THE CITY OF LEAWOOD COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Request for approval of 

the 2018 Comprehensive Plan – was made by Pateidl; seconded by Stevens. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 6-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The chair notes that, on the dais with the plan, there are two 

memoranda that are part of the original. They constitute the required annual reports for 

two of our impact fees. Chair would note that the first memorandum is dated February 

21, 2019, the subject of which is 2018 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee Report. I would 

note for the record that the balance in that fund as of December 31, 2018 was 

$143,363.10. Does anyone on the commission have questions or concerns about this 

memorandum? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Those were pulled from the agenda.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Very good. Since it has been quite a night, I will rise to a point of 

personal privilege with mixed feelings. As Commissioner Coleman has already noted, 

tonight marks the end of ten years of service by Commissioner Pateidl, a number of 

which, he has served as Vice-Chairman of the Planning Commission in a very able way. I 

just want to express my appreciation at a personal level as well as a representative of the 

city for all the great work that Jim has done over the last ten years. He has always been 

willing to express his concerns about the best interests of the citizens of the City of 

Leawood. For that, the commission, the staff, and the City of Leawood are very grateful. 

I would also note that we have a small token of both the commission and the city’s 

appreciation for the good, hard work that Commissioner Pateidl has done over the last ten 

years. In addition, this is a bit of an unusual night, and unfortunately, he was not able to 

join us tonight, but this also marks the end of Kip Strauss’s service on the Leawood 

Planning Commission. He, too, has provided great value as a design professional, 

particularly in the space of transportation, which is his area of expertise. He has always 

been very generous in lending his expertise to the commission, to the staff, and to the 

City of Leawood. I would be remiss if I didn’t note the work that he did over the years of 

study for the 135th Street Corridor Plan that we currently operate under. Again, he 

brought all of his expertise and enthusiasm for the City of Leawood to that project. For 

that, both the city and the staff are extremely grateful. I would open the floor to any other 

commissioners who wish to comment on the departure of our two colleagues. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I did a little homework today in familiarizing myself on how long both 

Kip and Jim have been on the commission. I’ll take Kip first. He has been on for eight 
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years. He first started in June, 2011. He replaced Dan Heiman. He had a work session on 

recycling bins. That was his first entry into the Planning Commission. For Jim, I did do 

more homework. You’ve been here ten years. Your first meeting was January 13, 2009. 

You replaced Dick Shaw. Lisa Rohlf was the chairperson at the time. I thought it was 

very interesting that there were two pieces of new business at that meeting. One was the 

approval of Market Square Center. The second, which I thought was very appropriate, 

was the approval of the Dean & DeLuca building, which came up today under Chase 

Bank. You have truly come full circle with new buildings and refitting old buildings. I 

want to thank you for your service as well as your wisdom and your passion. You are 

very passionate about certain issues, and I truly appreciate that. I learned a lot from you 

and from Kip. I will personally miss you as a member, and I know the city will miss you 

as well.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Thank you. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other comments? 

 

Comm. Block:  I agree. Thank you very much for your service.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Pateidl, do you want to have the last word? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I’ll have the last word. Actually, the time spent on the Planning 

Commission has been an extreme privilege. I’ve had the joy of working with some 

terrific commissioners currently and in the past, and hats off to the members of the 

Planning Department. When I started this, I had no idea what you guys do or did. I’m not 

sure I have a real good idea now, but you do it well. I encourage you to maintain that. I 

thank the city. I thank you all for your patience and for your indulgence. I’ll miss 

Tuesday nights, but I’ll find a place to put them. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you again, Mr. Pateidl. I will note for the record that, with 

Commissioner Pateidl’s departure, the office of Vice-Chairman of the Planning 

Commission stands open, and we will be conducting an election at the next regular 

meeting, which will be toward the end of March. If there is nothing more to add, we stand 

in adjournment. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Before everyone goes, we have a work session with City Council on 

April 9th at 6:00.  
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 5, 2019 
 

MANFIELD MULTI-TENANT BUILDING – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A FINAL PLAN – Located 
south of 103rd Street and west of State Line Road – Case 20-19             **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 20-19 Manfield Multi-Tenant Building – request for approval of a Final 
Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant/contractor is Gordon Rock with KCPMG Inc. 

 The property is owned by Why Not Now KS LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval to paint the sides and back of the building to gray. Currently it is 
painted a light beige. The front of the building will remain unpainted red brick.   

 The applicant is also proposing to plant 12 Spartan Junipers along the western property line to help 
screen the building from the homes to the west.  

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned BP (Planned Business Park). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north is Jiffy Lube, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). Across 103rd 
Street is the Wells Fargo Bank, zoned SD-NCR (Planned Neighborhood Retail) 

 South Directly south are buildings, zoned BP (Planned Business Park). 

 East Directly east of State Line road is a natural area that leads into the City of Kansas 
City. 

 West Directly west of the site is the residential subdivision Leawood Estates, zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Low-Density Residential). 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 The existing multi-tenant building is composed of concrete masonry units on the sides and back, and 
a red brick facade. 

 The applicant is proposing to paint the sides and rear of the building gray (Sherwin Williams 
Fashionable Gray) with a black trim (Sherwin Williams “Black of Night”). Currently the building is 
painted a light beige. No other changes are proposed.   

 The existing building is a multi-tenant building divided into multiple tenant spaces. Four (4) tenant 
entrances into the building are shown on the east elevation. Two (2) of these entries are at grade, and 
two (2) are raised and accessed by brick steps.  

 Along the east façade of the building is an existing parking lot with seven (7) parking spaces, two (2) 
of which are ADA spaces. 
 

SIGNAGE:   

 No signage is proposed with this application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 No changes are proposed to the lighting with this application. 
 

LANDSCAPING: 

 Prior to the filing of this application, the existing trees along the western property line that helped to 
screen the residential properties from the site were removed. The applicant is proposing to replace the 
trees that were removed to recreate the screening that once existed. 

 The applicant is proposing to plant 12 Spartan Juniper trees along the western property line along the 
west of the proposed retaining wall. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 20-19, Manfield Multi-Tenant Building – 
request for approval of a Final Plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to painting the sides and rear of the building (north, south and west elevations) 

of the Manfield building gray with black trim, and the planting of 12 Spartan Junipers along the west 
property line. The front of the building will remain the existing unpainted red brick. 

2. Trees along the western property line shall be planted to screen the building from the properties to the 
west. 

3. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
4. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through four. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 6, 2019 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – AMERICAN CENTURY INVESTMENTS – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
REVISED FINAL PLAN FOR CHANGES TO THE FAÇADE OF A TENANT SPACE – Located south of 
Town Center Drive and west of Roe Avenue – Case 21-19             **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 21-19, Town Center Plaza – American Century Investments – request 
for approval of a Revised Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, with the stipulations 
outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant/architect is Andres Alfaro with Helix Architecture and Design 

 The property is owned by ENJ Holdings NO. 2, L.L.C. 
 

REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to alter the north, south and west facades 
of the existing building, including exterior mullions of the existing storefront facing south, and addition 
of windows on the north and west elevations of the building.  

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall, zoned RP-4 
(Planned Apartment Residential District) and the mixed use development Park Place, 
zoned MXD (Mixed Use). 

 South 119th Street is the retail shopping center Hawthorne Plaza, located within the city of 
Overland Park. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is the retail shopping center Camelot Court, zoned SD-
CR (Planned General Retail). 

 West Directly west is Roe Avenue and Hawthorne Plaza, a retail development within 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

 
SITE PLAN: 

 The tenant space is located within a multi-tenant out parcel at the northeast corner of the retail 
development, Town Center Plaza, in between the Hereford House to the west and Central Bank of the 
Midwest to the east. 

 The building is currently split internally into multiple tenant spaces. The western half of the building is 
occupied by American Century Investments. The other half of the building is currently empty retail 
space and Sprint. 

 The building is currently surrounded on the north and south sides by parking spaces. To the east of 
the building is an entry drive into the development from Town Center Drive. To the west of the building 
is a shared internal drive aisle. 
 

ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant proposes to alter the storefront (south façade) by installing a new storefront window 
system with clear glass and dark bronze metal to match the existing storefront system of the building. 

 The applicant is also proposing to install six (6) 2’x5’-6” windows along the west elevation and two (2) 
6’x4’ windows along the north elevation. 

 No changes to exterior lighting are proposed. 

 The existing fabric canopy structure will remain. 

 No other changes are proposed with the plan. The brick façade/masonry of the exterior building will 
not be altered. 

  
SIGNAGE:   

 There are no proposed changes to signage with this application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 There are no proposed changes to lighting with this application  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 21-19, Town Center Plaza – American Century 
Investments – request for approval of a Revised Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, 
with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to changes to alter the north, south and west facades of the existing building, 

including a new storefront to match the existing storefront on the building and addition of windows to 
the north and west elevations. 

2. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Plaza.   
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3. A Building Permit from the City of Leawood Community Development department shall be obtained 
prior to construction. 

4. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
5. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through five. 



PROJECT LOCATION

VICINITY MAP

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

American Century Investments is doing a tenant finish renovation to the building lcoated at 
4719 Town Center Dr Leawood, KS 66211. As part of this tenant finish renovation we are 
proposing the addition of 6 new windows on the east elevation and 2 new windows on the 
north elevation. See attached drawings for clarification. The new windows will be of the 
same material (dark bronze aluminum and clear glass) as the existing store front on the 
south side of the building.
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 12, 2019 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – POTTERY BARN KIDS – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL 
PLAN FOR CHANGES TO THE FAÇADE OF A TENANT SPACE – Located north of 119th Street and 
east of Nall Avenue – Case 22-19            **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 22-19, Town Center Plaza – Pottery Barn Kids – request for approval 
of a Revised Final Plan for changes to the façade of a tenant space, with the stipulations outlined in the 
staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Cortland Morgan Architects. 

 The business is owned by William Sonoma, Inc. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to update the façade of Pottery Barn Kids 
within Town Center Plaza, including the painting of the building exterior, changing the existing 
aluminum storefront mullions from silver to black, replacing the existing blue awnings with black awning 
fabric, and adding a stone base to the front elevation. 

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly to the north of Town Center Plaza, zoned SD-CR, is W. 117th Street and Park 
Place, a mixed use development zoned MXD (Mixed Use District). 

 South Directly south of the property is the main parking lot within Town Center Plaza, followed by 
pad sites and 119th Street. Across 119th Street is Villa St. Joseph (assisted living), and 
Hawthorne Plaza (a regional shopping center), within the City of Overland Park, Kansas. 

 East Directly to the east of the property is William Sonoma (retail) and other retail tenants within 
the main center of the Town Center Plaza development, zoned SD-CR. 

 West West of the property is Brooks Brothers (retail), and other retail tenants within the main 
center of the Town Center Plaza development, zoned SD-CR. 

 
SITE PLAN: 

 The building is currently occupied by Pottery Barn Kids. 

 The store is located on the western end of the main retail center within Town Center Plaza, adjacent 
to William Sonoma.  

 The main entrance of Pottery Barn Kids is oriented to the south, facing a large parking lot within Town 
Center Plaza. 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 Pottery Barn Kids is a one-story building with a façade consisting of brick, white plaster and storefront 
window systems on the southern elevation. 

 The exterior plaster color will be updated with a fresh coat of white paint (BM- 876 Alabaster).  

 Light blue awnings currently exist on the southern elevation, over the main entrance. The existing 
awnings are proposed to be replaced with Sunbrella black fabric awnings. 

 A new stone base treatment will be added to the southern elevation. The natural stone (Black Basalt) 
will be located below the windows of the storefront. The existing brick at the base of the building and 
on the column structures will remain as existing. 

 The existing door handles will be painted black. 

 The existing silver storefront window system will be painted black. All existing storefront glass will 
remain as existing.  

 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Plaza development has sign criteria recommended by the Planning Commission and 
approved by the Governing Body. 

 No signage is proposed with this application. Signage is approved administratively through a separate 
application. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 The existing decorative sconces on the front columns will be removed. The sconces will not be 
replaced. The storefront is adequately illuminated by the existing exterior soffit lighting and storefront 
display lighting. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 22-19, Town Center Plaza – Pottery Barn Kids 
– request for approval of a Revised Final Plan for changes to the façade of a tenant space, with the following 
stipulations: 
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1. The project is limited to exterior painting, replacement of awnings, and the addition of a stone base to 
the façade of Pottery Barn Kids within the Town Center Plaza development. 

2. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Plaza.   
3. The exterior awnings shall not be vinyl coated and shall not be illuminated from underneath. 
4. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
5. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through five. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2018 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 6, 2018 
 

ENCLAVE AT HIGHLAND VILLAS, FIFTH PLAT - REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL 
PLAT - Located south of 143rd Street and east of Nall Avenue - Case 23-19   **Consent Agenda** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 23-19, The Enclave At Highland Villas, Fifth Plat – request for approval 
of a Revised Final Plat, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Johnny Ray with Phelps Engineering Inc.   

 The property is owned by Willis Custom Homes Inc. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker, PE with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plat for Units 3 and 4 of the Enclave at Highland 
Villas, Fifth Plat to divide a twin villa (duplex) into two units.   

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned RP-3 (Planned Cluster Attached Residential District). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Medium Density Residential. 
 
LOCATION: 

 



2 

SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north is Grace Gardens Assisted Living, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Low-
Density) with a Special Use Permit for an assisted senior living facility. Across 143rd Street 
is St. Michael’s the Archangel Catholic Church and School, zoned AG (Agricultural) with a 
Special Use Permit for a place of worship and elementary school. 

 South To the south is a water pumping station owned by Water District No. 1 of Johnson County, 
zoned RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached Residential) and the single family subdivision of 
Highlands Creek, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District). 

 East To the east is the single family subdivision of Highlands Creek, zoned RP-1 (Planned 
Single Family Residential District).   

 To the west are existing four-plex units within Highland Villas. West of Highland Villas is 
Nall Avenue and the single family residential development of Lionsgate by the Green within 
Overland Park.   

 
BACKGROUND: 

 A Revised Preliminary Plan and Final Plan for the Enclave at Highland Villas, was approved by 
the Governing Body with Case 28-16 on April 18, 2016 (Ordinance No. 2776) for 7 attached 
twin villas, a total of 14 dwelling units on 3.12 acres for a density of 4.49 dwelling units per 
acre.  The approved Final Plan for the Enclave at Highland Villas is attached. (Exhibit A) 

 The Enclave at Highlands Villas was approved with the following setbacks. 

 Front yard setback = 30’ 

 Side yard setback = 15’ 

 Rear yard setback = 35’ 

 Corner lot street side setbacks = 30’ 
These setbacks will be maintained from the exterior lot lines as the twin villas are constructed 
within the development.  However, minimum 15’ side yard shall also be required between all 
structures.  

 The applicant is platting around each of the twin villas as the units are constructed to divide the 
twin villas into two units.  This application is for the fourth twin villa to be constructed within the 
development. 

 
FINAL PLAT: 

 The fifth plat is for a duplex located in the northeast corner of the Enclave at Highland Villas. 

 The plat creates a rectangular interior lot/condominium lot around each unit of the twin villas, 
Units 3 and 4, within Tract B of Highland Villas.  The lot area of Unit 3 is 5,810.48 sq.ft. and the 
lot area of Unit 4 is 6,086.41 sq.ft. 

 The plat also shows the foundation/footprint of the duplex being constructed, with a dashed 
line.   

 Per the approved Preliminary Plan and Final Plan for the development, the plat meets the 
following: 

 Front yard setback of 30’ from west property line of the Enclave at Highlands Villas, 
adjacent to Birch Street. 

 A minimum rear yard setback of 35’ from the east property line of the Enclave at Highland 
Villas. 

 A minimum side yard setback of 15’ between structures. 

 Proposed open space for the entire Enclave at Highland Villas development is 73.3%. 
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IMPACT FEES: 

 Park Impact Fee: 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300.00 per dwelling 
unit prior to the recording of the Final Plat. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The proposed Final Plat will plat around each of the twin villas as they are constructed, with plat lines 
dividing the twin villas into two units with interior platted lines.  Per Section 16-3-9, Deviations, of the 
Leawood Development Ordinance, interior property line setbacks may be reduced to zero when the 
City approves adequate open space for the project and between buildings. The Revised Preliminary 
Plan and Final Plan for the Enclave at Highland Villas provided open space of 73% (compared to 30% 
open space required within the Leawood Development Ordinance) within the development.  

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 Staff is supportive of the deviation to allow for 0’ interior property line setbacks to allow the duplex units 
to be divided into two units.  (Stipulation 2) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 23-19, The Enclave At Highland Villas, Fifth 
Plat – request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, with the following stipulations: 
1. This application is limited to the platting of interior property lines around an individual twin villa (duplex), 

Units 3 and 4 of The Enclave at Highland Villas.   
2. This plat is approved with a deviation to allow 0’ interior property line setbacks.  
3. Per the approved Final Plat and Plan for The Enclave at Highland Villas the following setbacks shall 

be provided. 
a) Front yard setback of 30’ from all exterior property lines. 
b) Rear yard setback of 35’ from all exterior property lines. 
c) Corner lot street-side setback of 30’ from all exterior property lines. 
d) A minimum of a 15’ setback between all Twin Villas. 

4. Per Section 16-2-7.3(A) grade level window wells shall not extend into a setback more than 3’ from the 
vertical wall of the structure.   

5. The conditions and stipulations of the Revised Preliminary Plan and Final Plan approval for The 
Enclave at Highland Villas (Ord. 2776) shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent expressly 
modified herein. 

6. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and to 
execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through six. 

 
 









1 

City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 12, 2019 
 

RANCH MART NORTH SHOPPING CENTER – REDEVELOPMENT – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
FINAL PLAN AND FINAL PLAT – Located east of Mission Road and north of 95th Street –  
Case 04-19      

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 04-19 – Ranch Mart North Shopping Center – Redevelopment – 
request for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
HISTORY: 

 The Preliminary Development Plan for Ranch Mart North Shopping Center was approved by the 
Governing Body on December 3, 2018 with Ordinance No. 2918 (Case 115-18, Exhibit C). The 
Preliminary Development Plan proposed to demolish the northeast corner of the main center to provide 
room for a pedestrian plaza area and 27,597 sq.ft. of new construction for a total of 217,366 building 
sq.ft. for the Ranch Mart North development.  The project also included improvements to the site. 

 The Preliminary Plan decreased the overall sq.ft. of existing building area from 221,552 sq.ft. to 
217,366 sq.ft., thereby reducing the F.A.R. of the SD-CR zoning district from 0.32 to 0.31 and of the 
SD-NCR2 zoning district from 0.06 to 0.07. 

 The applicant has submitted a Final Plan for Ranch Mart North Shopping Center, with the following 
changes: 

 The applicant increased the total building area from 217,366 sq.ft. to 218,057 sq.ft., a difference of 
691 sq.ft. 

 Tenant Space 16, Gordon Dental (located adjacent to Duck Donuts within the main retail center), is 
not planned for removal.  

 The main entry drive from 95th Street is widened; however, the majority of the driveway maintains 
adequate green space for plant material. 

 The applicant removed the driveway entrance directly east of the cemetery to reduce turning 
movement conflicts and improve site circulation. 

 A water feature is proposed at the western corner of the main retail center. A final design for the 
water feature has not been determined at this time, but will reviewed under a separate Final Plan 
application at a later date. 

 An at-grade art feature is proposed within the main east-west drive aisle of the center, made of 
thermoplastic resin. The artwork is an interlocking tree pattern, and will be illuminated at the 
perimeter with at-grade LED lighting in the concrete pavement. 

 Additional art features are proposed throughout the center. A final design for the artwork has not 
been determined at this time, but will reviewed under a separate Final Plan application at a later 
date. 

 The facades designs have changed slightly to include more color in the design and to utilize more 
of the existing red brick. 
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APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Curtis Petersen with Polsinelli PC.   

 The property is owned by: 
o Ranch Mart McDonalds, L.L.C. 
o Ranch Mart North, L.L.C. 
o Linwood Pioneer Cemetery, L.L.C. 
o Leawood Post Office, L.L.C. 

 The engineer and architect is Chris Hafner with Davidson Architecture and Engineering. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, for the redevelopment of Ranch 
Mart North, which consists of 17.23 acres on six tracts of land. 

 The applicant is requesting to upgrade the entire site parking lot configuration, lighting and 
landscaping. 

 The applicant is requesting to upgrade the façade of the entire main retail center within the 
development, and the demolition and reconstruction of the eastern end of the main retail center. 

 The applicant is decreasing the overall sq.ft. of building area from 221,552 sq.ft. to 218,057 sq.ft, and 
reducing the F.A.R. of the SD-CR zoning district from 0.32 to 0.31.   

 The overall Ranch Mart development shall be made up of 218,057 sq.ft. of construction on 17.23 acres. 
The SD-CR zoning district shall be made up of 213,161 sq.ft. for an F.A.R of 0.31 within the SD-CR 
zoning district;  the SD-NCR2 zoning district shall be made up of 4,896 sq.ft. for an F.A.R. of 0.07. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is zoned SD-CR and SD-NCR2, as shown below. 
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COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
 

 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly to the north of the property is Curè of Ars church and school, and the Leawood 
subdivision, a single-family residential subdivision, zoned R-1 (Planned Single-Family Low 
Density Residential). 

 East To the east is the Leawood subdivision, a single-family residential subdivision zoned R-1 
(Planned Single-Family Low Density Residential). 

 South To the south is 95th Street, beyond which is the southern portion of the Ranch Mart 
shopping center, and a retirement living facility within the City of Overland Park. 

 West To the west is Mission Road, beyond which is a collection of commercial uses within the 
City of Prairie Village. 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The Ranch Mart development is 17.23 acres, located at the northeast corner of 95th Street and Mission 
Road.  The site includes one existing multi-tenant building, constructed in 1960, hereinafter referred to 
as the “main center” (located on Lot 1).  The site also includes three pad sites; McDonalds (located on 
Lot 4, southwest corner of the site) constructed in 1992, a bank constructed in 1999 (located on Tract 
2, east of main center), and CareNow (the former post office, constructed in 1961) (located on Lot 3, 
southeast corner of the site).  Linwood Cemetery is located on the southeastern portion of the site (Lot 
5). 

 Five foot sidewalks are proposed along the entire site length of 95th Street, widening to 6 feet in front of 
McDonalds. Three foot tall masonry screen walls are generally proposed in front of parking fields for 
the length of 95th Street, with the exception of the McDonalds street frontage, where there is not 
enough space to allow for the screen wall. 

Ranch Mart North Shopping Center 
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 Seven foot sidewalks are proposed along the entire length of Mission Road, except at the McDonalds 
frontage where 5 foot sidewalks are proposed. Three foot tall masonry screen walls are proposed for all 
parking frontages along Mission Road. 

 There are four connections from the buildings within the development to perimeter sidewalks along 95th 
Street and two connections to perimeter sidewalks along Mission Road. 

 Four bike rack locations are proposed on the site – two racks on the north side, one on the west side, 
and one on the south side of the main center. 

 A concrete 16 foot long, 4 foot wide slab for use as a Kansas City Area Transportation Authority 
(KCATA) bus stop is located on 95th Street, south of the sidewalk and east of the driveway entrance 
near McDonalds. The final design for the bus stop will be submitted by KCATA at a later date. 

 
Main Center 

 The main center of the development faces south and west.  A large parking lot is located on the south 
side of the main center and a smaller parking lot is located on the west.  

 The applicant proposes to upgrade the existing landscape islands, and provide additional landscape 
islands, in both parking lots. The applicant proposes two north-south 5 foot sidewalk connections 
through the islands south of the main center to provide pedestrian connectivity from 95th Street to the 
main center; the five foot sidewalk allows for 5 feet of green space within the islands to better support 
trees.  

 Two sidewalk connections are provided from Mission Road to the main center, a 6 foot sidewalk at the 
northern driveway entrance and a 5 foot sidewalk at the southern driveway entrance. 

 The applicant proposes to mill and overlay the parking lot pavement of the entire development.  

 New LED parking lot light fixtures, and 18 foot poles from grade, are proposed throughout the center. 
Specialty 18’ tall wooden light poles are proposed along the main east-west driveway of the main 
center, matching the wooden architectural elements of the facades. 

 The applicant proposes to reconfigure the vehicular entry on Mission Road, west of the main center. 

 The applicant proposes to remove one driveway entrance along 95th Street, between the McDonalds 
entrance and the stoplight to the east. 

 The applicant proposes to remove the existing brick structure used as a monument sign/planter box on 
Mission Road. 

 Trash enclosures are located on the north side of the Price Chopper, architecturally attached to the 
façade. 

 Price Chopper serves as the anchor tenant of the main center. The applicant proposes a new drive-thru 
pharmacy for Price Chopper, to be located west of the main entrance, in the location of the current 
drive-thru used for grocery pick-up. Cueing space for 5 vehicles is provided within the pull-through lane. 

 A portion of the main center, east of Price Chopper, is proposed to be demolished to provide room for a 
pedestrian plaza area with connection to a larger plaza space surrounding a proposed two-story 
office/retail building in the northeast corner of the site.  

 At grade artwork is proposed within the main east-west drive aisle, in front of the new pedestrian plaza. 
The artwork is made of thermoplastic coating and will have a black and white interlocking tree pattern. 
In-ground lighting will illuminate the artwork on the perimeter. 
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Southeast Corner of Main Center: Retail Building 

 The southeastern corner of the main center is proposed to remain. 

 A new 3’ tall, integrated, metal faced planter with a bronze finish is proposed to wrap the corner of the 
east end, defining the tenant patio space from the approximately 6’ sidewalk.  

 A restaurant use is proposed to occupy this tenant space, and will include a patio space with an 
outdoor game area that wraps around the south and east sides of the building. Patio furniture and 
amenities for this space will be approved with a Final Plan for a Tenant Finish at a later date. 

 
Northeast Corner of Main Center: Proposed Retail and Office Building 

 The existing extension of the main retail center, located on the northeast corner, is proposed to be 
demolished. The applicant proposes the construction of a 27,597 sq.ft., two-story office/retail building. 

 The new building will be separated from the existing center by a pedestrian plaza space, approximately 
300’ from north-south and 200’ long from east-west, with landscaping, lighting and seating amenities. 
The plaza is proposed to have a series of dark and light concrete pavement, creating a patterned 
affect. 

 The eastern entrance to the plaza is protected from the adjacent drive lane with illuminated bollards 
approximately 40” in height. 

 A pedestrian walkway spanning the drive aisles east of the main center will include a pedestrian refuge 
island that is elevated 6” from grade with raised planters and colored stamped concrete. The crimson 
coral colored concrete will have a brick herringbone pattern. 
 

East of Main Center: NBKC Bank 

 The 32’-0” tall, 4,836 sq.ft. NBKC Bank building will remain as existing. 

 The parking field surrounding the bank will be reconfigured with additional parking lot islands and 
pavement striping. 

 New islands will be provided for the bank teller lanes. 

 A new 7’ concrete sidewalk is proposed to wrap the north, east and south sides of the building. 

 A 5’ sidewalk connection is proposed from the main center to the bank, on the south side of the main 
drive aisle. 

 A trash enclosure is proposed to be located on the west side of the bank drive-thru lanes, 
architecturally attached to the columns. 

 
McDonalds 

 The existing 16’-0” tall, 3,610 sq.ft. building and associated drive-thru are to remain as existing. 

 The applicant proposes newly configured islands on the north side of the McDonalds parking field to 
provide better traffic circulation. 

 A monument sign is proposed on 95th Street near the McDonalds driveway entrance, and along 
Mission Road near the southern driveway entrance. 

 
CareNow  

 The 24’-0” tall, 4,896 sq.ft. CareNow building will remain as existing. 

 The applicant proposes to reconfigure the parking lot with 90 degree parking, and regrade the site to 
eliminate ADA noncompliance. 

 The applicant will change the landscape islands and create better circulation with the main center 
parking lot. 
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Cemetery  

 The existing drive aisle south of the cemetery will be removed and replaced with green space and 
additional landscaping. 

 The existing sidewalk on the eastern side of the cemetery will be removed. A new pedestrian 
connection will be provided on the north side of the cemetery. 

 A sidewalk connection is proposed to connect from 95th Street to the south side of the cemetery. 
 
BULK REGULATIONS: 
The subject site was developed prior to the adoption of the current ordinance.  Some of the site 
characteristics are nonconforming as they relate to the required bulk regulations of the SD-CR and SD-
NCR2 zoning districts.  However, the nonconforming site characteristics are considered legally 
nonconforming.  The following table summarizes criteria that are required along with the existing and what 
is currently proposed. 
 
SD-CR Zoning District 

Criteria Required Existing Proposed Criteria 

Exterior Structure Setback – Mission Road 
(McDonalds)  

40’ 40’ 40’ 
Complies 

Exterior Structure Setback – North Property 
Line (Price Chopper) 

40’ 63’ 63’ Complies 

Residential Structure Setback –  (North 
Property Line) (Price Chopper) 

125’ 63’ 63’ Legally Non-Conforming 

Residential Structure Setback – (East Property 
Line) 

125’ 175’ 175’ Complies 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 13% 20 Reduces Non-Conformity 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 11% 12%  Complies 

Minimum Acres 10 acres 15.61acres 15.61acres  Complies 

Parking setback on north property line 25’ 10’ 19’ Reduces Non-Conformity 

Parking setback along Mission Road 25’ 0’ 10’ Reduces Non-Conformity 

Parking along 95th Street (McDonalds) 25’ 5’ 5’ Legally Non-Conforming 

Parking along 95th Street (Main Center) 25’ 2’-6” 14’-6” to 15’-6” Reduces Non-Conformity  

Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25 0.32 0.31  Legally Non-Conforming 

Height Limit – SD-CR 50’ (max.) 32’ 38’-6” Complies 

 
SD-NCR2 Zoning District 

Criteria Required Existing Proposed Criteria 

Exterior Structure Setback – 95th Street 
(CareNow) 

40’ 15’ 15’ 
Legally Non-Conforming 

Exterior structure setback from east property 
line (CareNow) 

75’ 50’ 50’ Legally Non-Conforming 

Residential Structure Setback  75’ 50’ 50’ Legally Non-Conforming 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 29%* 57%* Reduces Non-Conformity 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 20%* 36%* Complies 

Minimum Acres 10 acres 1.63 acres 1.63 acres Legally Non-Conforming 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.)  0.20 0.09 0.07 Complies 

Height Limit – SD-NCR2 40’ (max.) 24’ 24’ Complies 

*Open space calculations are as estimated by Planning Staff 
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Deviations: 

 The following deviations are requested, as provided by Section 16-3-9 A(5) of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance: 
 

 Required Existing Proposed Criteria 

Interior Structure Setback 10’ 0’ 0’ Deviation Approved 

Interior Parking Setback 10’ 0’ 0’ Deviation Approved 

 
TRAFFIC:    

 The traffic memo was provided for review by the Public Works Department at the time of Preliminary 
Plan detailing existing and proposed vehicular entry points, and trip generation for the AM and PM.  

 
PARKING:   

 Parking is provided throughout the site with the larger parking fields located to the south, east and west 
of the main center.  A narrower parking lot is located along the north side of the main center. 

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, parking within the SD-CR district is required at a ratio of 3.5 
to 4.5 parking spaces per 1,000 sq.ft. of building area, except for food related businesses in which 1 
parking space is required for every 2 seats, or by an alternative parking study.  

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance a minimum of 487 parking spaces is required for the retail 
businesses (3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 sq.ft.) and another 441 parking spaces for existing and 
proposed restaurants seating for a total of 917 parking spaces with this application. The applicant is 
proposing 933 parking spaces. The proposed number of parking spots is in conformance with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. The total number of existing parking spaces is 846 (71 less than 
required). 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 No changes are proposed to the elevations of the NBKC Bank or the CareNow building. 
 
South Elevation – Section A (Plan Sheet A3.2) 

 Section A of the southern elevation includes the building area to the west of Price Chopper. 

 The main building entrances will face the south, and will be accessible via the covered sidewalk 
adjacent to the main entrances. 

 Section A of the southern elevation is proposed to be 25’-8” (1-story) in height with a flat roof.  

 The façade is composed primarily of the existing red-tone brick on the lower half. The upper façade is 
composed of stone tile in white, slate, and gascogne blue. 

 The façade is accented with wooden awnings in a natural tone, zinc panels in varying shades of gray, 
brown and black, and a brightly colored Sunbrella fabric awning in violet.  

 The storefronts will be composed of clear, 1” insulated glass with 2” clear anodized frames. 

 Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet. 
 
South Elevation – Section B (Plan Sheet A3.2) 

 Section B of the southern elevation includes Price Chopper and is proposed to be 25’-0” (1-story) in 
height with a flat roof.  
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 Price Chopper will be faced primarily with zinc panels in shades of gray, brown and black and the 
existing brick with a gray stain. Dark gray stone will accent the pharmacy drive-thru area. The existing 
red-tone brick of the main center will remain on the lower portion of the façade. 

 A cementitious panel with integrated signage is proposed to surround the main entrance of the building. 
Wooden louvers will accent the main entrance. 

 A canopied walkway will exist east of the main entrance and connect to the eastern corner of the main 
retail center.  

 Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet. 
 
South Elevation – Section C (Plan Sheet A3.2) 

 Section C of the southern elevation includes the building area to the east of Price Chopper and is 
proposed to be 24’-4” (1-story) in height with a flat roof.  

 The façade is composed primarily of zinc panels in gray and black, and stone tile in varying shades of 
gray. Wooden louvers and perforated stainless steel accent panels are located above the covered 
walkway. 

 A break in the façade is located just east of the existing Gordon Dental tenant space and serves as a 
pedestrian plaza space.  

 A metal faced planter is proposed to wrap the corner of the eastern end, in front of the corner tenant 
space, and is used to separate the proposed patio space from the pedestrian sidewalk. 

 A glass clerestory is proposed above the walkway of the corner tenant space. 

 Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet. 
 
West Elevation (Plan Sheet A3.1) 

 The façade is composed primarily of the existing red-tone brick on the lower façade, with gray stone 
and zinc panels on the upper façade. 

 The west elevation is proposed to be 24’-0” (1-story) in height with a flat roof.  

 The façade is accented with brightly colored Sunbrella fabric awnings in green and violet, and zinc 
fascia awnings. 

 A covered walkway, including colonnades, canopies and awnings, generally spans the western façade. 

 Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet. 
 
East Elevation – Main Center (Plan Sheet A3.3) 

 The eastern façade is composed of two separate buildings – the eastern end of the main retail center 
and a newly constructed, two-story (38’-6” tall), retail and office building. The buildings are separated 
by a pedestrian plaza space.  

 A covered walkway,  including colonnades and canopies generally spans much of the eastern facades 
of both buildings. 

 The façade is composed primarily of brick in dark gray, and stone tile in light gray. Red brick is 
incorporated to match the southern elevations of the retail center. 

 Gray zinc panels and wooden louvered awnings are located on the upper portion of the façade.  

 Perforated metal screens with abstract patterns accent the façade for a modern architectural appeal. 

 The eastern elevation has a flat roof. Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet. 
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East Elevation – Mixed Use (Plan Sheet A3.3) 

 The eastern façade of the mixed use building will be 38’-6” tall with a flat roof. Rooftop units will be site 
obscured by the building parapet. 

 The building has a continuous window system on both the lower and upper levels. 

 Fritted glass will be located on the upper level of the central portion of the façade. 

 A vertical band of red brick is incorporated to tie into the main retail center of Ranch Mart. 

 A second-story balcony is located on the south and west facades of the building, with metal railing, 
overlooking the pedestrian plaza space 

 
North Elevation – Section A (Plan Sheet A3.4) 

 The northern elevation is composed of two separate buildings – the northern side of the two-story office 
and retail building (38’-6” tall), and the northern side of the main retail center (27’-0” tall). 

 The façade of the mixed use building is composed primarily of zinc panels in varying shades of light 
gray. Red brick will be incorporated to match the southern elevations of the retail center. 

 A covered walkway with canopies generally spans the retail spaces located on the northern façade. 
The northern elevation has a flat roof. Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet 
North Elevation – Sections B & C (Plan Sheet A3.4) 

 Section B of the northern elevation includes the trash enclosures on the north side of Price Chopper. 

 The applicant proposes 5 enclosures secured by steel gates. 

 The façade is 27’-0” tall and consists of existing red brick. 
The northern elevation has a flat roof. Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet 
North Elevation – Section D (Plan Sheet A3.4) 

 Section D of the northern elevation is 24’-0” tall. 

 The northern elevation has a flat roof. Rooftop units will be site obscured by the building parapet 

 A covered walkway, including colonnades, canopies and awnings generally spans the retail spaces 
located on the northern façade. 

 The façade consists of existing red brick on the lower portions and gray stone and brick located on the 
upper portion. Zinc panels provide architectural interest across the façade.  

 The façade is accented with brightly colored Sunbrella fabric awnings in green. 
 
PHASING: 

 The first phase of the project will begin at the northwest corner of the site, with the parking field on the 
north side of the main retail center.  

 The phases will be coordinated in a counterclockwise direction around the site, with the primary parking 
lot construction (south of Price Chopper) taking place in Phase 2.  

 The new 2-story retail space construction will take place during the final phases of the project. 

 The graphic below represents the Phasing Plan shown on Sheet C1.2, attached:  
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SIGNAGE:   

 Ranch Mart has sign criteria recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by the 
Governing Body.  

 The applicant proposes to create new sign criteria for Ranch Mart North at a later date. 

 Signage is reviewed administratively. No signage is proposed with this application.  
 
LANDSCAPING:    

 The proposed landscape plan provides a mixture of native grasses with perennials in order to provide a 
wide variety of plant height, texture, and bloom times. The applicant has stated that the landscape 
theme is also carried out through architectural elements in the center, including the patterns in the 
perforated metal screens. 

95th Street 

 Perimeter street trees will be installed along 95th Street at a rate of 1 per 35 lineal feet.  

 Additional trees will be provided in the new green space located south of the cemetery, providing 
screening from 95th Street. 

 A 3 foot tall parking lot screening wall is provided along 95th Street, beginning at the western driveway 
entrance and continuing to the easternmost driveway. The green space between the sidewalk and the 
screen wall will be bermed and accented with groupings of deciduous and evergreen shrubs, native 
grasses and perennials. 

 A screening wall is not proposed along the McDonalds frontage due to space limitations; however, a 
continuous row of evergreen shrubs is proposed.  

Mission Road 

 Perimeter street trees will be installed along Mission Road at a rate of 1 per 35 lineal feet. 

 A 3 foot tall parking lot screening wall is provided along Mission Road from the southernmost driveway 
entrance to the northernmost driveway entrance. The landscape area between the back of curb and the 
screen wall will be bermed. 

Phase 1a 

Phase 1b 

Phase 2 

Phase 3a 

Phase 3b 
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 Groupings of deciduous and evergreen shrubs, native grasses and perennials are planted along the 
roadway frontage. 

 A screen wall is not proposed along the McDonalds frontage; however, a continuous row of evergreen 
shrubs will be installed.  

Other 

 The existing trees on the north and east property lines (areas adjacent to single family residential) are 
to remain as existing. An additional 68 trees are proposed to infill the property line, and include a mix of 
evergreen, understory and overstory trees. 

 The applicant is proposing that parking lot islands will contain two shade trees where possible, and 
ornamental trees within smaller islands. The applicant meets the Leawood Development Ordinance 
requirement of one tree planted for every ten parking spaces. 

 The pedestrian plaza space between buildings will be accented with trees, creating comfortable places 
to sit and interact. 

 The following table summarizes perimeter landscaping requirements of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance adjacent to the public right-of-way: 

 

*Note: The landscaping at Ranch Mart is considered existing non-conforming therefore any increase in landscaping is 
considered a decrease in the non-conformity. Ornamental trees are unable to fit due to space constraints. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 New 18’ LED parking lot light fixtures are proposed throughout the parking field of the entire 
development. 

 A special wooden pole design is proposed across the primary east-west drive aisle in front of the main 
center, and will feature a wooden pole in keeping with the contemporary design of the façade. 

 Accent lighting is proposed throughout the proposed plaza area, including in-grade lighting, bollard 
lighting, suspended luminaires and path lighting. Up-lighting is strategically placed to illuminate trees. 

 All exposed bulbs shall be frosted to hide the source of the light. 

 Per Leawood Development Ordinance the applicant is showing a maximum of 0.5 foot-candles at the 
property line. 

 The parking lot meets the required uniformity ratio of the Leawood Development Ordinance.  
 
FINAL PLAT: 

 A Final Plat for the Ranch Mart North shopping center was submitted Lots 1-5. 

 The proposed Final Plat encompasses all of the Ranch Mart North development, including the existing 
cemetery.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Mission Road 95th Street 

 Required Proposed Required Proposed 

Shade Trees 18 18 35 35 
Ornamental Trees 52 0* 103 0* 
Shrubs 124 124 248 252 
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 The Final Plat of Ranch Mart North consists of the following: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IMPACT FEES:   

 A total of 27,597 sq.ft. of new construction is proposed with this application. 

 PUBLIC ART IMPACT FEE: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a public art impact fee or 
a piece of public art.  Approval of the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts 
Council, Planning Commission, and approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of 
that, the applicant may pay a public art impact fee in the amount of $0.15/sq.ft. of finished floor 
area, estimated currently at $4,139.55 ($0.15 x 27,597 sq.ft). This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance.  

 PARK IMPACT FEE: A park impact fee in the amount of $0.15/square foot of finished floor area is 
required prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated currently at $4,139.55 ($0.15 x 27,597 
sq.ft). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The applicant applied to the Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) on February 27, 2019 for an Appeal of an 
Administrative Decision (BZA Case 12-2019) regarding the location of the proposed trash enclosure, 
attached to the drive-thru of the NBKC Bank. The Board of Zoning appeals approved the applicant’s 
proposed location for the trash enclosure. 

 Staff recommends that the proposed 7 foot wide sidewalk on Mission Road adjacent to the screening 
wall be revised to 6 feet in width, adding an additional foot of landscaped area on the west side of the 
screen wall. (Stipulation 4) 

 The applicant is proposing a stained, wooden light pole located along the main east-west corridor of the 
center. Staff is concerned about the long-term maintenance of the wooden poles, and recommends a 
metal pole be use. (Stipulation 6). 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 04-19 – Ranch Mart North Shopping Center – 
Redevelopment – request for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat with the following stipulations: 
1. This approval is limited to 27,597 sq.ft. of new construction, site improvements,  and a total of 218,057 

building sq.ft. for the Ranch Mart North development, located on 17.23 acres for an F.A.R. of 0.31 
within the SD-CR zoning district and an F.A.R. of 0.07 in the SD-NCR2 zoning district. 

2. The applicant shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 
a. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a public art impact fee or a piece of public art.  

Approval of the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning 
Commission, and approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant 
may pay a public art impact fee in the amount of $0.15/sq.ft. of finished floor area, estimated 
currently at $4,139.55 ($0.15 x 27,597 sq.ft). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance.  

Lot/Tract Zoning Acres 

1 (Main Retail Center) SD-CR 11.28 

2 (NBKC Bank & Parking) SD-CR 3.65 

3 (CareNow & Parking) SD-NCR2 1.26 

4 (McDonalds) SD-CR 0.68 

5 (Cemetery) SD-NCR2 0.37 
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b. A park impact fee in the amount of $0.15/square foot of finished floor area is required prior to 
issuance of a building permit, estimated currently at $4,139.55 ($0.15 x 27,597 sq.ft). This amount 
is subject to change by Ordinance. 

3. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 
to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground.  This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any new construction, subject to the applicant and Governing Body entering into a 
memorandum of understanding on existing tenant space. 

4. Prior to Governing Body, the proposed 7 foot wide sidewalk on Mission Road adjacent to the screening 
wall shall be revised to 6 feet in width, adding an additional foot of landscaped area on the west side of 
the screen wall. 

5. All proposed art features and artistic architectural elements, including water features shall be approved 
with a Final Plan at a later date. 

6. The applicant shall replace the wooden light poles proposed along the main east-west corridor of the 
center with metal poles, meeting all Leawood Development Ordinance requirements. 

7. All buildings within this development shall conform to the architectural type, style, and scale of the 
buildings approved by the Governing Body at Final Plan. 

8. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 
inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 
installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Planning as being in compliance with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

9. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 
be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final 
development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.     

10. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance all pedestrian crosswalks shall be demarcated from the 
adjacent street pavement with a different material and color. 

11. The project includes the following deviations: 

 0’ Interior parking setback 

 0’ Interior building setback 
12. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be screened from 

public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used in the buildings and shall 
be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and accented with appropriate landscaping.  The 
gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, sight obscuring, decorative steel. No outdoor storage of 
product or equipment shall be allowed. 

13. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 
14. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 

compatible with the building architecture.  The architectural treatment screening the utilities shall be at 
least as tall as the utilities they are to screen. 

15. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the 
building structure. 

16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this project shall 
be a maximum of 18’ in height from grade, including base. 
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17. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures shall 
not be visible. 

18. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the maximum amount of 0.5 foot-candles shall be permitted 
at the property line. 

19. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the perimeter area of all on-site open parking areas shall be 
screened from the view of adjacent properties and streets to a minimum height of 3 feet by the use of a 
combination of berms and/or walls accented with plant material.  

20. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, one (1) tree shall be provided for each 35 feet of street 
frontage within the landscaped setback abutting said street frontage.  

21. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper 
as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental trees shall be a minimum of 1 
½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in 
height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

22. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

23. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
24. All landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
25. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a) All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b) All parking lot islands shall be bermed to discourage foot traffic. 
c) All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
d) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
e) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the landscape 

architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
f) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

26. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

27. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 
works memo, shown as Exhibit A, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development 
Department, prior to recording the plat. 

28. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire 
Marshal’s memo, shown as Exhibit B, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development 
Department, prior to issuance of a building permit. 

29. Signage is not approved with this application.  All signage shall meet all the requirements of the 
Leawood Development Ordinance and sign criteria for the Ranch Mart development.   

30. A Sign Permit shall be required from the City of Leawood Community Development Department prior to 
installation. 

31. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a maximum noise level of 60 decibels shall be permitted at 
the property line, including all restaurant patio sound systems and/or televisions.  

32. All outdoor televisions shall be faced away from residential neighborhoods. 
33. The Owner/Applicant shall establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 

common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm 
water system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in the 
development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such maintenance, 
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repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such common areas or 
common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing and replacing 
said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood will be jointly 
and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of such lot. 

34. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
35. A cross access/parking easement for the entire development shall be recorded on the plat with the 

Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a building permit. 
36. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 

construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 
37. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
38. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
39. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through thirty-nine. 
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Jessica Schuller

From: Gene Hunter

Sent: Friday, March 1, 2019 5:01 PM

To: Jessica Schuller

Subject: RE: Circulation plans for Ranch Mart

Jessica…the clearances are adequate.   Thanks, Gene 

 

From: Jessica Schuller <jessicas@leawood.org>  

Sent: Friday, March 1, 2019 4:51 PM 

To: Gene Hunter <geneh@leawood.org> 

Subject: Circulation plans for Ranch Mart 

 

 

 

Jessica Schuller, AICP 

City of Leawood 
Planner II 
jessicas@leawood.org 
Tel (913) 663-9163 
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Ownership:

Ranch Mart North, LLC

3705 W. 95th Street

Overland Park, Kansas 66206

Zoning Area:

SC-CR

Zoning Area:

R-1

Rezoning to:

SD-NCR2

Zoning Area:

SD-NCR2



Schedule

Total area of the site: 750,401 sq. ft., 17.23 acres

Tract 1 site area: 650,348 sq. ft.

Tract 2 site area: 7,651 sq. ft.

Tract 3 site area: 24,340 sq. ft.

Tract 4 site area: 29,475 sq. ft.

Tract 5 site area: 15,983 sq. ft.

Tract 6-1 site area: 13,910 sq. ft.

Tract 6-2 site area: 8,694 sq. ft.

Gross building area: 218,057 sq. ft.

CareNow: 4,896 sq. ft.

NBKC Bank: 4,836 sq. ft.

McDonald's: 3,610 sq. ft.

Price Chopper: 63,320 sq. ft.

Retail: 68,197 sq. ft.

Mixed Use Building: 27,597 sq. ft.

Basement Storage: 45,601 sq. ft.

Floor area: 158,148 sq. ft.

Floor area ratio: 0.21

Building coverage: 21%

Open space: 142,825 sq. ft. / 750,401 sq. ft. = 19%

Required int. landscape: 75,040 sq. ft., 10%

Provided int. landscape: 88,821 sq. ft., 12%

Existing green space: 100,875 sq. ft., 13%

Proposed green space: 137,717 sq. ft., 18%

Existing impervious: 649,526 sq. ft., 87%

Proposed impervious: 612,684 sq. ft., 82%

SD-CR site area: 623,043 sq. ft.

SD-CR open space: 127,358 sq. ft., 20%

SD-NCR2 site area: 70,578 sq. ft.

SD-NCR2 open space: 10,039 sq. ft., 14%

Required parking: CareNow (4,896): 17 spaces

NBKC (4,836): 17 spaces

Price Chopper (63,320): 222 spaces

Retail (55,433): 194 spaces

Office (13,950): 49 spaces

McDonald's (74): 37 spaces

Foo's (22): 11 spaces

O'Neill's (136): 68 spaces

Meat Mitch (248): 124 spaces

Duck Donuts (22): 11 spaces

8,359 sf Rest. (334): 167 spaces

Total: 917 spaces

Provided parking: 933 spaces

Number of dwelling units:  Not applicable

Building and parking setbacks for all sides

North: 25' parking setback & 125' building setback (adjacent residential)

South: 25' parking setback & 40' building setback

East: 25' parking setback & 125' building setback for SD-CR zoned portion,

75' building setback for SD-NCR2 zoned portion (adjacent residential)

West: 25' parking setback & 40' building setback

Height of each building (stories and feet)

CareNow: One story, 24'-0"

NBKC Bank: One story, 32'-0"

McDonald's: One story, 16'-0"

Price Chopper: One story, 28'-0"

Retail: One story, 26'-6"

Mixed Use Building: Two stories, 38'-6"

Plaza / Pedestrian Space Requirements:

933 spaces

933 / 125 = 7.464

7.464 x 1,000 = 7,464 sq. ft.

7,464 x 50% = 3,732 sq. ft. green

Plaza / Pedestrian Space Provided:

18,691 sq. ft.

2,318 sq. ft. green space within plaza

Legal Description

A tract of land in the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 12,

Range 25 in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas and being more particularly

described as follows:

Beginning at the Southwest corner of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said

Section 34; thence North 01°43'21” West, along the West line thereof, a distance

of 663.51 feet (measured, 663.60 feet, deed) to the Northwest corner of the South one-half of

the West one-half of said Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said

Section 34; thence North 87°41'42” East, along the north line thereof, a distance

of 661.88 feet (measured, 661.94 feet, deed) to the Northeast corner of the South one-half of

the West one-half of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 34, said

point being the Southwest corner of lot 1382, Leawood, Lots 1361 to 1404; thence

North 87°36'50” East, parallel to the South line of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest

Quarter of said Section 34 and along the South line of said Lot 1382, a distance

of 330.73 feet (measured, 330.00 feet, deed) to the Southeast Corner thereof; thence

South 01°43'21” East, parallel to the West line of the East one-half of the Southwest Quarter of

the  Southwest Quarter of said Section 34, and along the Westerly line of Lot 1369, Leawood,

Lots 1361 to 1404, a distance of 85.49 feet (measured, 85.5 feet, deed) to the Southernmost

corner thereof and Southwest corner of Lot 1368, said Leawood; thence

North 87°32'59” East (measured, North 87°36'50” East, calculated from deed and plat) along

the South line of said Lot 1368, a distance of 280.81 feet (measured, 281.28 feet, deed) to the

Southeast corner thereof, said point being the Northwest corner of Lot 1352, Leawood

Lots 1302 -1360; thence South 01°45'33” East, along the Westerly line of said

Leawood, Lots 1302-1360, a distance of 577.39 feet to the South line of the Southwest Quarter

of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 34; thence South 87°36'50” West, along said South

line, a distance of 1273.80 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING less and except the South 40 feet

and West 30 feet thereof dedicated for roadway purposes and containing 750,478.47 square

feet or 17.23 acres, more or less.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

20

19

21

22

15

16 18

17

23

24

25

26

Tenant Use Area Seating Parking Required

1. O'Neills 6,580 sq. ft. 136 seats 68 spaces

2. Retail 3,832 sq. ft. 13 spaces

3. MPact PT 2,437 sq. ft. 8 spaces

4. Cosmo Prof 2,496 sq. ft. 9 spaces

5. Foot Spot 4,483 sq. ft. 16 spaces

6. Lilliane's 3,276 sq. ft. 11 spaces

7. Hallmark 7,324 sq. ft. 26 spaces

8. Pride Cleaners 1,250 sq. ft. 4 spaces

9. Paris Tailor 850 sq. ft. 3 spaces

10. Sarpino's 1,754 sq. ft. 6 spaces

11. Ranchmart Wine 8,175 sq. ft. 29 spaces

12. John's 730 sq. ft. 3 spaces

13. West Mall 12,500 sq. ft. 44 spaces

14. Price Chopper 63,320 sq. ft. 222 spaces

15. Duck Donuts 1,763 sq. ft. 22 seats 11 spaces

16. Gordon Dental 2,496 sq. ft. 9 spaces

17. Mathnasium 1,500 sq. ft. 5 spaces

18. Meat Mitch 6,592 sq. ft. 248 seats 124 spaces

19. Rest. A 4,102 sq. ft. 164 seats 82 spaces

20. Rest B 4,257 sq. ft. 170 seats 85 spaces

21. Retail A 2,339 sq. ft. 8 spaces

22. Office 13,950 sq. ft. 49 spaces

23. NBKC 4,836 sq. ft. 17 spaces

24. CareNow 4,896 sq. ft. 17 spaces

25. McDonald's 3,610 sq. ft. 74 seats 37 spaces

26. Foo's 1,024 sq. ft. 22 seats 11 spaces

Total: 170,372 sq. ft. 836 seats 917 spaces required

Note:  All existing basement space in the shopping center is used exclusively as storage

space.  No tenants have rights to access the basement.  This space has not been included

in the parking count.
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Notes

1. Reconnect public sidewalk with connection from north.

2. New concrete sidewalk and integrated screen wall along Mission Road for length of parking

field.

3. Reconfigure vehicular entry along Mission Road.

4. New landscape islands and 90 degree parking configuration on west side of retail center.

5. Stamped herringbone pattern concrete pedestrian crosswalk with concrete ribbon on each

side (typ).

6. Relocate existing McDonald's monument sign along Mission Road to accommodate

sidewalk.

7. Additional parking along 95th in McDonald's parking lot based on relocated vehicular entry

point further east.

8. Island definition of parking field on north side of McDonald's parking lot.

9. Relocate existing McDonald's monument sign along 95th Street to updated entry island.

10. Updated parking configuration, screen walls and pedestrian paths into development along

95th Street.

11. Removal of existing road to the south of the cemetery, replaced with additional

landscaping.

12. Existing McDonald's and associated drive thru to remain.

#

landscaping.

12. Existing McDonald's and associated drive thru to remain.

13. Existing CareNow building to remain.

14. Reconfigure parking field on east side of development to meet 25'-0" parking buffer

requirements.

15. Integrated and moveable planters around pedestrian paths

16. Reconfigure parking field around NBKC bank.

17. NBKC bank existing to remain.

18. New islands provided for bank teller lanes.

19. New consolidated trash enclosure with materials to match new facade updates.

20. Reconfigure parking field on north side of development to meet 25'-0" parking buffer

requirements.

21. Existing dock wall and delivery area for Price Chopper to remain.

22. Demo existing building in northeast corner of retail center and replace with 2-story

mixed-use (office / restaurant / retail) building.

23. Screen wall provides public sidewalk to south and east of outdoor patio space of corner

restaurant.

24. Screen wall along plaza provides screening to existing utilities located on north wall of

existing retail building.

25. Demo portion of existing retail building to provide pedestrian access to plaza.

existing retail building.

25. Demo portion of existing retail building to provide pedestrian access to plaza.

26. Maintain vehicular access to plaza at east entry.

27. Plaza features per perspective detailing provided with Final Site Plan submission.

28. Existing covered grocery delivery area conversion to pharmacy pick up.

29. Dashed line represents second floor overhang of outdoor and office space.

30. Reduction of drive width to delivery area for minimizing visual impact behind retail center.

31. Removable stainless steel pipe bollards to protect east plaza entry.

32. Integrated planter boxes and bollards for vehicular protection at south and north plaza

entries.

33. LED Illuminated stainless steel pipe bollards along frontage of Price Chopper entry.

34. LED site lighting with 18' total height maximum (including base, from grade) shown

throughout parking lot.

35. Bicycle parking location.

36. Sight distance triangle along 95th St. at restricted access points:  220' clear line of sight.

37. Sight distance triangle along 95th St. at full access point:  450' clear line of sight.

38. Sight distance triangle along Mission Rd. at full access point:  180' clear line of sight.

39. Switchgear box per KCPL.

40. Sectionalizer per KCPL.

Transformer per KCPL.

Switchgear box per KCPL.

40. Sectionalizer per KCPL.

41. Transformer per KCPL.

42. Remove existing sign along Mission Road.

43. Low screen wall along Mission Road & 95th Street to remain outside of sight distance

triangle.  3'-0" tall screening along public street frontage provided with ledgestone walls,

berms and landscaping.

44. Existing retaining wall to remain along 95th Frontage of CareNow building.

45. Speed table crosswalk to Price Chopper entry.

46. Sight distance triangle within parking lot:  200' clear line of sight.

47. Provide solid gate for vehicular access to service area.

48. 3" tall speed table at vehicular intersection with painted art feature.  Integrated LED traffic

rated lighting around limits of speed table.

49. Crosswalk / landscape island with brick herringbone pattern on 6" elevated surface.

Location for sculpture centered in island.

50. Expand crosswalk with herringbone pattern concrete with integrated LED traffic rated

lighting around limits of pattern.

51. Black aluminum fence and gate at each end of the restaurant patio.

52. Outdoor seating and games per Meat Mitch tenant requirements.  Surfaces within patio

Black aluminum fence and gate at each end of the restaurant patio.

52. Outdoor seating and games per Meat Mitch tenant requirements.  Surfaces within patio

include concrete, herringbone stamped concrete and artificial turf.

53. At grade planters in concrete pavement.

54. Elevated planter along east wall of Price Chopper.  See landscape plans for infill of beds &

water feature designation.

55. Seat wall at 24" above finish grade.

56. Sidewalk access to cemetery.

57. Proposed location of KCATA bus stop.  Final design to be submitted separately by KCATA.

58. Align sidewalk with back of curb of new & existing curb along south parking stalls for

McDonald's.

59. Water feature per landscape plans.

60. Kiosk restaurant w/ bar height seating per elevations.

61. Monument sign to meet LDO requirements.

62. Screen wall with directional signage (signage to be addressed by separately submitted sign

criteria).
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Dimension Notes
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5. 24" high patio enclosure.
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7. 54" high opaque wall.
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Dimension Notes

1. 12" high concrete planter.

2. 24" high concrete planter.

3. 36" high concrete planter.

4. 36" high patio enclosure.

5. 24" high patio enclosure.

6. 36" high opaque wall.

7. 54" high opaque wall.
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Calculation Summary (Footcandles calculated using predicted lumen values @ 50K hrs of operation)

Label Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min

McDonalds Fc 2.71 7.5 0.7 3.87 10.71

PROPERTY LINE Fc 0.21 0.5 0.0 N.A. N.A.

RANCHMART Fc 1.96 7.4 0.5 3.92 14.80

Luminaire Schedule

Symbol Qty Label Arrangement LMF Lum. Lumens Lum. Watts Part Number

5 B4 SINGLE 1.000 11648 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

2 B4-2 D180° 1.000 11648 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

2 B4B SINGLE 1.000 8950 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX + OSQ-BLSMF

1 B4B-AA SINGLE 1.000 8950 86 OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-AAXX + OSQ-BLSMF

38 B5M-2 BACK-BACK 1.020 11056 86 OSQ-A-NM-5ME-B-57K-XX-XX + OSQ-DAXX

3 XSPW SINGLE 0.970 4270 31 XSPW-B-WM-3ME-4L-57K-XX-XX

Illumination results shown on this lighting design

are based on project parameters provided to

Cree, Inc. used inconjunction with luminaire test

procedures conducted under laboratory

conditions.  Actual project conditions differing

from these design parameters may affect field

results. The customer is responsible for

verifying dimensional accuracy along with

compliance with any applicable electrical,

lighting,or energy code.

Filename: 180914LW1CJBR2.AGI

1200 92nd Street - Sturtevant, WI 53177        www.cree.com - (800) 236-6800

SR-32682 Footcandles calculated at 3' AFG

Layout By:

Chris Schlitz

Date:3/8/2019

 (8) PS4S15C1XX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

 (1) PS4S15CTXX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

 (40) PS4S15C2XX (15' X 4" X .125" SQUARE STEEL POLE)

Proposed Poles Meets 140 MPH Sustained Winds.

Additional Required Equipment:

 (88) OSQ-DAXX (DIRECT ARM MOUNT)

 (1) OSQ-AAXX (ADJUSTABLE ARM MOUNT)

 (3) OSQ-BLSF (BACKLIGHT SHIELD)

 (1) PB-1A4XX (SINGLE HEAD TENON)

***Customer to verify Color, Mounting, Fixture Location and

    Voltage prior to ordering.***

Ranchmart North - northeast corner of 95th & Mission in Leawood KS 66206
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Note:  All exposed bulbs used on the project to be frosted to hide the light source
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Average = 2.99

Maximum = 11.1

Minimum = 0.0

Avg/Min Ratio = N.A.

Pedestrian Plaza

Average = 2.99

Maximum = 11.1

Minimum = 0.0

Avg/Min Ratio = N.A.
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1200 92nd Street - Sturtevant, WI 53177

    www.cree.com - (800) 236-6800

             Illumination results shown on this lighting design are based on project parameters provided to Cree, Inc. used in conjunction with luminaire

        test procedures conducted under laboratory conditions.  Actual project conditions differing from these design parameters may affect field results.

     The customer is responsible for verifying dimensional accuracy along with compliance with any applicable electrical, lighting, or energy code.

Scale: 1"=50'

 Customer responsible to verify ordering information/
  catalogue number prior to placing order.
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Footcandles calculated at 3' AFG
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scale: 1" = 50'-0"

north



A1.7

final development plan

16231

a
 
r
e
d
e
v
e
l
o
p
m

e
n
t
 
f
o
r

R
a
n
c
h
 
M

a
r
t

3
7
0
0
 
W

.
 
9
5
t
h
 
S

t
r
e
e
t

L
e
a
w

o
o
d
,
 
K

a
n
s
a
s

12.18.2018

DAE

DAE

01.11.2019 1

02.19.2019 2

03.08.2019 3

1

Site Plan
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55,687 sq. ft.

1 story

63,320 sq. ft.

1 story

4,259 sq. ft.

1 story

8,092 sq. ft.

1 story

24,648 sq. ft.

2 story

1,024

sq. ft.

1 story

4,836 sq. ft.

1 story

4,896 sq. ft.

1 story

3,610 sq. ft.

1 story



Paving Materials

*Reference A.12 and A.13 for site details

1. Concrete sidewalk 4" thick w/ 6x6 

10

10

 w.w.f. steel mesh reinforcing. Control joints @ 5'-0"

o.c. Broom finish for non-slip surface.

2. Stamped concrete, pattern 2, color 1

3. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 2

4. Stamped concrete, pattern 5, color 3

5. Stamped concrete, pattern 7, color 9

6. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 1

7. Stamped concrete, pattern 2, color 2

8. Stamped concrete, pattern 3, color 5

9. Stamped concrete, pattern 4, color

10. Stamped concrete, pattern 1, color 6

11. Stamped concrete, pattern 6, color 8

12. Stamped concrete, pattern 8, color 4

13. Stamped concrete, pattern 10, color 7

14. Thermoplastic sheet coating, black and white, pattern per plan

15. Private Patio - Artificial Turf by tenant.

16. Private Patio - Pavers by tenant.

Paving Materials

Patterns:

Pattern 1: Running Bond

Pattern 2: Brick Herringbone

Pattern 3: Brick Basket Weave

Pattern 4: Brick Stacked Bond

Pattern 5: Stone Running Bond

Pattern 6: Stone Herringbone 18"x36"

Pattern 7: Cobblestone

Pattern 8: Stone 24" x 24" Diamond

Pattern 9: Stone 24"x 24" Stacked

Pattern 10: Stone Ashlar

Colors:

Color 1: Butterfield Color SG02 Coral

Color 2: Butterfield Color Crimson Coral

Color 3: Butterfield Color Fiery Coral

Color 4: Butterfield Color Wisteria Bark

Color 5: Butterfield Color Mahogany Bark

Color 6: Butterfield Color Honey Buff

Color 7: Butterfield Color Fox Gray

Color 8: Butterfield Color Driftwood Select

Color 9: Butterfield Color SG01 Brown
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Pedestrian Site Plan
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55,687 sq. ft.

1 story

63,320 sq. ft.

1 story

4,259 sq. ft.

1 story

8,092 sq. ft.

1 story

24,648 sq. ft.

2 story

1,024

sq. ft.

1 story

4,836 sq. ft.

1 story

4,896 sq. ft.

1 story

3,610 sq. ft.

1 story

*Note: all pedestrian paths shown within the project limits will meet ADA guidelines
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WB-62 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

WB-62 - Interstate Semi-Trailer
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Truck Movement Plan
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*Note: truck used in simulation is a WB-62 (8.5'Wx68.5'L)



SU-30 - Single Unit Truck
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Fire Truck Movement Plan
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*Note: truck used in simulation is an SU-30 (8'Wx30'L)
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Traffic Circulation Plan
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PLANTING NOTES:

1. PLANT QUANTITIES ARE FOR INFORMATION ONLY; DRAWING SHALL PREVAIL IF CONFLICT OCCURS.

2. NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AFTER STAKING IS COMPLETED AND BEFORE PLANT PITS ARE EXCAVATED.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE SHREDDED BARK MULCH AROUND ALL TREES AND IN ALL PLANTING BEDS TO A DEPTH OF 3".

4. KIND, SIZE AND QUALITY OF PLANT MATERIAL SHALL CONFORM TO AMERICAN STANDARDS FOR NURSERY STOCK, ANSI 260-1992, OR MOST

RECENT EDITION.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPORT SUBSURFACE SOIL OR DRAINAGE PROBLEMS TO THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SHOW PROOF OF PROCUREMENT, SOURCES, QUANTITIES AND VARIETIES FOR ALL SHRUBS, PERENNIALS,

ORNAMENTAL GRASSES, AND ANNUALS WITHIN 21 DAYS FOLLOWING THE AWARD OF CONTRACT.  TIMELY PROCUREMENT OF ALL PLANT

MATERIAL IS ESSENTIAL TO THE SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION AND INITIAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE PROJECT.

7. SUBSTITUTIONS SHALL ONLY BE ALLOWED WHEN THE CONTRACTOR HAS EXHAUSTED ALL SOURCES FOR THE SPECIFIED MATERIAL, AND

HAS PROVEN THAT THE SPECIFIED MATERIAL IS NOT AVAILABLE.  THE CONTRACTOR MUST PROVIDE NAME AND VARIETY OF SUBSTITUTION

TO THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO TAGGING OR PLANTING.  SUBSTITUTIONS SHALL BE NEAREST EQUIVALENT SIZE

OF VARIETY OF PLANT HAVING SAME ESSENTIAL CHARACTERISTICS.

8. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE NURSERY GROWN, SOUND, HEALTHY, VIGOROUS AND FREE FROM INSECTS, DISEASE AND INJURIES, WITH

HABIT OF GROWTH THAT IS NORMAL FOR THE SPECIES.  SIZES SHALL BE EQUAL TO OR EXCEEDING SIZES INDICATED ON THE PLANT LIST.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPPLY PLANTS IN QUANTITY AS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS.

9. STAKE OR PLACE ALL PLANTS IN FIELD AS INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR APPROVAL

BY THE OWNER PRIOR TO PLANTING.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL DETERMINE THE EXACT LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING  UTILITIES BEFORE COMMENCING WORK, AND AGREES TO BE

FULLY RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY AND ALL DAMAGES WHICH MIGHT BE OCCASIONED BY THE CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO EXACTLY LOCATE AND

PRESERVE ANY AND ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.

11. ALL PLANTERS TO BE FILLED WITH ANNUALS & TO BE REPLACED 4 TIMES A YEAR.  CONTRACTOR TO SELECT ANNUAL SPECIES AND BE

APPROVED BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

12. TREE UP LIGHTING TO BE BULLET STAKE MOUNTED IN LANDSCAPE.  2 LIGHTS PER TREE (XX* KEY NOTES INDICATE TREES WITH UPLIGHITNG).

13. ALL PARKING LOT ISLANDS SHALL BE BERMED TO DISCOURAGE FOOT TRAFFIC.

14. ALL LANDSCAPED AREAS SHALL BE IRRIGATED

15. ALL SHRUBS TO BE 24" HEIGHT AT PLANTING, TYP.

16. PLANS INDICATE EXISTING TREES WITH A MIN. 6" CAL. THAT SHALL BE REMOVED.  CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY ALL TREES TO BE

REMOVED FOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S APPROVAL BEFORE DEMOLITION.

50' 100'25'12.5'0'

1"=50'SCALE:

01   LANDSCAPE PLAN - TREES

417 DELAWARE STREET

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64105

PH:  816.531.7227
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L1.0

LEGEND

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN

EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED

SHADE TREE

ORNAMENTAL TREE

EVERGREEN TREE

PLANTING BED

EXISTING LANDSCAPE TO REMAIN

TURF

XX* = KEY NOTES ON PLAN WITH ASTERISK

INDICATE TREES WITH UP LIGHITNG, TYP.

NOTE:

SHRUB, PERENNIAL, & ORNAMENTAL

GRASS QUANTITIES CALLED ON ON

SHEETS: L1.1, L1.2, L1.3 & L1.4

(PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION

16-4-7 LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS)

PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO

RIGHTS-OF-WAY

· 95TH STREET (1,240 LF)

*REQUIRED SHADE TREES  (1 PER 35 LF):

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 35

 PROVIDED SHADE TREES:

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 35

*REQUIRED ORNAMENTAL TREES  (1 PER 12 LF):

ORNAMENTAL TREES / 1.5" CAL. - 91

 PROVIDED ORNAMENTAL TREES:

ORNAMENTAL TREES / 1.5" CAL. - 0

(UNABLE TO FIT ORNAMENTAL TREES DUE TO 

SPACE CONSTRAINTS AND PEDESTRIAN 

CIRCULATION ISSUES)

*REQUIRED SHRUBS  (1 PER 5 LF):

SHRUBS / 2' HT. - 248

 PROVIDED SHRUBS:

SHRUBS / 2' HT. - 252

· MISSION ROAD (623 LF)

*REQUIRED SHADE TREES  (1 PER 35 LF):

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 18

 PROVIDED SHADE TREES:

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 18

*REQUIRED ORNAMENTAL TREES  (1 PER 12 LF):

ORNAMENTAL TREES / 1.5" CAL. - 52

 PROVIDED ORNAMENTAL TREES:

ORNAMENTAL TREES / 1.5" CAL. - 0

(UNABLE TO FIT ORNAMENTAL TREES DUE TO 

SPACE CONSTRAINTS AND PEDESTRIAN 

CIRCULATION ISSUES)

*REQUIRED SHRUBS  (1 PER 5 LF):

SHRUBS / 2' HT. - 124

PROVIDED SHRUBS:

SHRUBS / 2' HT. - 124

PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO

RESIDENTIAL ZONING

· EXISTING TREE LINE TO REMAIN PROVIDES

SCREENING NOT LESS THAN 6' HEIGHT ALONG THE

ABUTTING PROPERTY LINES

INTERIOR LANDSCAPING

· LANDSCAPED AREA

TOTAL AREA OF THE SITE: 750,400 SQ FT

*REQUIRED LANDSCAPED AREA (10%): 75,040 SQ FT

PROVIDED LANDSCAPED AREA (10%): 81,294 SQ FT

*ADDITIONAL TREES REQUIRED:

(1 TREE PER 3,000 SQ FT) - 27

ADDITIONAL TREES PROVIDED:

(1 TREE PER 3,000 SQ FT) - 35

· PARKING LOT TREES

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED: 935 STALLS

*REQUIRED SHADE TREES (1 PER 10 PARKING 

SPACES):

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 93

PROVIDED SHADE TREES:

SHADE TREES / 2.5" CAL. - 103

  LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS
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PA (16)

IG (4)

SN (17)

NF (19)

LM (10)

RA (11)

LM (71)

PA (5)

KM (10)
JE (5)

LM (8)

BC (9) SS (14)

BC (23)

BP (8)

CA (12)

VR (7)

JE (25)

RP (3)
PV (7)

RF (4)

SS (7)
RP (3)
DECORATIVE

GRAVEL, TYP.

LM (15)
NF (6)

LM (24) LK (17)
PV-S (43)

RF (16)
TM (5)

LM (16)
LK (12)

VR (10)

CA (17)

HQ (3)
PH (22)

SH (20) NF (10)

CA (9)

CA (14)

SN (12)

LM (7)

PV-PT (90)

PA (47)JE (62)CS (11)PV-N (99)

RP (11) SA (77) TM (4)SA (53)SA (65)

RA (6)
RA (7)

LM (103)

PA (83)

JE (103)SH (33)SH (48)RA (11)SH (81)RA (7)RA (6)LM (96)

PA (93) CS (13) LM (98)
IG (3) IG (8)

BC (47)

BP (15)

RA (9)SA (86)

BA (86)

CV (21)

HF (21)

RA (13)RA (19)

CS (7)
CS (7)

CL (122)

PV-S (61)

JE (61)

LM (107)

TM (54)

LM (68)

SS (31)

SH (31)

PD (8)

BP (8)

TM (34)

EH (54)

PV-S (54)

AI (14)

EP (14)

IG (15)

LM (103)

PH (30)

BC (30)

AC (7)

LS (7)

IG (6)

LM (112)

TM (6)

CA (88)

RA (3)

LM (27)

SS (46)

IG (12)

BC (30)

BP (8)

RA (5)

TM (5)

BC (25)

BP (9)

TM (5)

SN (15)

SITE LIGHTING, TYP.

RE: ARCH.

MCDONALDS

SITE WALLS & FENCING;

RE: ARCH
PLANTERS, TYP.

ALL LANDSCAPE SCREENING AROUND

UTILITIES TO BE 6" TALLER (MIN.) THAN

UTILITY AT TIME OF PLANTING, TYP.

LM (14)LM (42)

LM (57)

RA (9)

PA (93)

KM (46)

BA (46)

VR (12)

NF (12)

SOD

S
O

D

IG (6)

CONTINUOUS EVERGREEN

SCREEN OF PARKING, TYP.

SHRUBS TO BE 3' HT AT TIME OF

PLANTING

SOD SOD

CA (44)

EH (32)

PV-S (32)

AI (8)

EP (8)

SS (44)

SH (44)

PD (10)

BP (10)

KM (22)

BA (22)

VR (6)

NF (6)

RA (7)

PV-N (46)

SN (46)

AT (11)

EY (11)

LM (33)
SA (41)

BA (41)

CV (10)

HF (10)

LK (32)

PH (32)

RF (8)

SF (8)

PH (56)

BC (56)

AC (14)

LS (14)

SA (49)

BA (49)

CV (12)

HF (12)

IG (5) PA (28)

EH (34)

PV-S (34)

AI (8)

EP (8)

LM (18)

PH (29)

BC (29)

AC (7)

LS (7)

PH (33)

BC (33)

AC (8)

LS (8)

SA (37)

BA (37)

CV (9)

HF (9)

SA (20)

BA (20)

CV (5)

HF (5)

BC (16)

BC (61)

BP (21)

BC (6)

BC (18)

BP (7)

BC (23)

BP (8)

BC (42)

BP (14)

BC (48)

BP (16)

PH (30)

BC (30)

AC (7)

LS (7)

PH (46)

PV-N (51)

SN (51)

AT (13)

EY (13)

PV-N (18)

SN (18)

AT (6)

EY (6)

SA (50)

BA (50)

CV (12)

HF (12)

LK (68)

PH (68)

RF (17)

SF (17)

SS (23)

SH (23)

PD (6)

BP (6)

PV-N (37)

SN (37)

AT (9)

EY (9)

LM (58)

TM(9)

BA (39)

CV (10)

HF (10)

LM (26)
CS (5)

PA (27)

LK (25)

NF (20)
HQ (3)

FR (6)
CA (15)

SN (29)

RF (8)

VR (11)

SN (19)

RA (5)

LM (14)

SH (34)

PA (16)

BA (16)

NF (6)

SH (16)

CA (25)

PV-N (33)

BC (43)

TM (6)

CA (24)

RF (19)

VR (5)

PV (12)

RF (6)

SS (12)

PA (41)

PH (39)

PA (15)

KM (6) KM (6)

TM (3)

SOD

SOD

BC (40)

BP (13)

BC (6)

BC (21)

BP (7)

BC (66)

BP (23)

BC (26)

BP (9)

PV-N (41)

SN (41)

AT (10)

EY (10)

PF (4)

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

NF (65)

LK (25)

PH (25)

RF (6)

SF (6)

SJ (5)

SJ (5)

PA (47)

SJ (7)

CI (5)

40'0'
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L1.1

KEY MAP

LEGEND

EXISTING TREE

TO REMAIN

SHADE TREE ORNAMENTAL

TREE

EVERGREEN

TREE

DECIDUOUS &

EVERGREEN

SHRUBS

EXISTING

LANDSCAPE TO

REMAIN

PERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

HIGH

(36"+ HEIGHT)

GREEN PANDA

BAMBOO

ANNUALSPERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

MEDIUM

(18"-36" HEIGHT)

PERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

LOW

(6"-18" HIEGHT)

NOTE:

SHADE, ORNAMENTAL, & EVERGREEN TREE

QUANTITIES CALLED ON ON

SHEETS: L1.0

TURF

BOULDERS,

TYP.
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MATCHLINE: L1.4

MATCHLINE: L1.2

EXISTING LANDSCAPE TO REMAIN, TYP.

PV-S (40)

CS (3)

SN (15)

LM (10)

HQ (4) HF (11)

CV (19)

SH (35)

CA (13)

CI (3)

AC (7)

CA (17)

LM (19)

SN (18)

ANNUALS, TYP.

PV-N (24) IG (5) CA (23)

ANNUALS, TYP.

ANNUALS, TYP.

IG (3)

PV-N (21)

IG (5)

CA (10)

LM (22)

TM (5)

TM (6)

LM (25)

LM (34)

JE (36)

SA (76)

RA (11)

BC (105)

BC (60)

LM (78)

RA (9)

CL (80)

JE (82)

BC (61)

EY (21)

LM (30) LM (42)

RP (12)

RP (9)

RA (21)

EXISTING TREES

TO REMAIN, TYP.

PLANTERS, TYP.

BA (66)
SA (110)

CS (11)

SN (75)

RF (24)

PV-S (62)

RP (5)

PA (27)

RP (3)

PH (29)

PA (52)

IQ (5)

VR (18)

KM (28)

BA (28)

VR (7)

NF (7)

PH (32)

BC (32)

AC (8)

LS (8)

CS (8)

SS (35)

SH (35)

PD (9)

BP (9)

CS (3)
RP (14)

RA (10)

NF (34)

RA (9) PD (25)

SOD

SM (6)

PA (53)

HQ (3)

SITE LIGHTING, TYP.

RE: ARCH.

PROPOSED BUILDING

CARE NOW URGENT

CARE

NBKC BANK

NBKC BANK

PLANTER DETAILS; RE: ARCH.

SOD

ALL LANDSCAPE SCREENING AROUND

UTILITIES TO BE 6" TALLER (MIN.) THAN

UTILITY AT TIME OF PLANTING, TYP.

PA (67)

CA (79)

SOD

SOD

HQ (4)

HQ (7)

CA (46)

PO (7)

NF (67)

LM (58)

NF (31)

TM(9)

LK (35)

PH (35)

RF (9)

SF (9)

PH (33)

BC (33)

AC (8)

LS (8)

SS (23)

SH (23)

PD (6)

BP (6)

LM (60)

KM (56)

BA (56)

VR (14)

NF (14)

PH (23)

BC (23)

AC (6)

LS (6)

TM (9)

PA (20)

PH (36)

BC (36)

AC (9)

LS (9)

CA (38)

LM (68) CS (5) SS (22)

SH (22)

PD (6)

BP (6)

BA (14) RF (52)

PV-N (24)

SN (24)

AT (7)

EY (7)

KM (19)

BA (19)

VR (5)

NF (5)

LK (44)

PH (44)

RF (11)

SF (11)

KM (75)

BA (75)

VR (19)

NF (19)

SS (77)

SH (77)

PD (19)

BP (19)

SS (76)

SH (76)

PD (19)

BP (19)

TM (17)

SOD

PH (20)

BC (20)

AC (5)

LS (5)

PV-S (79)

PV-S (51)

HQ (5)

PH (16)

BC (16)

AC (4)

LS (4)

CI (5) SA (22)

BA (22)

CV (5)

HF (5)

RF (29)

IG (5)

RA (5)

IG (6)

SM (6)

RF (77)

PH (33)

BC (33)

AC (8)

LS (8)

PA (67)

CI (5)

CA (41)

NF (49)

PH (29)

BC (29)

AC (7)

LS (7)

PH (27)

BC (27)

AC (7)

LS (7)

SA (54)

BA (54)

CV (10)

HF (10)

SA (70)

NF (12)

PH (26)

LM (56)

CS (7)

HQ (3)

HQ (3)

EH (46)

PV-S (46)

AI (12)

EP (12)

SA (60)

BA (60)

CV (15)

HF (15)

LK (25)

PH (25)

RF (6)

SF (6)

SA (32)

BA (32)

CV (8)

HF (8)

PA (52)

SM (3)

PH (42)

BC (42)

AC (10)

LS (10)

SA (54)

BA (54)

CV (13)

HF (13)

PA (46)

PV-N (48)

SN (48)

AT (12)

EY (12)

KM (120)

BA (120)

VR (30)

NF (30)

PV-N (66)

SN (66)

AT (16)

EY (16)

BA (50)

SS (52)

SH (52)

PD (13)

BP (13)

KM (35)

BA (35)

VR (9)

NF (9)

PH (45)

BC (45)

AC (11)

LA (11)

PH (53)

BC (53)

AC (13)

LA (13)

TM (3)

CA (24)

AC (30)

PV (30)

RF (8)

RF (10)

LK (18)

LK (10)

RF (8)

LK (6)

PV (15)

FR (18)

NF (12)

KM (25)

BA (25)

PA (8)

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

MONUMENT SIGNS;

SEE SEPARATE SUBMITTAL

SCREEN WALL &

BERMS, RE: ARCH.

PO (5)

HQ (5)

PO (5)

RP (3)

SJ (5)

SM (10)

SM (5) RP (5)

PH (15)

BC (15)

AC (4)

LS (4)

BC (24)

SJ (5)
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L1.2

KEY MAP

LEGEND

EXISTING TREE

TO REMAIN

OVERSTORY

TREE

ORNAMENTAL

TREE

EVERGREEN

TREE

EXISTING

LANDSCAPE TO

REMAIN

PERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

HIGH

(36"+ HEIGHT)

GREEN PANDA

BAMBOO

ANNUALSPERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

MEDIUM

(18"-36" HEIGHT)

PERENNIALS &

GRASSES:

LOW

(6"-18" HIEGHT)

NOTE:

OVERSTORY, ORNAMENTAL, & EVERGREEN

TREE QUANTITIES CALLED ON ON

SHEETS: L1.0

TURF

DECIDUOUS &

EVERGREEN

SHRUBS

BOULDERS,

TYP.



MATCHLINE: L1.3

MATCHLINE: L1.1
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T
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E
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1
.3

RA (18)

TM (9)

LM (102)

CL (47)
PLANTERS, TYP.

BC (76)

SN (82)

BC (65)

SN (91)

PV (9)

FR (6)

CL (9)

CL (16)PV-S (10)

CL (9)

RA (4)

NF (25)

SS (20)CL (14)

PV-S (7)

JE (7)

RA (6)

RA (7)

TM (12)

BC (75)

EY (26)

PA (75)

CS (7)

JE (61)

IG (6)

IG (3)

LM (68)

CI (6)

PLANTERS, TYP.

CA (19)

PH (28)

CS (3)

SN (18)

PA (40)

HQ (3)KM (23)

BC (17)

PA (16)

IG (4)

SN (17)

LM (59)

SITE LIGHTING, TYP.

RE: ARCH.

SITE WALLS & BERMING;

RE: ARCH

SOD

SOD
SOD

TM (7)
TM (5)

TM (9)

ALL LANDSCAPE SCREENING AROUND

UTILITIES TO BE 6" TALLER (MIN.) THAN

UTILITY AT TIME OF PLANTING, TYP.

ALL LANDSCAPE SCREENING AROUND

UTILITIES TO BE 6" TALLER (MIN.) THAN

UTILITY AT TIME OF PLANTING, TYP.

TM (5)

TM (4)

PV-N (37)

SN (37)

AT (9)

RA (7)

CS (3)

RA (9)

SA (39)

BA (39)

CV (10)

HF (10)

SA (38)

BA (38)

CV (10)

HF (10)

PO (7)

PV-N (54)

PA (57)

HF (47)

SA (17)

BA (17)

CV (5)

HF (5)

PH (23)

BC (23)

AC (6)

LS (6)

KM (47)

BA (47)

CV (12)

HF (12)

PH (8)

LM (18)

TM (9)

VR (32)CL (64)
LM (30)

PV-S (104)

RP (3)

LM (12)

PV (5)

FR (4)

PV (6)

FR (4)

CL (6)

PV (20)

FR (25)

CL (36)

SITE WALLS & BERMING;

RE: ARCH

LK (36)

PH (36)

RF (9)

SF (9)
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1. IRRIGATION PLAN IS INCLUDED TO ILLUSTRATE THE IRRIGATION INTENT FOR

THIS PROJECT & NOT BE THE FINAL DESIGN OF THE SYSTEM.  FINAL

IRRIGATION DESIGN WILL BE COMPLETED AFTER CITY FDP APPROVAL.

2. LANDSCAPED AREAS ON THE SOUTH AND EAST SIDES OF THE CARE NOW

BUILDING HAVE AN EXISTING IRRIGATION SYSTEM THAT WILL REMAIN.
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IRRIGATION NOTES:

1. IRRIGATION PLAN IS INCLUDED TO ILLUSTRATE THE IRRIGATION INTENT FOR

THIS PROJECT & NOT BE THE FINAL DESIGN OF THE SYSTEM.  FINAL

IRRIGATION DESIGN WILL BE COMPLETED AFTER CITY FDP APPROVAL.

2. LANDSCAPED AREAS ON THE SOUTH AND EAST SIDES OF THE CARE NOW

BUILDING HAVE AN EXISTING IRRIGATION SYSTEM THAT WILL REMAIN.
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· Paint all railings to match building standard colors with appropriate weather-resistant coating

· Railings shall comply with ADA and the 2012 IBC

· All fasteners and connection plates to be galvanized steel painted to match

· Railing shall be aluminum with black coating or galvanized steel painted black with

weather-resistant paint

· Handrails shall not rotate within their fittings.

· Handrails shall return to a wall, guard or the walking surface or shall be continuous to the

handrail of an adjacent stair flight or ramp run.

· Clear space between a handrail and a wall or other surface shall be a minimum of 11/2
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of any sharp or abrasive elements.
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Internal Locking Removable 
Bollards are manufactured 
from carbon steel and stainless 
steel for a variety of strengths 
and options. Powder coats are 
available in over 180 colors, or
the bollards can be galvanized 
or primed only. For extra vehicle 
stopping power, these bollards 
are also available in high security 
wall thickness. To avoid possible 
injury due to an opening when 
the bollard is removed, we 
provide two options: an attached 
lid that folds down to cover the 
opening, or a lockable/ removable 
lid that locks into place when the 
bollard is removed. The internal 
locking removable bollard is ideal 
for any application that requires 
the strength of a fixed bollard
with the flexibility to remove the 
bollards to allow for authorized 
vehicle traffic, equipment, or 
large items.

INTERNAL LOCKING
REMOVABLE BOLLARDS
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CALPIPE SECURITY BOLLARDS 
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TrafficScapes® is a portfolio of preformed thermoplastic pavement marking materials engineered for durability, safety, 
and aesthetics for the streetscape and traffic calming market. Each product offers its own unique application and perfor-
mance approach to streetscape projects where shared roadway safety and aesthetic appeal need to work in conjunction.

®

®

INTERCONNECTED

INLAIDIMPRESSED

SURFACE SIGNSOVERLAY

When used on public roadways and private properties open to public travel, decorative crosswalks require proper demarcation 
with white linear boundaries according to the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD).
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Ordering Information
Fully assembled luminaire is composed of two components that must be ordered separately:
Example: Mount: OSQ-AASV + Luminaire: OSQ-A-NM-2ME-B-40K-UL-SV 

Mount (Luminaire must be ordered separately)*

OSQ-

OSQ-AA Adjustable Arm
OSQ-DA Direct Arm

Color Options: SV Silver 
BK Black

BZ Bronze
WH White

OSQ Series
OSQ™ LED Area/Flood Luminaire – Medium 

Luminaire (Mount must be ordered separately)

OSQ A NM

Product Version Mounting Optic
Input  
Power  
Designator

CCT Voltage
Color  
Options

Options

OSQ A NM
No Mount 2ME*

Type II 
Medium
3ME*
Type III 
Medium

5ME
Type V 
Medium
5SH
Type V 
Short
WSN
Wide Sign
15D
15˚ Flood

4ME*
Type IV 
Medium

25D
25˚ Flood
40D
40˚ Flood
60D
60˚ Flood

B
86W
K
130W
Z
53W

30K
3000K
40K
4000K 
57K
5700K

UL
Universal
120-277V
UH
Universal
347-480V
- Available 
with B & K 
Input Power 
Designators 
only

BK
Black
BZ
Bronze
SV
Silver 
WH
White

DIM 0-10V Dimming
 - Control by others
 - Refer to Dimming spec sheet for 
details

 - Can't exceed wattage of specified 
input power designator

F Fuse
 - When code dictates fusing, use time 
delay fuse

 - Available for U.S. applications only
PML    Programmable Multi-Level, 

  up to 40' Mounting Height
 - Refer to PML spec sheet for details
 - Intended for downlight applications 
at 0˚ tilt

PML2  Programmable Multi-Level, 10-30' 
  Mounting Height
 - Refer to PML spec sheet for details
 - Intended for downlight applications 
at 0˚ tilt

Q9/Q6/Q5/Q4/Q3/Q2/Q1
Field Adjustable Output

 - Must select Q9, Q6, Q5, Q4, Q3, Q2, or Q1
 - Offers full range adjustability
 - Refer to pages 9-10 for power and lumen 
values

 - Available with B & K Input Power 
Designators only

R NEMA® Photocell Receptacle
 - Intended for downlight applications with 
maximum 45˚ tilt

 - 3-pin receptacle per ANSI C136.10
 - Photocell and shorting cap by others

RL Rotate Left
 - LED and optic are rotated to the left
 - Refer to RR/RL configuration diagram on 
page 2 for optic directionality

RR Rotate Right
 - LED and optic are rotated to the right
 - Refer to RR/RL configuration diagram on 
page 2 for optic directionality

* Available with Backlight Shield when ordered with field-installed accessory (see table above)

Product Description
The OSQ™ Area/Flood luminaire blends extreme optical control, advanced thermal management 
and modern, clean aesthetics. Built to last, the housing is rugged cast aluminum with an integral, 
weathertight LED driver compartment. Versatile mounting configurations offer simple installation. 
Its slim, low-profile design minimizes wind load requirements and blends seamlessly into the 
site providing even, quality illumination. The ‘B’ Input power designator is a suitable upgrade for 
HID applications up to 250 Watt, and the 'K’ Input power designator is a suitable upgrade for HID 
applications up to 400 Watt. 
Applications: Parking lots, walkways, campuses, car dealerships, office complexes, and 
internal roadways

Accessories 

Field-Installed

Backlight Shield
OSQ-BLSMF 
– Front facing optics
OSQ-BLSMR 
– Rotated optics

Hand-Held Remote
XA-SENSREM
- For successful implementation of the programmable multi-level option,  
   a minimum of one hand-held remote is required

NanoOptic® Precision Delivery Grid™ optic

Assembled in the U.S.A. of U.S. and imported parts

Initial Delivered Lumens: Up to 17,291

Efficacy: Up to 136 LPW

CRI: Minimum 70 CRI

CCT: 3000K (+/- 300K), 4000K (+/- 300K), 5700K (+/- 500K)

Limited Warranty†: 10 years on luminaire/10 years on Colorfast DeltaGuard® finish 

Performance Summary

DA Mount

8.1"
(206mm)

3.1"
(79mm)

19.0"
(482mm)

3.8"
(97mm)

4.8"
(122mm)

NEMA® Photocell
Receptacle location
(ordered as an option)

25.0"
(635mm)

† See http://lighting.cree.com/warranty for warranty terms

Weight

26.5 lbs. (12kg)

Asymmetric

Symmetric

* Reference EPA and pole configuration suitability data beginning on page 7

https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?36618400OW67Z45I51708400
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?36618400OW67Z45I51708400
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
jessicaw
Rectangle



Lumen Package Weight

2L, 4L, 6L 11.0 lbs. (5.0kg)

8L 11.8 lbs. (5.4kg)

T  (800) 236-6800    F  (262) 504-5415US:  lighting.cree.com T  (800) 473-1234    F  (800) 890-7507Canada:  www.cree.com/canada

Rev. Date: VersionB V1 09/13/2018

XSP Series
XSPW™ LED Wall Mount Luminaire featuring Cree TrueWhite® Technology 

Ordering Information
Example: XSPW-B-WM-2ME-2L-30K-UL-BK

XSPW B WM

Product Version Mounting Optic
Lumen  
Package*

CCT Voltage Color Options Options

XSPW B WM
Wall

2ME
Type II Medium
3ME
Type III Medium
4ME
Type IV Medium

2L
2,490 lumens
4L
4,270 lumens
6L
6,100 lumens
8L
8,475 lumens

30K
3000K
- 70 CRI
40K
4000K
- 70 CRI
50K
5000K
- 90 CRI
57K
5700K
- 70 CRI

UL
Universal 120-277V
UH
Universal 347-480V
34**
347V
-  For use with P option
    only

BK
Black
BZ
Bronze
SV
Silver
WH
White

ML Multi-Level
 - Refer to ML spec sheet for details
 - Available with UL voltage only

P Button Photocell
 - Not available with ML or PML option
 - Available with UL and 34 voltages only

PML Programmable Multi-Level
 - Refer to PML spec sheet for details
 - Available with UL voltage only

Product Description
The XSPW™ LED wall mount luminaire has a slim, low profile design intended for outdoor wall 
mounted applications. The rugged lightweight aluminum housing and mounting box are designed 
for installation over standard single gang J-Boxes and mud ring single gang J-Boxes. The luminaire 
allows for through-wired or conduit entry from the top, bottom, sides and rear. The housing design is 
intended specifically for LED technology including a weathertight LED driver compartment and thermal 
management. Optic design features industry-leading NanoOptic® Precision Delivery Grid™ system in 
multiple distributions. 
Applications: General area and security lighting

NanoOptic® Precision Delivery Grid™ optic

Assembled in the U.S.A. of U.S. and imported parts

CRI: Minimum 70 CRI (3000K, 4000K & 5700K); 90 CRI (5000K)

CCT: 3000K, 4000K, 5000K, 5700K

Limited Warranty†: 10 years on luminaire/10 years on Colorfast DeltaGuard® finish

Performance Summary
9.3"

(236mm)

12"
(305mm)

4.8"
(122mm) 3.8"

(97mm)

Multi-Level Sensor location
(ordered as an option)

Accessories 

† See http://lighting.cree.com/warranty for warranty terms

Field-Installed

Beauty Plate
WM-PLT12** - 12" (305mm) Square
WM-PMT14** - 14" (356mm) Square
- Covers holes left by incumbent wall packs

Hand-Held Remote
XA-SENSREM
- For successful implementation of the programmable 
  multi-level option, a minimum of one hand-held remote is required

** Must specify color

* Lumen Package selection codes identify approximate light output only. Actual lumen output levels may vary depending on CCT and optic selection. Refer to Initial Delivered Lumen tables for specific lumen values 
** Consult factory for availability

https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479
https://www.creelink.com/exLink.asp?11771499OY74R53I27481479


Type:
BEGA Product:

Project:
Voltage:

Color:
Options:

Modified:

Enclosure: Outer housing: Constructed of high tensile strength, 
copper free die-cast aluminum alloy.

Inner housing: One piece copper free die-cast aluminum housing 
with welded end caps. Trim /Faceplate is heavy gauge, machined 
stainless steel secured to the inner housing by stainless steel 
threaded welded studs. Relamping requires removal of inner 
housing /trim /faceplate assembly from outer housing by means of 
two flush, socket head stainless steel screws. 1⁄2“ thick tempered 
glass machined flush to faceplate. One piece molded U-channel, 
high temperature silicone gasket. Reflector of pure anodized 
aluminum.

Electrical: 9.6W LED luminaire, 12 total system watts, -30°C 
start temperature. Integral 120V through 277V electronic LED 
driver, 0-10V dimming. LED module(s) are available from factory 
for easy replacement. Standard LED color temperature is 4000K 
with an >80 CRI. Available in 3000K (>80 CRI); add suffix K3 to 
order. Inner housing pre-wired with nine (9) feet of 18/3 waterproof 
cable, cable clamp, and waterproof cable gland entry into 
housing. A separate waterproof wiring box for power supply must 
be provided (by contractor). 

Note: LEDs supplied with luminaire. Due to the dynamic nature 
of LED technology, LED luminaire data on this sheet is subject 
to change at the discretion of BEGA-US. For the most current 
technical data, please refer to www.bega-us.com.

Finish: Machined #4 stainless steel. Custom colors are not available.

Temperature caution: The column ‘T’ in this chart indicates the 
temperature in degrees Celsius which is reached on the center 
of the glass surface during operation. Surface temperatures are 
for exterior applications. For interior applications add 10° C to 
temperatures shown.

Note: A foundation and proper drainage must be supplied by 
the contractor. These luminaires are designed to bear pressure 
loads up to 11,000 lbs. from vehicles with pneumatic tires. The 
luminaires must not be used for traffic lanes where they are 
subject to horizontal pressure from vehicles braking, accelerating 

and changing direction.

CSA certified to U.S. and Canadian standards, suitable for wet 
locations. Protection class IP67

Weight: 18.7 lbs.

Luminaire Lumens: 523 

LED drive-over in-grade floodlights 

Location luminaires · white safety glass

Lamp T A B C

77 600  9.6 W LED 25° 4 5 ⁄8 x 25 4 1⁄4 x 24 5⁄8 5

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  FAX (805) 566-9474   www.bega-us .com      
©copyright BEGA 2018    Updated 03/2018



Application 
BEGA wooden poles soften the built environment by using 
natural materials of the highest quality. Compatible with pole 
top luminaires that slip fit 3in. O.D. tenon.

Materials 
Glue-laminated, Scots pine hardwood (<10% sapwood) 
All timber sourced from FSC or PEFC sustainably managed 
forests, minimum 80 year growth and 250mm diameter trees 
Fumigation and anti-termite treated 
Water based wood stain 
High-temperature glue used for lamination 
Base and anchorage constructed of steel 
316 grade stainless steel screws

CE Certified, certificate 0679-CPR-0473

Wood Finish 
All poles are finished smooth with three coats of wood stain to both color and 
protect the wood, optionally available with a brushed finish. BEGA can supply 
you with wood stain for maintenance up to 20 years after purchase.

Available colors                    Brume     
                   Chestnut    
                   Tyrol Pine 
                   Ferrare Oak       
                   Copper    
                   Rustic (brushed) 
                   Light Mineral    
                   Dark Mineral    
                   Original Mineral    

Metal Finish  
All BEGA standard paint finishes are matte, textured polyester powder coat 
with minimum 3 mil thickness.

Available colors   Black (BLK)   Bronze (BRZ)  Silver (SLV) 
  RAL:   CUS:

Disclaimer 
BEGA North America warrants the specific anchor bolts and pole combination 
according to the product number(s) and description(s) indicated on this 
submittal sheet. Structural changes to the pole requested by the customer, 
including changes to pole length, may affect the compatibility of the anchor 
bolts and corresponding poles. BEGA North America is not responsible 
for the incompatibility of the anchor bolts and poles resulting from such 
structural changes without review by the BEGA North America engineering 
department. This includes, but is not limited to, any labor charges, charges 
for replacement materials and shipping. 
  

Wooden pole - Round tapered

Note: Data above assumes grade level installation and a maximum luminaire weight of 50 lbs.

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  info@bega-us.com
Due to the dynamic nature of lighting products and the associated technologies, luminaire data on this sheet is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA North America. For the most current technical data, please refer to bega-us .com 
© copyright BEGA 2018     Updated 09/27/18

Type: 
BEGA Product:
Project: 
Modified: 
Luminaire: 
Luminaire EPA: 

Wooden pole · Round tapered

    H a   b   c d1 d2 Anchorage

98 504 2003⁄4 3 431⁄4 15 3 51⁄2 79 826

Pole wind load rating

MPH 70 80 90 100 120

EPA 22.1 16.7 13.0 10.1 6.2
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Application 
LED pole-top luminaires with twin head and asymmetric light distribution 
ideal of the illumination of roadways, squares, driveways and pedestrian 
areas while meeting full cut-off requirements. Slip fits 3” O.D, pole top of 
tenon.

Materials 
Luminaire housing and pole fitter constructed of die-cast marine grade, 
copper free (≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 aluminum alloy 
Clear safety glass 
Reflector made of pure anodized aluminum 
High temperature silicone gasket 
Mechanically captive stainless steel fasteners

NRTL listed to North American Standards, suitable for wet locations 
Protection class IP 66 
Effective projection area: 0.65 sq. ft. 
Weight: 14.1 lbs

Electrical 
Operating voltage   120-277V AC 
Minimum start temperature  -30° C 
LED module wattage  55.3 W 
System wattage   61.0 W  
Controllability   0-10V dimmable 
Color rendering index  Ra > 80 
Luminaire lumens   6,672 lumens (4000K) 
Lifetime at Ta = 15° C  232,000 h (L70) 
Lifetime at Ta = 35° C  73,000 h (L70)

LED color temperature

 4000K - Product number + K4 
 3500K - Product number + K35 
 3000K - Product number + K3 
 2700K - Product number + K27

BEGA can supply you with suitable LED replacement modules for up to  
20 years after the purchase of LED luminaires - see website for details

Finish  
All BEGA standard finishes are matte, textured polyester powder coat with 
minimum 3 mil thickness.

Available colors   Black (BLK)   White (WHT)  RAL:  
  Bronze (BRZ)    Silver (SLV)  CUS:

Pole-top luminaire - asymmetric distribution

Recommended for use with 14’ to 25’ poles

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  info@bega-us.com
Due to the dynamic nature of lighting products and the associated technologies, luminaire data on this sheet is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA North America. For the most current technical data, please refer to bega-us .com 
© copyright BEGA 2018     Updated 05/14/18

Type:
BEGA Product:
Project:
Modified:

LED pole-top · asymmetric distribution

 LED A  B  C

84 407 55.3 W 8 7⁄8 11 ⁄2 19 3⁄8



Type:
BEGA Product:

Project:
Voltage:

Color:
Options:

Modified:

Housing: Two-piece die-cast aluminum housing. Die-castings 
are marine grade, copper free (≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 
aluminum alloy

Lamp Enclosure: Clear safety glass with pure annodized 
aluminum reflector. Fully gasketed using one piece molded silicone 
gasket for weather tight operation.

Electrical: 3.0W LED luminaire, 4.0 total system watts, -30°C 
start temperature. Integral 12V AC driver provided must be 
operated using remote magnetic transformer. Standard LED color 
temperature is 3000K with a >90 CRI.

Note: LEDs supplied with luminaire. Due to the dynamic nature 
of LED technology, LED luminaire data on this sheet is subject 
to change at the discretion of BEGA-US. For the most current 
technical data, please refer to www.bega-us.com.

Mounting: Provided with a reinforced polyamide earth spike.  

Finish: Available in standard BEGA Black.  
Custom colors not available. 

Please note: BEGA’s approach to product design is to innovate, 
not follow.  With a steadfast commitment to quality, each product is 
conceived to satisfy a general or specific lighting task as defined by 
its architectural or exterior surroundings.  The Home and Garden 
Collection is designed specifically for use in Residential and Light 
Commercial applications.  Please reference our standard BEGA 
portfolio when mounting provisions for the rigorous demands of 
high-use commercial and/or vandal prone settings are required. 

CSA certified to U.S. and Canadian standards, suitable for wet 
locations. Protection class IP65

Weight: 2.6 lbs.

Luminaire lumens: 332

LED compact floodlight with earth spike

C

A
B

BB

B

Floodlight with earth spike

  Lamp                                b  A  B  C

84 067  3.0 W LED                   32°  4 1⁄8 14 1⁄2  4 1⁄4

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  FAX (805) 566-9474   www.bega-us .com      
©copyright BEGA 2018    Updated 04/16/2018



Housing: Consists of an outer rough-in housing made 
from aluminum and provided with openings for ½" conduit 
attachment. The outer housing is suitable for through wiring 
a maximum of four (4) No. 12 AWG conductors.

Enclosure: LED assembly is enclosed in a fully sealed, 
machined stainless steel housing. .210" thick tempered 
glass is machined to be flush with trim and has an inside 
white coating. 

Electrical: 2.10W LED luminaire on a 24V DC circuit, 3 
total system watts. Requires a 24V DC class 2 electronic 
power supply to operate intended LED wattage. Standard 
LED color temperature is 3000K with a >80 CRI. Available in 
4000K (>80CRI); add suffix K4.

Note: LEDs supplied with luminaire. Due to the dynamic 
nature of LED technology, LED luminaire data on this sheet 
is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA-US. For the 
most current technical data, please refer to www.bega-us.
com.

Finish: #4 brushed stainless steel. Custom coloras are 
not available. Stainless steel requires regular cleaning and 
maintenance, much like household appliances, to maintain 
its luster and to prevent tarnishing or the appearance of rust 
like stains. 

CSA certified to U.S. and Canadian standards, suitable for 
wet locations. Protection class IP68

Type:
BEGA Product:

Project:
Voltage:

Color:
Options:

Modified:

BEGA-US  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  FAX (805) 566-9474   www.bega-us .com      
©copyright BEGA-US 2018    Updated 03/2018
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* Remote driver required

LED location luminaire · Matte safety glass
 Lamp A B C D

33 882* 2.10 W LED 3 3 6 4

Recessed LED wall luminaire - Stainless Steel - 24V DC
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Application 
LED on-ground luminaire with asymmetrical forward throw distribution for 
superior illumination of ground surfaces from an extremely low mounting 
height.

Materials 
Luminaire housing and base constructed of die-cast and extruded marine 
grade, copper free (≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 aluminum alloy 
Clear safety glass with optical texture 
Reflector made of pure anodized aluminum 
Silicone applied robotically to casting, plasma treated for increased 
adhesion 
High temperature silicone gasket 
Mechanically captive stainless steel fasteners 
Mounting plate and anchorage constructed of galvanized steel

NRTL listed to North American Standards, suitable for wet locations 
Protection class IP 65 
Weight: 18.1 lbs

Electrical 
Operating voltage   120-277V AC 
Minimum start temperature  -40° C 
LED module wattage  12.2 W 
System wattage   21.3 W  
Controllability   0-10V, TRIAC, and ELV dimmable 
Color rendering index  Ra > 80 
Luminaire lumens   843 lumens (3000K) 
Lifetime at Ta = 15° C  70,000 h (L70) 
Lifetime at Ta = 40° C  56,000 h (L70)

LED color temperature

 4000K - Product number + K4 
 3500K - Product number + K35 
 3000K - Product number + K3 
 2700K - Product number + K27

BEGA can supply you with suitable LED replacement modules for up to  
20 years after the purchase of LED luminaires - see website for details

Finish  
All BEGA standard finishes are matte, textured polyester powder coat with 
minimum 3 mil thickness.

Available colors   Black (BLK)   White (WHT)  RAL:  
  Bronze (BRZ)    Silver (SLV)  CUS:

LED on-ground luminaire - forward throw surface washer

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  info@bega-us.com
Due to the dynamic nature of lighting products and the associated technologies, luminaire data on this sheet is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA North America. For the most current technical data, please refer to bega-us .com 
© copyright BEGA 2018     Updated 06/19/18

Type:
BEGA Product:
Project:
Modified:

Mounting options

  71 890 Direct bury anchorage

LED on-ground luminaire · forward throw surface washer

 LED   A   B    C    D Anchorage

84 081 12.2W 13 3⁄8  14 3⁄8    3 1⁄2    6 1⁄8 79 825
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Application 
LED pendant luminaire for catenary systems with shielded, downward 
directed light distribution. The cable hanger system is suitable of transverse 
suspension systems and longitudinal chain systems. The luminaires are 
designed specifically to illuminate plazas, passageways and pedestrian 
zones.  

Materials 
Luminaire housing constructed of die-cast marine grade, copper free 
(≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 aluminum alloy 
Stainless steel hanger clamp suitable for 3/16” to 7/16” diameter cable 
adjustable up to 5° off level 
Cable glands will accept electrical supply cable with diameter 3/8” to 1/2” 
Clear safety glass 
Reflector made of pure anodized aluminum 
High temperature silicone gasket 
Mechanically captive stainless steel fasteners

NRTL listed to North American Standards, suitable for wet locations 
Protection class IP 65 
Effective projection area: 1.0 sq. ft. 
Weight: 14.8 lbs

Electrical 
Operating voltage      120-277V AC 
Minimum start temperature    -30° C 
LED module wattage    35.7 W 
System wattage      40.0 W  
Controllability      0-10V dimmable 
Color rendering index    Ra > 80 
Luminaire lumens      4,207 lumens (4000K) 
Lifetime at Ta = 15° C    > 500,000 h (L70) 
Lifetime at Ta = 30° C    269,000 h (L70)

LED color temperature

 4000K - Product number + K4 
 3500K - Product number + K35 
 3000K - Product number + K3 
 2700K - Product number + K27

BEGA can supply you with suitable LED replacement modules for up to  
20 years after the purchase of LED luminaires - see website for details

Finish  
All BEGA standard finishes are matte, textured polyester powder coat with 
minimum 3 mil thickness.

Available colors    Black (BLK)    White (WHT)   RAL:   
  Bronze (BRZ)     Silver (SLV)   CUS:

LED pendant luminaire for catenary systems - shielded light

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  info@bega-us.com
Due to the dynamic nature of lighting products and the associated technologies, luminaire data on this sheet is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA North America. For the most current technical data, please refer to bega-us .com 
© copyright BEGA 2018     Updated 08/06/18

Type:
BEGA Product:
Project:
Modified:

LED pendant luminaire · for catenary systems

 LED A   B   C

84 405 35.7 W 7 1⁄2 19 1⁄8  20 3⁄4



Application 
LED light building element luminares with symmetric light distribution. Light 
building elements are luminous design features for public areas. They are 
ideally suited for delineating and structuring interior and exterior spaces 
such as landscape areas, plazas, building entrances and atria.

Materials 
Luminaire housing and posts constructed of die-cast and extruded marine 
grade, copper free (≤ 0.3% copper content) A360.0 aluminum alloy 
Clear safety glass 
Reflector made of pure anodized aluminum 
High temperature silicone gasket 
Silicone applied robotically to casting, plasma treated for increased 
adhesion 
Mechanically captive stainless steel fasteners 
Anchorage unite made of galvanized steel

NRTL listed to North American Standards, suitable for wet locations 
Protection class IP 65 
Effective projection area: 21.6 sq. ft. 
Weight: 196.3 lbs 
Max. allowable wind speed: 100 mph

Electrical 
Operating voltage   120-277V AC 
Minimum start temperature  -30° C 
LED module wattage  59.2 W 
System wattage   66.0 W  
Controllability   0-10V dimmable 
Color rendering index  Ra > 80 
Luminaire lumens   4,913 lumens (4000K) 
Lifetime at Ta = 15° C  > 500,000 h (L70) 
Lifetime at Ta = 55° C  95,000 h (L70)

LED color temperature

 4000K - Product number + K4 
 3500K - Product number + K35 
 3000K - Product number + K3 
 2700K - Product number + K27

BEGA can supply you with suitable LED replacement modules for up to  
20 years after the purchase of LED luminaires - see website for details

Finish  
All BEGA standard finishes are matte, textured polyester powder coat with 
minimum 3 mil thickness.

Available colors   Black (BLK)   White (WHT)  RAL:  
  Bronze (BRZ)    Silver (SLV)  CUS:

Light building element - symmetric light distribution

BEGA  1000 BEGA Way, Carpinteria, CA 93013  (805) 684-0533  info@bega-us.com
Due to the dynamic nature of lighting products and the associated technologies, luminaire data on this sheet is subject to change at the discretion of BEGA North America. For the most current technical data, please refer to bega-us .com 
© copyright BEGA 2018     Updated 05/08/18

Type:
BEGA Product:
Project:
Modified:

Light building element · symmetric

 LED   A      B      C Anchorage

84 083 59.2 W 11 3⁄4 x 11 3⁄4   171    236 79 806

C

A
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 12, 2019 
 

MOLLE OFF-SITE PARKING – REQUEST FOR A RENEWAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR OFF-
SITE PARKING – Located south of 104th Street and west of State Line Road – Case 14-19 
**PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 14-19, Molle Off-Site Parking – request for a renewal of a Special Use 
Permit for a temporary use of land for off-site parking, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Curtis Holland with Polsinelli, PC.   

 The property is owned by Molle Properties, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a renewal of a Special Use Permit that will allow for the 
continued use of an existing parking lot for off-site parking of new vehicles for Molle Automotive Group, 
which includes Toyota, Chevrolet, Audi, Scion and Volkswagen. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned BP (Planned Business Park). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Adjacent to the north property line, across from 104th Street is office space, zoned 
as BP (Planned Business Park). 

 South Adjacent to the south property line is Indian Creek and vacant property zoned AG 
(Agricultural).   

 West Adjacent to the west property line is State Line Animal Hospital, zoned as BP 
(Planned Business Park).   

 East Adjacent to the east side, across from State Line Road is commercial development 
in Kansas City, MO. 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 Molle Properties is located in Kansas City, Missouri.  This parking lot is being requested to be allowed 
the continued use as an off-site parking area for Molle Toyota, located in Kansas City, MO. 

 No changes are proposed to the property. 

 The site plan shows an existing asphalt parking lot extending to the top of the bank of Indian Creek on 
the southwestern end. 

 A total of 56 parking spaces and a 12’ parking aisle are existing. 

 The following are existing features on the site development plan: 
o A 30” high decorative black painted steel fence is located along 104th Street.   
o Two gates are located at the ingress and egress points of the parking area.   
o The parking lot does not contain any light fixtures. 
o The parking lot contains 30” concrete rollback curbs. 

 

 
 

 The applicant has stated that: 
o No vehicles will be loaded or unloaded by auto carriers on the site.  To the extent that the parking 

needs to be utilized, the vehicles will be unloaded at the Molle dealership on 103rd Street and then 
driven to the off-site parking lot.  Once room has been made at the Molle dealership in Missouri, 
the cars will be driven from the lot in Leawood to the dealership.   

o Someone from the Molle dealership drives by the site every day and does an inspection to make 
certain that nothing has happened to any of the vehicles.  They do not anticipate the need for 
cameras or motion detectors. 
 

INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held March 12, 2019.  There were no meeting attendees. A summary of the 
meeting is attached.   
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GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by a collector street (104th Street) and office and retail buildings to the north; a 
creek (Indian Creek) and open space to the south; retail and office use to the west; and a major arterial 
(State Line Road) on the east. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North Adjacent to the north property line, across from 104th Street is office space, zoned 
as BP (Planned Business Park). 

 South Adjacent to the south property line is Indian Creek and vacant property zoned AG 
(Agricultural).   

 West Adjacent to the west side is State Line Animal Hospital, zoned as BP (Planned 
Business Park).   

 East Adjacent to the east side, across from State Line Road is commercial development 
in Kansas City, MO. 

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Due to the surrounding retail / office uses, the close proximately of Indian Creek, and the unique shape of 
the lot, off-site parking is an appropriate use for this site, with the issuance of a Special Use Permit.   
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
This property has been used for off-site parking of vehicles since 1999.  The only development on the 
property is an asphalt parking lot, and fencing.   
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
Although the site is suitable for off-site parking, stipulations are necessary to ensure a high quality project 
that fits with the surrounding uses. 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of the application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safely, or welfare; however, 
off-site parking is an approved use within a BP zoning district with the issuance of a Special Use Permit.   
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff is recommending approval of the Special Use Permit for a term of two (2) years, with the attached 
stipulations.   
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this site for retail use.  Off-site parking is an approved use within the 
land use designation with the issuance of a Special Use Permit, which is approved by the Governing Body.   
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The site is located within the National Flood Insurance Programs flood zone area AE, wherein base 
flooding has occurred. 

 The applicant appeared before the City of Leawood Board of Zoning Appeals on September 3, 2009 
and received approval of the following variances for the site: 
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o Front Yard Setback:  A variance was granted to Section 16-6-2.5 of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance in the Business Park District for a front yard setback that permits an encroachment of 
20’-6”.  This allows the fence to remain, the parking lot to start 5 feet from the curb, and allow 
vehicles to be parked/stored 5’ from the curb. 

o Rear Yard Setback:  A variance was granted to Section 16-6-2.5 of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance in a Business Park District.  The variance was granted for a 25’ encroachment on the 
southwest portion of the property and allows vehicles to be parked/stored up to the property line. 

o Minimum Acreage:  A variance was granted to Section 16-2-6.5 of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance in a Business Park District.  The variance granted allows the property to be less than 
20 acres.  This site is within a larger Business Park District that is over 20 acres, however, the site 
is approximately 0.7 acres. 

o Sidewalks:  A variance was granted to Section 16-8-5.2 of the Leawood Development Ordinance 
that requires perimeter sidewalks to be constructed along the adjacent public streets.  Currently 
the site does not have sufficient room to allow the construction of a sidewalk along 104th Street. 

o Landscaping:  A variance was granted to Section 16-4-7 of the Leawood Development Ordinance 
regarding landscaping requirements.  Street trees are currently planted along 104th Street, 
however, this variance does not require other landscaping requirements such as perimeter 
landscaping that requires one ornamental tree per 12 lineal feet and shrubs at a rate of 1 shrub 
per 5’.  Currently the setback between the 104th Street and the parking lot is not sufficient to 
accommodate the required landscaping. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 14-19, Molle Off-Site Parking – request for a 
renewal of a Special Use Permit for a temporary use of land for off-site parking, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. This Special Use Permit shall be limited to two years from the date of approval by the Governing Body.  

The applicant shall agree that the City may deny any further extension of the Special Use Permit at the 
discretion of the Governing Body. 

2. The Special Use Permit shall be issued to Molle Automotive of Kansas City, Inc.  
3. The number of parking spaces shall be limited to 56 spaces, and the parking shall be limited to new 

vehicles only. 
4. No vehicles shall be loaded or unloaded from an auto carrier on the site.  
5. The owner and / or lessor shall maintain the area in a neat and orderly manner. 
6. The owner and / or lessor shall hold the City of Leawood harmless for any damage caused by flooding 

along Indian Creek and shall also hold the City of Leawood harmless for any damage caused by 
vandalism. 

7. The owner and / or lessor shall not be allowed to have any satellite selling on this property. 
8. The developer shall repair potholes and distressed pavement then provide a seal-coat of the entire 

parking/storage lot if needed, as determined by the City of Leawood.  
9. A violation of any stipulation approved with this Special Use Permit shall result in the revocation of the 

Special Use Permit. 
10. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through ten. 
 



 
Memorandum

 
 

900 W. 48th Place, Suite 900 
Kansas City, MO  64112 

Telephone:  816.360.4184 
mmoriarity@polsinelli.com 

 
 
67814956.1 

TO: City of Leawood Planning Staff 

FROM: Matt Moriarity  

SUBJECT: Interact Meeting – Vicinity of Southwest Corner of 104th St. and State Line Road 

DATE: March 13, 2019 
 
 I am writing to provide a summary of the Interact Meeting that I conducted at the Jimmy 
Johns just north of the above-noted site on March 12, 2019, at 5:30 p.m. in regard to the 
renewal of a special use permit for off-site parking of vehicles for the Molle Toyota dealership at 
the above-noted location. 

 There were no attendees at the meeting. I waited at Jimmy Johns until approximately 
5:50 p.m. and then ended the meeting. 

MRM: 
 



algra
Text Box

algra
Text Box
Notes:4/17/2017 Owner's Note:  In accordance with Stipulation No. 3 of Special Use Permit Ordinance No. 2835, the owner removed the existing light fixtures from the property. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 26, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   March 18, 2019 
 

BARSTOW SCHOOL – LEAWOOD CAMPUS – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A FINAL PLAN AND 
A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A DAYCARE – Located north of 123rd Street and west of State Line 
Road – Case 25-19       

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 25-19, Barstow School – Leawood Campus – request for approval of 
a Final Plan and a Special Use Permit for a Daycare, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Ellen Pantaenius with Husch Blackwell LLP. 

 The property is owned by Hy-Vee, Inc. 

 The engineer is Rachael Reis with Olsson Associates. 

 The architect is Jeffrey Schutzler with Hollis & Miller. 

 The landscape architect is Brad Sonner with Olsson Associates. 
 
HISTORY: 

 A Preliminary Plan and Special Use Permit for the Barstow School was approved with Ordinance 
2908 on October 15, 2018 (Case 107-18). 

 Since the approval of the Preliminary Plan and Special Use Permit, the following changes have been 
made to the plan: 

 The applicant increased the number of toddler rooms from three to four and the maximum 
number of toddler enrollment from 30 to 48. 

 The applicant revised the location of the front doors from the previous location, facing the front 
parking lot, to remain at the existing location on the north and south sides of the main vestibule. 

 An additional window was added to the northeast corner of the building. 

 A doorway and two windows were added to the southern elevation to accommodate a second 
infant room. 

 A new stair landing exit, and a new accessible exit ramp were added to the west elevation to 
bring egress exits up to current standards. 

 The applicant is proposing ten skylights be installed on the rooftop of the northern portion of the 
building. 

 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Final Plan and Special Use Permit for a Daycare for 
Barstow School, located in Leawood Plaza Tract 2, a 4.82 acre tract. The applicant is proposing 
adaptive reuse of the existing 63,370 sq.ft. supermarket previously owned by Hy-Vee, including 
minor modifications to the building exterior.  

 The Barstow School is a co-educational school where students in preschool through twelfth grade 
develop in a challenging educational community. The proposed Leawood campus will be used as an 
ancillary campus for 50-150 students and 10-15 teachers; students will be shuttled to/from the 
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existing Barstow School located near 115th Street and State Line Road. Shuttles will run three to four 
trips per day. 

 The Barstow School is proposing a daycare that will be available to the Leawood Community. The 
daycare will consist of two infant rooms, with a maximum of 18 infants, and four toddler rooms, for a 
maximum of 48 toddlers. The children will be dropped off between 6:30 a.m. – 6:30 p.m., with no set 
time for drop-off and pick-up. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a Special Use Permit is 
required for a daycare, which has been submittal for approval with this project. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-NCR (Planned Neighborhood Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north of the property is additional retail space within Leawood Plaza, and single 
family residential within the Pembroke Court subdivision, zoned RP-4 (Planning Cluster 
Residential, under a previous version of the Leawood Development Ordinance). 

 East To the east of the Leawood Plaza development is State Line Road and the City of 
Kansas City, Mo.   

 South Directly to the south is additional retail space within Leawood Plaza and the single family 
residential subdivision of Foxborough, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential).   

 West To the west of the property is the single family residential subdivision, Pembroke Court, 
zoned RP-4 under a previous version of the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
LOCATION:  
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SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The current tract is 4.82 acres of platted land along the west side of State Line Road and north of 
123rd Street. The tract is the centrally located within Leawood Plaza and has frontage on Pembroke 
Lane, but does not have frontage along State Line Road.  The building was the previous location of a 
Hy-Vee grocery store and is currently vacant. 

 The building consists of 63,370 sq.ft. The applicant does not propose to change the square footage 
of the structure or the configuration of the building. 

 The applicant does not propose changes to the existing parking lot. 

 The building is mainly rectangular in nature with a flat roof. A smaller extension of the building is 
located north of the primary structure, but is located on another Tract of land and is not proposed to 
be used as part of the school, and is not part of this application. 

 The existing tract consists of a of large parking lot east of the building with access to the front 
entrance, and a drive aisle on the west side of the building, providing access to an additional 34 
parking spaces and the building’s service area.  

 Pedestrian access points into the site are from Pembroke Lane and State Line Road. These 
pedestrian connections exist with the current site and will be maintained with the new school building.   

 The applicant proposes to incorporate a 2,722 sq.ft. outdoor play area within the central portion of the 
building, creating an exposed outdoor play space within the building interior. The roof opening 
exposes approximately half of the outdoor play area to the sky. This allows for both sun and shaded 
areas, as well as some covered play areas. Windows are provided to the indoor play area so there is 
high visibility both indoors and outdoors. 

 No exterior playground equipment is proposed with this application. 
 
TRAFFIC:    

 A traffic circulation plan was provided, demonstrating the proposed drop-off process for buses and 
vehicles.  

 The site can be accessed directly from the west via the private drive within Leawood Plaza from 
Pembroke Lane. The applicant proposes that traffic entering from State Line Road will turn onto the 
private drive and circle the parking lot counter clockwise beginning at the southeast corner of the site. 
Vehicles entering from the north side of Leawood Plaza will travel south, directly to the front door. 

 The applicant submitted a traffic memo to the Public Works Department at the time of Preliminary 
Plan. Based on the study, there was a reduction of trips generated on site, based upon the previous 
and proposed land uses. 

 
INTERACT: 

  An Interact meeting was held on March 14, 2019. A summary of the meeting and sign-in sheet are 
attached.   

 
PARKING:   

 Leawood Plaza utilizes a shared parking agreement between all businesses within the development. 

 Section 16-4-5.4(B) of the Leawood Development Ordinance notes parking requirements for a school 
as 1 per teacher and staff member of the school.  The applicant is providing more parking than 
required for a school use, but will utilize the increased amount of parking for additional needs for 
events outside regular school hours.  Staff is supportive of the parking proposed by the applicant.   
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 The number of existing and proposed parking spaces within Leawood Plaza are as follows: 
 
 Required @ 3.5-

4.5/1,000 sq.ft. of 
Commercial 

Existing/Proposed Tract 

Building 1 - Retail 42-54 51 Tract 1 

Building 2 - Retail 24-31 43 Tract 1 

Building 3 - Retail 38-49 51 Tract 1 

Building 4 - Retail 22-28 39 Tract 1 

Building 5 - School 136* 181 Tract 2 

Building 6 - Retail 56-72 81 Tract 1 

Building 7 - Retail 25-32 60 Tract 1 

Total 426-548 506 -- 

*Note: Building 5 (proposed school) parking is calculated based on school administration needs and exceeds the parking 
requirements for a school, as stated in the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
Parking totals include ADA (American’s with Disabilities Act) parking spaces. 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 The existing structure is 23’-2” tall at the building parapet. 

 The tallest tower element above the main entrance is proposed to be filled in with a window system, 
to provide the appearance of a continuous window system from grade to the highest point. The 
window will be vision glass and able to been seen through, as no building structure is directly behind 
the tower elements. 

 The existing structure consists primarily of red brick with stucco infill along the front colonnade. The 
applicant proposes to remove the stucco infill and replace it with a storefront window system and four 
sets of doorways south of the main entrance. The doorways provide access to/from the day care 
portion of the building.  

 The existing front doors of the building face the north and the south, and are accessed from the front 
colonnade. The applicant proposes to maintain the location of these doorways. 

 The applicant proposes to remove and replace the worn metal fascia on the front of the building and 
on the porte-cochere with new metal fascia to match the existing. 

 The applicant proposes a new storefront entrance system on the northern elevation. 

 An additional doorway and two new windows are proposed on the south side of the building to 
accommodate an infant room. The doorway and window system will match the existing doorway and 
windows on the same elevation. 

 The existing loading dock doors on the southern elevation will be infilled. 

 The existing trash enclosure on the west side of the building will remain as existing. 

 New standing seam metal mechanical unit screens are proposed on the rooftop. The screens will be 
at least as tall as the height of the units they are to screen. 

 The applicant proposes to install ten skylights in the rooftop on the northern half of the building. The 
skylights are approximately 10 feet tall and will extend above the heights of the mechanical screen 
walls, which are approximately 8 feet tall. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 The applicant is proposing a lighted Barstow emblem to be located on the upper portion of the new 
storefront windows. The applicant has noted that the emblem will be placed 15 feet behind the 
window system. 
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 No signage is proposed with this application. The Leawood Plaza development has approved sign 
criteria.  Signage is approved administratively through a separate application. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 The existing parking lot light fixtures within the main parking lot east of the building are to remain. 
The existing light poles are legally non-conforming at a height of approximately 24’-6” above grade. 

 The applicant provided a photometric study for the west side of the building, where wall mounted 
building fixtures are being replaced. The light fixtures are downward facing and the source of 
illumination is not visible. No pole mounted parking lot fixtures exist west of the building. 
o The applicant is meeting the Leawood Development Ordinance requirement of no more than 0.5 

footcandles at the western property line. 
 
LANDSCAPING:    

 The site contains existing landscaping, consisting of a combination of deciduous and evergreen 
shrubs and bushes. 

 The west side of the building is currently screened from the adjacent residential neighborhood with a 
berm accented with evergreen and deciduous trees. The applicant is proposing an additional nine 
ornamental trees along the existing berm to provide additional screening for the adjacent residential 
neighborhood. 

 The applicant is proposing three additional ornamental trees in the landscape island on the 
southwestern corner of the main parking lot. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by an arterial street to the east (State Line Road), a collector street (123rd 
Street) and adjacent retail development (Leawood Plaza) along with the single family subdivision of 
Foxborough to the south, Pembroke Lane (collector street) and the single family residential subdivision of 
Pembroke Court to the west and north. West of Pembroke Court is Leawood Elementary School and 
Leawood Middle School, part of the Blue Valley School District. East of State Line Road is single family 
residential within the city of Kansas City, MO.  
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

  North To the north of the property is additional retail space within Leawood Plaza, and single 
family residential within the Pembroke Court subdivision, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster 
Residential) under a previous version of the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

  East The property to the east of State Line Road is located within and under the zoning 
jurisdiction of the City of Kansas City, Missouri.   

  South Directly to the south is additional retail space within Leawood Plaza and the single family 
residential subdivision of Foxborough, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential).   

  West To the west of the property is the single family residential subdivision, Pembroke Court, 
zoned RP-4 under a previous version of the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The site is surrounded by accessible roadways with adequate capacity to accommodate the proposed 
use. Single family residential subdivisions surround the property on all sides. The zoning of the property 
ensures compatibility with surrounding neighborhoods. Additionally, a school facility is an approved use 
within the SD-NCR district with the issuance of a Special Use Permit.   
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The time for which the property has been vacant: 
Leawood Plaza was platted in 1986 and a Hy-Vee grocery store was constructed on Tract 2 of the site in 
1987. Hy-Vee occupied the site until 2014. The site has been vacant for four years. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
Although the site is suitable for a school, stipulations are necessary to make certain that the project 
meets City ordinances and to ensure a high quality project that fits with the surrounding uses. 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of the application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety or welfare; however, a 
hardship to the applicant and community could be imposed. The school serves the private school 
educational needs for the surrounding community and provides necessary space to Barstow School, who 
is outgrowing current facilities. Denial of the application would result in prolonged vacancy of the current 
property, thereby potentially imposing safety concerns and unsightly conditions on the surrounding 
community. Denial of the application would also result in longer school commutes and the loss of a 
potential educational facility within the area. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff is recommending approval of the case with the stated stipulations.  
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The proposed application complies with the Comprehensive Plan with a Special Use Permit. The 
Comprehensive Plan designates this site as Retail Use, which matches the current use of the property.  
The Leawood Development Ordinance allows for school uses (public or private, elementary, middle or 
high school) within all districts in Leawood, except for Business Park, with the issuance of a Special Use 
Permit.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 25-19, Barstow School – Leawood Campus – 
request for approval of a Final Plan and a Special Use Permit for a Daycare, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the adaptive reuse of the existing 63,370 sq.ft., 1-story supermarket for use 

as the Barstow School within the SD-NCR zoning district, on 4.8 acres. 
2. A Special Use Permit for a daycare shall be issued to The Barstow School. 
3. The term of the Special Use Permit for the daycare shall be limited to twenty years from the date of 

Governing Body approval. 
4. All new power lines, utility lines, etc. are required to be placed underground.  This must be done prior 

to final occupancy of any building within the project. 
5. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 55 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than 15 square 

feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal to or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only with the 
prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this Ordinance. 

6. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 
be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final 
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development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.  
The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not limited to duration or renewal 
requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant the conditions. 

7. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with 
the building structure. 

8. All playground equipment shall meet all ASTM (American Society for Testing and Material) 1487 and 
CPSC (U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission) current standards. 

9. The project shall provide a storm shelter constructed in accordance with ICC-500. 
10. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 

compatible with the building architecture.  The height of the screen shall be at least as tall as the 
utility being screened. 

11. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures 
shall not be visible. 

12. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a maximum of 0.5 foot-candles is permitted at the 
property line 

13. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire 
Marshal’s memo, Exhibit A, on file with the City of Leawood Department of Community Development, 
prior to issuance of a building permit. 

14. All pedestrian crosswalks shall be demarcated from the adjacent street pavement. 
15. No signage is approved with this application. A sign permit from the Department of Community 

Development shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
16. The size of all new plant material shall meet all requirements of the Leawood Development 

Ordinance. All medium and large deciduous trees (including street trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as 
measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” 
caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in 
height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

17. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
18. Special school events or programs shall conclude prior to 11 p.m. Events extending beyond 11 p.m. 

shall require a Temporary Use Permit. 
19. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
20. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, 
and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through 
twenty.   
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Jessica Schuller

From: Gene Hunter

Sent: Thursday, March 14, 2019 11:05 AM

To: Jessica Schuller

Subject: RE: 18075 - Barstow - Final Development Plan - Resubmittal - Plans.pdf

The Fire Dept has no objection to the site plan for this project. 

 

Gene Hunter, Leawood Fire Marshal 

 

From: Jessica Schuller <jessicas@leawood.org>  

Sent: Thursday, March 14, 2019 9:12 AM 

To: Gene Hunter <geneh@leawood.org> 

Subject: 18075 - Barstow - Final Development Plan - Resubmittal - Plans.pdf 

 

Gene –  

 

Please see that attached truck plan for The Barstow School. Please provide any comments you may have. 

 

 

Thanks, 

 

 

Jessica Schuller, AICP 

City of Leawood 
Planner II 
jessicas@leawood.org 
Tel (913) 663-9163 
 

jessicaw
Text Box
Exhibit A
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— The Barstow School INTERACT Meeting

12136 State Line Road, Leawood, Kansas 66209 

<•—— * * Thursday, March 14, 2019 - 6:30pm
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Barstow INTERACT Meeting Notes 
3/14/2019 – 6:30pm 

12130 State Line Road 
Leawood, KS 66209 

 
 

Meeting Questions & Answers 

 Q:  You mentioned a theater – I would image it is small, correct? 
o A:  Yes, the theater will be a smaller, black-box type design, seating 

approximately 200 people 

 Q:  How have things changed since the first neighborhood meeting?  Between the City 
and the neighboring businesses, for example? 

o A:  The biggest difference is the planned greenspace to the east of the property 
(middle of parking lot) was not approved by all property owners in the Leawood 
Plaza and thus is not moving forward at this point. 

 Q:  We received a survey from the Barstow School but is was confusing.  Are you asking 
about what we want to see in the building or in the shopping center in general? 

o A:  The survey was designed to seek community interest in different types of 
services and programming the Barstow School may offer in the campus building. 

 Q:  Is there an outdoor play area for the daycare? 
o A:  No, due to concerns over safety, traffic, etc.  Our plan does allow for an 

indoor play area that is enclosed but open from above. 

 Q:  When do you hope to begin construction? 
o A:  Once the final development plan is approved by the city and the construction 

budget and timeline is finalized and agreed to. 

 Q:  What exactly does the Barstow School own?  The whole center or specific buildings? 
o A:  Essentially the former building formerly occupied by Hy-Vee at 12200 State 

Line Road, as well as the parking lot in front, up to the access road adjacent to 
State Line Road and the parking spaces directly to the rear (west) of the building. 

 Q: Are you considering an upgrade to the dumpsters in the back of the center? 
o A: Not at this time. 

 Q: Do you own the berm behind the building? 
o A: That area is shared/common space owned and managed by all the property 

owners in the Leawood Plaza.  

 Q: What are the specifics around “street trees” versus “sight and sound barrier trees”?. 
What is specified for the property? 

o A: The City of Leawood has specified additional landscaping, which we intend to 
follow and incorporate.  Please see Planning Commission for specific details. 

 Q: Do you expect your parking to overflow in the City streets? 
o A: No. We do not anticipate this to be an issue or need, given the intended use 

of the facility and flow of students in and out of the building (students will be 
dropped off via vans/small buses).  We do not plan any reduction in the current 
number of parking spaces. 



 Q:  Do you plan any repair or replacement to the parking lot in the Leawood Plaza? 
o A:  We plan to patch and repair our parking lot area where needed, but do not 

plan to replace the entire parking lot surface at this time. 

 Q:  Can we (the community) influence the incorporation of the original greenspace 
design? 

o A: Not that we are aware of. 

 Q:  There is currently no stop sign on the southwest corner of the property. Do you plan 
to put one in? 

o A: To our knowledge, no additional street signs or roadway improvements are 
planned at this time. 

 Q:  Does the Barstow School own any other buildings in the Leawood Plaza? 
o A:. No 

 Q:  There was some discussion of an additional stop light on State Line at the north end 
of the property. Is this part of the plan? 

o A:. No, this is not part of the Barstow project.  It is our understanding that the 
City of Leawood may look at this (traffic flow) in the future and assess the need. 

 Q:  Where will the entrance and exit be for the daycare and Barstow facility in general? 
o A:  There will be various entry/exit and flow options – i.e. we expect all current 

access points to be used as they are today, but with less traffic then there was 
when the grocery store was operational. 

 Q:  Does the Barstow School have any say in the types of businesses that lease here in 
the Leawood Plaza? 

o A:  No.  We understand and support the City of Leawood Planning Commission 
requirements and ordinances and support any business that adds value to both 
the community and our center operating within the Leawood Plaza. 

 Q: Will there be additional programs for non-Barstow School children? 
o A: Yes! 

 Q: Are you still planning to open this fall? 
o A: It is not likely.  However, our interest is opening as soon as possible. 

 Q: Has the City Planning staff approved the plans? 
o A: Our initial plans and SUP (Special Use Permit) request received approval by 

the Planning Commission and City Council. We are optimistic we will receive 
similar support for our Childcare specific proposal (see next steps below). 

 Q: Have there been any “stumbling blocks” in the process and is there anything we (the 
neighboring community) can help with? 

o A: None thus far and we appreciate your support.  Please feel free to attend the 
upcoming planning and council meetings to voice your support of the plan. 

 Q:  What signage will you put up? 
o A:  Our building signage will be in complete compliance with the City of Leawood 

requirements for such. 
 

Next Steps 

 City of Leadwood Planning Commission Meeting on 3/26 at 6pm 



 City of Leawood Council Meeting on 4/1 
 
Meeting Adjourned 
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RTU UNIT 
HEIGHT* - 90"

RTU UNIT 
HEIGHT* - 90"

RTU UNIT 
HEIGHT* - 88"
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*UNIT HEIGHTS INCLUDE CURB

LIGHT MONITORS TO COMMONS 
BELOW; RE: D1/A141

LIGHT MONITORS TO 
STEAM MAKER SPACE 
BELOW; RE: D1/A141

LIGHT MONITORS TO FABRICATION 
LAB BELOW; RE: D1/A141

SHEET NOTES

1. REFER TO PLUMBING DRAWINGS FOR ROOF 
DRAIN DETAILS

2. REFER TO MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR ROOF 
MOUNTED EQUIPMENT AND CURBS

3. REFER TO PLUMBING DRAWINGS FOR 
EXPOSED GAS PIPING AND SUPPORTS
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Level 1
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A Division of Hubbell Lighting, Inc.

DATE: TYPE:

FIRM NAME:

PROJECT:

In a continuing effort to offer the best product possible we reserve the right to change, without 
notice, specifications or materials that in our opinion will not alter the function of the product.
Web: www.prescolite.com • Tech Support: (888) 777-4832

8" LED Downlight
LC8SL
1000/1400/1800 Lumens
120V-277V, 347V
0-10V Dimming

Ceiling Cutout: 81/4"
Maximum Ceiling Thickness 11/4" 

For conversion to millimeters,  
multiply inches by 25.4

Not to Scale

LFR-LED-042

APPLICATIONS: 
LiteFrame Commercial LC8SL is a 8" commercial 
grade LED downlight with available outputs between 
1000-1800 lumens. This is suitable to replace most 
CFL downlighting applications, while realizing 
substantial energy and maintenance savings. Rated 
for a minimum of 50,000 hours life (70% lumen 
maintenance) with ambient plenum temperatures up 
to 35ºC. Free Air Flow around the fixture is required 
for optimal life performance. This product is not 
recommended for use with 3rd party "FIREHAT" or 
insulation barriers. 

HOUSING:
One-piece 22 gauge non-corrosive steel platform. Pre-
wired J-box with snap-on cover for easy access. Snap-
in connection from driver compartment allows easy 
installation of light engine/trim assembly and can be 
upgraded to accommodate technology improvements. 
Approved for 8 (4 in/4 out) No. 12 AWG conductors 
rated for 90°C through wiring.

REFLECTOR:
High purity aluminum, Alzak, iridescence suppressed, 
semi-diffuse reflector. Self-trim standard. Painted white 
self-trim (WT) available as option. 

LED LIGHT ENGINE:
The LC8SL uses mid power Nichia LEDs, specifically 
mixed to provide a minimum of 80 CRI with 3 SDCM 
color consistency. The use of multiple mid power 
LEDs allows for optimal thermal management by 
effectively spreading the heat over a larger area and 
eliminating hot spots on the LEDs. A diffuse, yet highly 
transmissive lens obscures the view of the LEDs and 
creates a smooth, even look from below. The light 
engine is available in multiple Kelvin temperatures 
and the system is designed to provide optimal life 
and lumen maintenance (50,000 hours at 70% lumen 
maintenance). The reflector/light engine assembly is 
mechanically retained to the housing. 

LED DRIVER:

The LC8SL utilizes a constant current LED 
driver. This same driver is capable of 
running all three different lumen outputs, 
resulting in a reduction of housing skus 
and simplified specification. The driver is 
UL8750, Class II compliant and universal 
120V-277V. 

DIMMING:
Comes standard with flicker-free 0-10V 
dimming to 10%. 0-10V to 1% dimming 
option is also available. See list of 
compatible dimmers on page 3. For the 
sizing of the control circuit, the dimming 
circuit may require up to 2mA of sink 
current.  

INSTALLATION:
Light commercial bar hangers included. 
Universal adjustable mounting brackets 
also accept ½" EMT conduit or 1½" 
or ¾" lathing channel (by others) or 
Prescolite 24" bar hangers (B24 or B6). 

CERTIFICATIONS:
CSA certified to US and Canadian 
safety standards. Suitable for wet 
locations (EM and EMR damp location). 
ENERGY STAR Qualified. 

WARRANTY:
5 year warranty. See www.prescolite.
com for details. 

* See page 4 for LC8SL 18L line art
* See page 4 for LC8SLEM line art
*See page 4 for LC8SLCP line art

LC8SL 10L & 14L

LC8LED8/9

LC8LED8/9

LC8LED

LC8LED

LC8LED7

LC8LED7

LC8LEDEM LC8LEDEM

14"

9-1/8"

7-3/4"

5-5/8"

9"

7-3/4"
1-1/4"

5"

9-1/8"

14"

5"

7-3/4"

9"

7-1/8"

1-1/4"
7-3/4"

14"

9-1/8"

5"

1-1/4"

9"

7-3/4"

7-3/4"

9"

9-1/8"

13-3/4"

5"

7-3/4"

9"

7-3/4"

5-1/4"

1-1/4"

12-3/4" 12-3/4" 12-3/4"

13-3/4"
HOUSING DRIVER 

OPTIONS VOLTAGE HOUSING 
OPTION - TRIM 

APERTURE OUTPUT KELVIN CRI REF. FINISH/
COLOR OPTION 

REFLECTOR 
OPTIONS - ACCESSORIES

CATALOG NUMBER: EXAMPLE:   LC8SL-8LCSL14L35K9WT

❑ LC8SL
Standard 
Lumen 
0-10V 
Dimming 
to10% 
120V-277V

❑ 8LCSL
Standard 
Lumen 
Clear Alzak 
Reflector

  
Standard 
Semi- Diffuse 
Clear Alzak
❑ WH

Painted 
Matte 
White 
Reflector 
and 
Flange

❑ WT
Painted 
White 
Flange only

❑ WF
  Wide 

Flange
❑ EM2,4

 Integral  
 Battery  
 Pack
❑ CP3,6

  Chicago 
Plenum

❑ B24
Set of two(2) 24" bar 
hangers for T-bar ceilings

❑ B6
Set of two (2) bar hangers for 
ceiling joist up to 24" centers

❑ SCA8D_
Sloped ceiling adapter (see
note on page 4)

❑ LiteGear1 
Inverter, single phase central 
lighting, 125VA-250VA

❑ LPS Series1

LitePower micro-inverter, 20VA-
55VA

❑ EM2,4

 Integral  
 Battery  
 Pack
❑ EMR4

 Remote  
 Battery  
 Pack
❑ CP3,6

 Chicago  
 Plenum

❑ 10L 
1000 
Lumen

❑ 14L
1400 
Lumen

❑ 18L
1800 
Lumen

1  See Central Inverter compatibility note and web links on page 3.
2  EM must be selected on both the housing and the trim. 
3  Not compatible with EM or EMR
4  Damp location only
5  Compatible with EMR only
6  CP must be selected on both the housing and the trim
7  Not compatible with CP

❑ 27K
2700 
Kelvin

❑ 30K
3000 
Kelvin

❑ 35K
3500 
Kelvin

❑ 40K
4000 
Kelvin

❑ 50K
5000 
Kelvin

Order housing, reflector, and accessories separately

Standard 
120V-277V
❑ 3474,7

  347V

❑ 8
80+ 
CRI

❑ 9
90+ 
CRI

Standard 0-10V 
10% Dimming 
❑ DM1 
  0-10V 

1% Dimming

http://prescolite.com 
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ORDERING INFORMATION – ORDERING EXAMPLE: LNC3-24L-3K-105-2-1-DB-7PR-SCP 

STOCK ORDERING INFORMATION  – 2L COB MODELS  

Intended Use:
The midsized LNC3 is designed for perimeter illumination 
for safety, security and identity.  No uplight and lower glare 
lens option offer neighbor friendly lighting at typical mounting 
heights of 8-20´.  Units have protective polyester finish for 
long lasting appearance.  Ideal for schools, factories, hospitals, 
warehouses and retail applications. Energy efficient LEDs 
provide 70%+ energy savings with little to no maintenance 
when compared to traditional light sources.

Construction:
Die-cast aluminum housing protects components and provides 
an architectural appearance. Casting thermally conducts LED 
heat to optimize performance and long life. Powder paint finish 
provides durability in outdoor environments. Four 1/2” conduit 
entries (top, bottom, and sides) provided for surface conduit.

Electrical: 
• 120-277, 347 and 480 voltage, 50/60Hz, 0-10V   
 dimming drivers
• Electronic driver 

• 10kA surge protection

LED(s) CCT: 
• Ambient operating temperature -40°C to 40°C
• 3000K, 4000K and 5000K CCT nominal 
 with 70 CRI

• Available in 2 or 24 LED configuration, see page 2 for   
 electrical and photometric data

Lenses:
• Zero uplight distributions using individual acrylic   
 LED optics provide IES type II, III and IV distributions
• CS - Frosted acrylic diffuser option for reduced glare
• CSU - Frosted acrylic diffuser for inverted “up”   
 mounting applications (lens required)

Lumen Maintenance:
L89 at 60,000 hrs (Projected per IESNA TM-21-11), see table 
on page 2 for all values

Installation:
Quick-mount adapter with gasket seal provides easy instal-
lation to wall or to recessed junction box (4” square junction 
box). Fixture attaches by two Allen-head hidden fasteners for 
tamper resistance.
Designed for direct j-box mount or conduit feed on all four 
sides in single SKU.

Options/Controls:
• Button photocontrol for dusk to dawn energy savings 
• 7-pin photo-receptacle available for twist lock   
 photocell and controls by others
• Occupancy sensor options available for complete   
 on/off and dimming control 
• SiteSync pre-commisioned wireless controls (with or   
 without sensor)
• In addition, LITEPAK can be specified with SiteSync™ 

wireless control system for reduction in energy and mainte-
nance cost while optimizing light quality 24/7. See ordering 
information or visit www.hubbelllighting.com/sitesync for 
more details.

Listings:
• DesignLights Consortium® (DLC) qualified. Please refer  
 to the DLC website for specific product qualifications at  
 www.designlights.org
• Listed to UL1598 and CSAC22.2#250.0-24 for wet   
 locations 
• IP65 Assembly • IDA Approved (3000K configurations )

Warranty:
Five year limited warranty (for more information visit:  
http://www.hubbelloutdoor.com/resources/warranty/

CERTIFICATIONS/LISTINGS

SPECIFICATIONS

LNC3

Hubbell Outdoor Lighting • 701 Millennium Boulevard • Greenville, SC 29607 • Phone: 864-678-1000
Due to our continued efforts to improve our products, product specifications are subject to change without notice.
© 2017 HUBBELL OUTDOOR LIGHTING,  All Rights Reserved • For more information visit our website: www.hubbelloutdoor.com   •  Printed in USA   LNC3-SPEC AuguSt 7, 2018 8:29 AM

Cat.#

Approvals

Job Type

24L with diffuser

PRODUCT IMAGE(S)

Catalog  
Number

g.W(kg)/
CtN

Carton Dimensions Carton Qty. 
per Master 

Pack
Length 

Inch (cm)
Width  

Inch (cm)
Height 

Inch (cm)

LNC3-24L 18.0 (8.2) 15.8 (40) 11.0 (28) 13 (33) 1

SHIPPING INFORMATION

FAMILY

LNC3 Medium 
Litepak 
Wallpack

NUMBER 
OF LEDS

24L 24LEDs

CCT

3K 3000K

4K 4000K

5K 5000K

DRIVE  
CURRENT

035 350mA

050 500mA

075 750mA

105 1050mA

IES             
DISTRIBUTION

2 Type II

3 Type III

4 Type IV

VOLTAGE

U 120v-277v

1 120v1

2 208v1

3 240v1

4 277v1

5 480v1

F 347v1

1 Must specify voltage (120 or 277V only for E/EH options)
2 Factory Install Only. Not avaliable with SCP or SWPM sensor/control options
3 Must order minimum of one remote control to program dimming settings, 0-10V fully adjustable 
  dimming with automatic daylight calibration and different time delay settings, 120-277V only.
4 PCU option not applicable, included in sensor (8F = up to 8ft, 20F = up to 20ft)
5 350mA, 500mA & 750mA versions only. Not available with F, SWP or SWPM options.
6 Accepts standard 3, 5, and 7-Pin ANSI controls (by others). Not available with PCU, SWP or SWPM control options
7 Must specify group and zone information at time or order. See www.HubbellLighting.com/products/sitesync for future details
8 Specify time delay; dimming level and mounting height
9 750mA and 1050mA versions only, not available with 347/480V
10 1050mA only, not available with 347V or 480V

*3000K and warmer CCTs only

A

B

D
E

C

17.2”
(436mm)

8.9”
(226mm)

6.5”
(165mm)

10.5”
(266mm)

9.9”
(251mm)

 A B C D E Weight / BBu    

 13” 10.5” 9.9” 5.8” 8.3” 18 lbs.
 330.2 mm 266.7 mm 251 mm 147.3 mm 210.8 mm  8.2 kg

DIMENSIONS

A

B

D
E

C

17.2”
(436mm)

8.9”
(226mm)

6.5”
(165mm)

10.5”
(266mm)

9.9”
(251mm)

FINISH

DB Bronze

BL Black

WH White

GR Gray

PS Platinum

CC Custom 
Color

CONTROL OPTIONS

  PCU Universal    
Button PC

7PR6 7pin PCR

SCP3,4 Program-
mable 
occupancy 
sensor

SWP,7,10 SiteSync pre-
commisioned

SWPM4,7,8,10 SiteSync pre-
commisioned 
w/ occupancy 
sensor

Occupancy sensor

LITEPAK
SERIES
LNC3

2L COB luminaire

24L without diffuser

CATALOG NUMBER DESCRIPTION DISTRIBUTION WATTAGE LUMENS LPW VOLTAGE
# OF DRIVERS @ 
DRIVE CURRENT

WEIGHTS 
LBS. (KGS)

LNC3-2L4K-075 2 LED - 60W Configuration, 4000K, Dark Bronze

Type IV

62.0 5,857 94.8

120-277

1 @ 750mA

16(7.3)

LNC3-2L4K-105 2 LED - 90W Configuration, 4000K, Dark Bronze 87.4 7,721 86.1 1 @ 1050mA 
LNC3-2L5K-105 2 LED - 90W Configuration, 5000K, Dark Bronze 87.4 7,288 82.0 1 @ 1050mA
LNC3-2L4K-105-7PR 2 LED - 90W Configuration, 4000K, Dark Bronze, 7-Pin 87.4 7,721 86.1 1 @ 1050mA
LNC3-2L4K-105-SCP 2 LED – 90W Configuration, 4000K, Dark Bronze, SCP 87.4 7,721 86.1 1 @ 1050mA

OPTIONS

    F1 Fusing (must specify 
voltage per footnote)

CS Frosted acrylic diffuser

CSU2 Inverted/Up mounting 
frosted acrylic diffuser  
(required for up/in-
verted fixture instal-
lations, factory install 
only see page 3)

E1,5 Integral battery 
backup rated for 0°

EH1,5 Integral battery 
backup with heater 
rated for -30°C

2DR9  Dual Drivers
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Catalog 250-13
Maverick® II 
Commercial Packaged Rooftop Systems
Heating and Cooling 
Models MPS 015F–017F, 020G–026G and 030F–075F 
15 to 75 Tons 
R-410A Refrigerant

MattSwaback
Text Box
RTU-1,2,5,6,7



Figure 60: MPS 026–035 Gas Heat, Large Diameter Energy Recovery Wheel       
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MPS 026–035 Units with Energy Recovery Wheel Roof Curb Dimensions 
Figure 61: MPS 026–035 Roof Curb       
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4  Galvanized Curb

5  Cant Strip (not furnished)

6  
7  Rigid Insulation (not furnished)

8  Counter Flashing (not furnished)

9  Ductwork (not furnished)
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Figure 67: MPS 040–050 Gas Heat       
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MPS 040–050 Units with Energy Recovery Wheel Roof Curb Dimensions 
Figure 68: MPS 040–050 Roof Curb       
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MPS 070–075 Unit and Curb Dimensions 
Figure 71: Longest MPS 070–075 Cooling/Gas or Electric Heating Unit       

Figure 72: Shortest MPS 070–075 Cooling Only Unit       
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The following tables detail unit weights for the MPS 015–050 ton units . 

MPS 015–050 Weight Distribution Percentage 
Table 30: Weight Distribution by Percentage with Fixed Speed Scroll Compressors

Unit 
Point and Percent of total

A B C D E F G H
015–050 without Energy Wheel 11 11 20 24 16 18 N/A N/A

015–035 with Energy Wheel 13 12 20 21 17 17 N/A N/A
040–050 with Energy Wheel 12 12 13 13 12 12 13 13

Table 31: Weight Distribution by Percentage with Variable Speed Scroll Compressors

Unit 
Point and Percent of total

A B C D E F G H
015–050 without Energy Wheel 10 10 21 23 17 19 N/A N/A

015–035 with Energy Wheel 12 11 21 20 18 18 N/A N/A
040–050 with Energy Wheel 11 11 14 12 13 13 13 13

MPS 015–050 Weight Distribution Locations
Table 32: Weight Distribution Locations (see Figure 81) 

Unit (Tons) 
Distance

L1 L2 L3
015–035 Ton Unit 35 .5 62 .0 52 .0
040–050 Ton Unit 40 .0 69 .0 89 .0

Table 33: Weight Distribution Locations (see Figure 82) 

Unit (Tons)
Distance

L1 L2 L3 L4
040–050 Ton Unit 42 .2 66 .6 58 .3 60 .9

Table 34: Curb Weights 

Unit (Tons)/Curb Height 
Weight (lbs) 

without ERW with ERW 
015–035/14" Curb 341 458
015–035/24" Curb 501 674
040–050/14" Curb 481 619
040–050/24" Curb 708 908

Figure 81: Weight Distribution Locations and % of Total 
Load (MPS 030–035 Example)     

Figure 82: Weight Distribution Locations and % of Total      
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 Catalog 256-12
Rebel™

Commercial Packaged Rooftop Systems
Heating & Cooling  
Models DPS 003 – 028 
3 to 28 Tons 
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City of Leawood 

Memo 
To: Members of the Planning Commission 

From: Andrew Hall 

Cc: Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development  
Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date: March 22, 2019 

Re: LDO § 16-4-12.4 – Changes for Small Cell Facilities: Aesthetic Standards 

This ordinance makes changes to the LDO § 16-4-12.4 for Distributed Antenna 
Systems/Small Cell Facilities (respectively “DAS” and “SCF”).   

These changes contemplate carriers using three different kinds of poles: street-light 
poles, non-street light poles, and utility poles.  Each pole type will have slightly 
different aesthetic standards.  Under the new FCC Rule, the wireless carriers are 
entitled to put up their own poles in the right-of-way.  These changes restrict the type 
of pole, attachments, and other aesthetic concerns for these new poles to ensure that 
any new pole matches existing infrastructure in the City.     

The new standards have also been updated to accommodate the new 5G wireless 
technology.  This new technology requires different equipment than the current 
ordinance allows.   

Finally, the updates incorporate the FCC Rule’s shot clocks and other considerations 
for applications.  The City is able to require certain components in order for an 
application to be considered complete, and the new language calls for such 
additional information.  Additionally, there are slightly different tolling provisions under 
the FCC Rule, which are also accounted for in these updates.  

Please contact me or Mark Klein if you have any questions.  

 

 

 

 



 Page 2 
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ORDINANCE NO.  __________ 

ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 16-4-12.4 OF THE LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 
ORDINANCE, ENTITLED “DISTRIBUTED ANTENNAE SYSTEMS (DAS) AND SMALL 

CELL FACILITIES,” AND REPEALING EXISTING SECTION 16-4-12.4 AND OTHER 
SECTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY OF LEAWOOD, KANSAS: 

 SECTION ONE: Section 12-6-12.4 of the Leawood Development 

Ordinance is hereby amended to read as follows:  

16-4-12.4 Distributed Antennae System (DAS) and Small Cell Facilities (SCF)  
 
This section applies to small cell facilities and the antenna and pole mounted equipment 
portions of a DAS or SCF. All ground mounted utility boxes associated with DAS or SCF 
shall be regulated per Section 16-1-4, of this ordinance.  
 
A) Definitions: for the purposes of this Section, these terms shall have the following 

meanings: 

 

1) Street-Light Pole: A pole supporting a light fixture to provide illumination of 
streets and sidewalks, made of galvanized steel or aluminum, as the case 
may be. 

 

A)  Small Cell Facility. A small cell facility is defined as a wireless facility which 
meets both of the following qualifications: (1) each antenna is located inside 
and enclosure of no more than six (6) cubic feet in volume, or in the case of 
an antenna that has exposed elements, the antenna and all of the antenna’s 
exposed elements could fit within an imaginary enclosure of no more than 
six (6) cubic feet; and (2) primary equipment enclosures that are no larger 
than 17 cubic feet in volume.  

 

2B)  Distributed Antennae System (DAS). A network that distributes 
radio frequency signals and which consists of:  

 
(1) remote communications or antenna nodes deployed throughout a 

desired coverage area, each including at least one antenna for 
transmission and reception;  

 

(2) a high capacity signal transport medium that is connected to a central 
communications hub site; and  

 

(3) radio transceivers located at the hub’s site to process or control the 
communications signals transmitted and received by through antennas 
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to provide wireless or mobile services within a geographic area or 
structure.  

 

3) Non-Street Light Pole: a pole placed for the sole purpose of supporting 
Small Cell Facilities or Distributed Antenna Systems, made of steel or 
aluminum, as the case may be. 

 

4)  Small Cell Facility (SCF): A small cell facility is defined as a wireless facility 
which meets both of the following qualifications: (1) each antenna is located 
inside an enclosure of no more than six (6) cubic feet in volume, or in the 
case of an antenna that has exposed elements, the antenna and all of the 
antenna’s exposed elements could fit within an imaginary enclosure of no 
more than six (6) cubic feet; and (2) primary equipment enclosures that are 
no larger than 17 cubic feet in volume.  

 

5) Utility Pole: a pole supporting the distribution of public utilities which may 
also be capable of supporting DAS/SCF and is constructed of wood; such 
poles might be located in the public right-of-way or in public/private utility 
easements. 

 
 
C)  DAS/SCF Administrative Approval. All DAS or SCF Small Cell Facilities that 

meet the following requirements may be installed with the prior approval of the 
Director of Public Works as being in compliance with this Ordinance. DAS or 
SCFSmall Cell Facilities that do not meet the standards below shall require 
approval of a Special Use Permit as required within Section 16-4-12 of this 
ordinance.  

 
1)  Distributed Antennae Systems (DAS) or Small Cell Facilities ([SCF]) 

on City OwnedStreet -Light Poles. Distributed Antennae Systems or 
Small Cell Facilities may be located on non-decorative, City Owned Street- 
Light Poles but only if approved by separate agreement with the City of 
Leawood. At a minimum the systems must meet the standards listed below. 
City owned street-light poles shall not be considered tower or alternative 
tower structures for the purposes of this ordinance.  

 
a)  All antennae associated with DAS/SCF shall be completely enclosed 

to screen the antennae from view. Such enclosure shall be a maximum 
of 16 in. in width by 54 in. in height. The enclosure shall be mounted a 
maximum of 12 in. above the current height of the pole. The height that 
the enclosure is mounted above the pole shall not be included in the 
height of the enclosure. Small cell facility antennae shall not exceed 
67 cubic feet.  

b) A maximum of one enclosure for the top mounted antennae shall be 
permitted per pole.  

c)  A maximum of two five additional pieces of equipment shall be 
permitted to be mounted to the pole with the total area of such 
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equipment not to exceed a total of 83.5 cu.ft., and shall not project from 
the pole more than 16 in.  

d)  A maximum of 2 ft. of wiring in total for each installation shall be 
permitted to be exposed. All other wiring shall be fully enclosed, or 
screened.  

 
e)  All equipment mounted on the light pole shall be mounted a minimum 

of 8 ft. from grade to the bottom of the equipment.  

f)  All exterior equipment, including exposed wiring, shall be of materials 
and color that are consistent with the light pole so as to blend 
architecturally with the pole.  

g)  All wiring not within or on the pole shall be placed underground per 
Section 16-1-4 of this ordinance.  

 
h) All ground mounted equipment associated with DAS/SCF facilities 

must adhere to screening and landscaping requirements of this code.  
 

2) Distributed Antennae Systems (DAS) or Small Cell Facilities (SCF) on 
Utility Poles or Non-Street Light Poles.  
a)  All top mounted antennae associated with DAS/SCF shall be 

completely enclosed to screen the antennae from view. The enclosure 
containing the antennae shall be a maximum of 16 in. in width by 30 
in. in height. The enclosure of the antennae shall be mounted a 
maximum of 12 in. above the height of the pole. Small cell facilities 
antennae shall not exceed 67 cubic feet.  

b)  A maximum of one enclosure for the antennae shall be permitted per 
Utility pPole.  

c)  Where allowed by 3rd party agreement, No equipment other thanonly 
the antennae, associated equipment, screening, or cables shall be 
attached to the pole.  

d)  Utility Ppoles to replace existing Uutility Ppoles so as to host DAS or 
SCFsmall cell facilities shall not be greater than 5 ft. taller than the 
original utility pole that is replaced.  

e)  All exterior equipment shall be of materials and color that are 
consistent with the pole so as to blend architecturally with said pole.  

f)  All wiring not mounted to the pole shall be placed underground per 
Section 16-1-4 of this ordinance.  

 
g) Non-Street Light Poles shall be uniform in color and hollow to allow 

internal placement of cables associated with any equipment for the 
DAS/SCF.  

(1) Such poles shall match other Street Light Poles within 300 feet of 
area the new pole is to be placed.  
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(A)  Pole design must be neutral in color and not painted or otherwise 
decorated, composed of galvanized steel or aluminum, 
whichever is more prevalent within 300 feet surrounding the new 
pole location. New, wooden poles will not be allowed for the sole 
purpose of supporting DAS/SCF equipment.   

(B) Such Ppoles must feature a break away base design to ensure 
safety and conformity with other poles within 300 feet 
surrounding the new pole location.  

(C)  The newSuch poles shall bear a smooth finish and shall not have 
any protrusions except for necessary antenna and associated 
equipment.  No more than 2 feet of cabling shall be visible on 
the outside of the pole, all other cabling must be internal. Any 
visible cabling shall be colored so as to blend with the exterior 
color of the pole.  

(D)  Such pPoles shall be either circular or octagonal, to match other 
street light poles within 300 feet surrounding the proposed site.  

(E) Such pPoles shall support no more than one top mounted 
antenna 

(2) New Poles shall not exceed the height of Street-Light Poles within  
300 feet of the New Pole site, including the height of any antenna or 
other equipment 

(3) Associated equipment to be mounted on the pole shall be mounted 
no lower than 8 feet above grade from the bottom of the pole and 
shall not exceed 8 cu. ft. 

(4)  All equipment attached to or associated with such poles shall comply 
with all other regulations in this Section. Ground mounted 
equipment shall comply with 16-1-4 of this code. In no case shall 
more than 5 pieces of additional equipment beyond the top mounted 
antenna be attached to any one pole.  

(5)  All newly erected poles shall be placed in such a way as to not 
interfere with other users of the public right-of-way; including but not 
limited to: gas, electric, and other telecommunications utilities, fire 
hydrants, access drives for residential dwellings, public 
transportation, vehicular traffic, or pedestrians.  

(6) Unless otherwise required by federal, state law or local law, no pole 
hosting DAS or/ SCF equipment shall include any permanently 
installed lights.  Further, any lights associated with the electronic 
equipment shall be shielded from public view.  Nothing in this 
subsection shall be construed to prohibit attachment of DAS or /SCF 
equipment to city-owned street lights , which include a luminaire, 
where permitted by separate agreement.  

h) No attachment to Utility Poles owned by a third-party shall be permitted 
without a separate agreement with the owner of said pole.  

 
D)  Application, Approval, and Timeline for DAS and SCF on any Type of 

PoleSmall Cell Facilities:  
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(1) An applicant may submit a single application for an administrative decision 
granting a permit for installation, construction, maintenance, or repair of a 
DAS/SCFSmall Cell Facility where the following conditions are met:  

 
a)  Notification in writing that the applicant plans to file a consolidated 

application; and  

b)  The application contains no more than 25 small cell facilities of 
substantially similar design.  

 
(2) The application must file a separate application for any facilities which are 

not substantially similar to those in the consolidated application. 
  
(3) The City shall approve or deny any such consolidated application pertaining 

to existing poles within 60 days of receiving a completed application. 
 

a) For applications which contain a mix of new and existing attachment 
structures, the City shall approve or deny any such consolidated 
application within 90 days.   

b) For applications which contain only newly placed poles, the City shall 
approve or deny the application within 90 days.  

 
(4) For DAS and SCF applications on an individual basis, the City shall approve 

or deny such applications within: 
 

a)  60 days for an existing structure or pole; or 
b)  90 days for new structure or pole. 

 
(54) Incomplete ApplicationsApplication Requirements  

 
a) Applications must include: 

(1) Photo simulations of the attachment to an existing pole, or a New Pole, 
as may be applicable, from each view angle of the north, south, east, 
and west of the pole.  Where an application contains more than one 
pole, a general photo simulation will suffice so long as it generally 
represents all the sites in the application.  If an application contains 
proposed sites with a mix of existing and new poles, at least one photo 
simulation of each type of site will be required;  

(2) An aerial site plan showing the location of ground mounted utility boxes 
including power supply for the site, sidewalks, streets, other poles in 
the area, and proposed landscaping locations; 

(3) Elevations and dimensions (height, width, depth) of all ground 
mounted utilities for the site including any pad or pedestal proposed to 
support the utility box; 

(3) Landscaping and screening elements including the size and type of 
plantings to be used to screen ground mounted utilities in conformance 
with LDO Section 16-4-7.5; and 

(4) A vicinity map showing the property lines and right-of-way as 
applicable. 
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(5) For all equipment listed on either a single or a batch application, the 
manufacturer’s name and model number should be noted along with: 
(1)  The physical dimensions, including, without limitation, the height, 

width, depth, volume (total and individual) and weight with 
mounts and other necessary hardware or attachments. 

(2) A technical rendering of all external components, including 
enclosures and all attachment hardware. 

(3) A statement signed and sealed by a Kansas certified public 
engineer that the design of any pole or replacement pole will 
safely handle the load stress from any DAS or SCF attachments. 

 
ba)  The City shall notify the applicant within 30 10 days if the application 

is incomplete. The notice shall identify those portions which are 
incomplete, and provide specific citations to instructions, code 
provisions, or other law which indicates the information is required. 
Upon such notice, the time period requirements will be tolled.  

 
b)  Applications shall be considered completed in accordance with 16-4-

12.3(N).  
 
cc)  If the applicant corrects the deficiencies identified by the City, the 

applicable time period limits will begin running anewagain upon receipt 
by the City of the completedcorrect application.  After receiving a 
completed application, the City shall notify the applicant within 10 days 
if the application remains incomplete. Upon such notice of a deficient, 
second application, the time periods will be tolled.  
 

  
E)  Zoning Location Requirements.  
 

1)  Allowable Areas. DAS/SCF systems shall be allowed, subject to approval 
of a DAS/SCF Permit as required by this ordinance, within all zoning 
districts.  

 
(Ord. 2695, 10-28-14)  
(Ord. 2741, 07-21-15)  
(Ord. 2809, 11-01-16) 

 
SECTION THREE:   This ordinance shall be construed as follows: 

A. Liberal Construction.  The provisions of this Ordinance shall be liberally 

construed to effectively carry out its purposes which are hereby found and declared to be 

in furtherance of the public health, safety, welfare, and convenience. 

B. Savings Clause.  The repeal of Ordinance sections, as provided herein 

below shall not affect any rights acquired, fees, fines, penalties, forfeitures or liabilities 

incurred there under, or actions involving any of the provisions of said Ordinances or parts 

thereof.  Said Ordinance repealed is hereby continued in force and effect after the 
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passage, approval, and publications of this Ordinance for the purposes of such rights, 

fees, fines, penalties, forfeitures, liabilities and actions therefore.   

C. Invalidity.  If for any reason any chapter, article, section, subsection, 

sentence, portion or part of this proposed Ordinance set out herein, or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstances is declared to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

decision will not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Code or other 

Ordinances. 

SECTION FOUR:     This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after 

publication in accordance with law.   

  PASSED by the Governing Body this           day of                       , 2019. 

 APPROVED by the Mayor this           day of                       , 2019. 

 

[SEAL]       

            

      Peggy J. Dunn, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

       

Debra Harper, City Clerk, CMC 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

       

Andrew K. Hall, Assistant City Attorney 
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